Effects of natural phytoplankton trait diversity on *Daphnia* spp.



Inaugural-Dissertation

zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

> vorgelegt von Maja Ilić aus Rijeka, Kroatien

> > Köln, 2019

Berichterstatter:

PD Dr. Patrick Fink Prof. Dr. Michael Bonkowski

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:10.05.2019

"Had to have high, high hopes for a living Didn't know how but I always had a feeling I was gonna be that one in a million Always had high, high hopes"

- Brendon Urie (Panic! at the Disco)

Table of contents

Zusammenfassung	1
Abstract	4
General Introduction and aim of the study	6

Chapter 1: Determination of phytoplankton biodiversity in lakes of different	
trophic state through pigment and fluorescence proxies	12
1.1 Introduction	13
1.2 Materials and Methods	18
1.2.1 Field experiment and sampling	19
1.2.2 In vivo fluorometric analysis (Algae Lab Analyser)	20
1.2.3 In vitro chromatographic analysis (HPLC)	20
1.2.4 CHEMTAX and data analysis	22
1.3 Results	26
1.3.1 Pigment composition	26
1.3.2 CHEMTAX final output ratio matrices	26
1.3.3 Total biomass	29
1.3.4 Phytoplankton community composition and biodiversity	29
1.3.5 Comparison of the biomass estimates from both methods	33
1.3.6 CHEMTAX derived phytoplankton diversity including all 6 phytoplankton	
groups	38
1.4 Discussion	42
1.4.1 General	42
1.4.2 Comparative assessment of methods	43
1.4.3 Phytoplankton biodiversity	47
1.4.4 Effects of trophic status	48
1.4.5 Conclusions	49

Chapter 2: Equal relevance of omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids

for the fitness of <i>Daphnia</i> spp	51
2.1 Introduction	52
2.2 Materials and Methods	57
2.2.1 Study organisms and cultivation	57

2.2.2 Growth experiments	57
2.2.3 Fatty acid analyses	58
2.2.4 Growth and reproduction saturation thresholds	59
2.2.5 Bootstrapping	61
2.2.6 Statistical analyses	63
2.3 Results	. 64
2.3.1 C20-PUFA-limited growth of Daphnia spp	64
2.3.2 C20-PUFA-limited reproduction of Daphnia spp	65
2.3.3 Intersection points of EPA- and ARA-curves for growth and reproduction	68
2.4 Discussion	. 76
2.4.1. C20-PUFA-limited fitness of D. magna	76
2.4.2 C20-PUFA-limited fitness of D. pulex	77
2.4.3 Interspecific variation	78
2.4.4 Intersection points of the saturation curves and potential co-limitation	
scenarios	80
2.4.5 Conclusions	81

Chapter 3: Intrapopulation variability in a functional trait: susceptibility of

Daphnia to limitation by dietary fatty acids	82
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Materials and Methods	85
3.2.1 Daphnia population	85
3.2.2 Microsatellites	85
3.2.3 Growth experiments	87
3.2.4 Data analysis and statistics	88
3.3 Results	93
3.3.1 Somatic growth rate g	93
3.3.2 Susceptibility S	94
3.4 Discussion	
3.4.1 Intrapopulation variability	98
3.4.2 Susceptibility to limitations by PUFA availability - a functional trai	t affecting
population dynamics in natural Daphnia populations?	100
3.4.3 Conclusions	101

Chapter 4: Effects of phytoplankton diversity on intraspecific competition in	
Daphnia – The role of essential dietary fatty acids	. 102
4.1 Introduction	103
4.2 Materials and Methods	106
4.2.1 Study organism	106
4.2.2 Common garden experiment	106
4.2.2.1 Experimental design	<u>106</u>
<u>4.2.2.2 Growth phase</u>	<u>107</u>
4.2.2.3 Grazing phase	<u>108</u>
4.2.2.4 Environmental parameters	<u>109</u>
4.2.3 Laboratory analyses	109
4.2.3.1 Determination of particulate organic carbon (POC) and nitroge	<u>n</u>
<u>(PON)</u>	<u>109</u>
4.2.3.2 Determination of particulate phosphorus (PP)	<u>110</u>
4.2.3.3 Chlorophyll a content as a biomass proxy	<u>110</u>
4.2.3.4 Physiology of the phytoplankton community	<u>110</u>
4.2.3.5 Pigment analysis via high-pressure liquid chromatography	
<u>(HPLC)</u>	<u>111</u>
4.2.3.6 Pigment-derived phytoplankton community composition via	
<u>CHEMTAX</u>	<u>112</u>
4.2.3.7 Phytoplankton community composition derived from microsco	<u>pic</u>
<u>counts</u>	<u>114</u>
4.2.3.8 Fatty acid analysis via gas chromatography (GC)	<u>114</u>
4.2.3.9 Estimation of Daphnia community composition via microsatell	<u>ite</u>
analysis	<u>115</u>
4.2.3.10. Data analysis and statistics	117
4.3 Results	121
4.3.1 Environmental factors	121
4.3.2 Laboratory growth experiments with D. longispina genotypes	122
4.3.3 Producer and consumer dynamics	124
4.3.4 Stoichiometry	126
4.3.5 Start of the grazing phase	129
4.3.5.1 Pigment-derived phytoplankton community composition	<u>130</u>
4.3.5.2 Seston fatty acid composition	<u>130</u>

4.3.5.3 Relationship between phytoplankton diversity and fatty acid
<u>diversity</u>
4.3.6 Daphnia population dynamics133
4.3.7 Response of Daphnia community to the dietary quality of the phytoplankton
community
4.4 Discussion
4.4.1 Common garden experiment – General discussion
<u>4.4.1.1 Stoichiometry</u> <u>143</u>
4.4.1.2 Phytoplankton community composition and fatty acid diversity.144
<u>4.4.1.3 Producer-consumer dynamics</u> <u>147</u>
4.4.2 Intraspecific competition – does it depend on fatty acid availability?
4.4.3 Can results from single clone microcosm experiments be transferred to
complex natural communities?153

Concluding remarks and perspectives	154
References	158
Appendix - Supplementary Information	183
Record of achievement	194
List of publications	196
Acknowledgements	197
Erklärung (gemäß §4 Abs (1) Nr. 9)	200
Curriculum vitae	201

Zusammenfassung

Durch den anthropogenen Einfluss verursachte Umweltveränderungen zählen zu den größten Antrieben des globalen Biodiversitätverlusts in verschiedenen Arten von Ökosystemen. Während sich unzählige Studien mit dem Einfluss des Biodiversitätverlusts auf die Ökosystemfunktionen befasst haben, ist wenig über die zugrundelegenden Mechanismen hinter der Beziehung zwischen der Biodiversität und den Ökosystemfunktionen bekannt. In den letzten Jahren folgten Studien einer "Trait"basierten Herangehensweise, bei der die Rolle der Art- und Taxon-spezifischen funktionellen Traits (i.e. Eigenschaften) untersucht wird, wie z.B. die Aufnahme von Ressourcen oder die biochemische Zusammensetzung. Der Verlust solcher Traits verändert die Schlüsselprozesse der Ökosysteme wie Produktivität und Nachhaltigkeit. In aquatischen Ökosystemen wird vermutet, dass der Biodiversitätverlust auf der Ebene der Produzenten eine kaskadierende Auswirkung auf multiple trophische Ebenen haben könnte. Die Phytoplankton-Zooplankton-Verbindung ist insbesondere vom Interesse, da der Phytoplanktongehalt an mehrfachungesättigten Fettsäuren (PUFAs) entscheidend für die Fitness des herbivoren Grazers Daphnia ist, welche nicht in der Lage ist, solche PUFAs de novo zu synthetisieren. Daher wird vermutet, dass essentielle PUFAs ein funktionelles Phytoplanktontrait sind, welches die Effizienz des trophischen Energietransfers und die Dynamiken zwischen Primärproduzent und Primärkonsument beeinflusst. Allerdings unterscheidet sich die Fettsäurenzusammensetzung des Phytoplanktons zwischen den einzelnen taxonomischen Gruppen. Daher stellte ich die Hypothese auf, dass eine veränderte Phytoplanktongemeinschaft verändernde Effekte auf die Diversität der Fettsäuren haben kann. Dies würde wiederrum den innerartlichen Konkurrenzkampf in Daphnia Populationen beeinflussen.

1

Zusammenfassung

Um diese Hypothesen zu adressieren, wurden zunächst zwei häufig verwendete Methoden für die indirekte Bestimmung der Zusammensetzung der Phytoplanktongemeinschaft verglichen. Aus den erlangten Ergebnissen konnte man schlussfolgern, dass die Pigment-basierte Methode für eine in vitro Bestimmung der Phytoplanktondiversität eine höhere Auflösung der Diversität bietet verglichen zu der spektrofluorometrischen in vivo Methode. Zweitens, konzentrationsabhängige Wachstumsversuche wurden mit zwei verschiedenen Daphnia Arten durchgeführt um die relative Bedeutung zweier C₂₀-PUFAs aus verschiedenen ω-Familien für die Fitness von Daphnien zu vergleichen. Dabei wurden Sättigungskonzentrationen der beiden PUFAs für das Wachstums und die Reproduktion bestimmt und zwischen den beiden Daphnia Arten verglichen. Anders als erwartet, weisen die Daten auf eine gleich starke Bedeutung von ω 3- und ω 6-PUFAs für die Fitness von Daphnien hin. Drittens, die Variabilität innerhalb einer natürlichen Population von koexistierenden Daphnia longispina Genotypen wurde in Hinsicht auf ihre Anfälligkeit für Fitness-Limitierung durch die Verfügbarkeit der essentiellen PUFAs bestimmt. Dabei wurden zunächst die D. longispina Individuen aus einem oligo-mesotrophen See isoliert und die verschiedenen Genotypen mittels der Mikrosatellitenanalyse identifiziert. Daraufhin wurden Wachstumsexperimente durchgeführt um die juvenile Wachstumsrate der verschiedenen D. longispina Genotypen in An- und Abwesenheit von drei verschiedenen essentiellen PUFAs zu bestimmen. Aus den erlangten Ergebnissen wurde die Anfälligkeit jedes Genotyps für das Vorhandensein der supplementierten PUFAs bestimmt. Dabei wurden innerartliche Unterschiede zwischen den verschiedenen D. longispina Genotypen gefunden.

Letztlich wurde ein Common garden Experiment mit einer manipulierten natürlichen Phytoplanktongemeinschaft und natürlich koexistierenden *D. longispina* Genotypen mit ausgeprägten Unterschieden in Ihrer Anfälligkeit für die Fitness-Limitierung durch die Abwesenheit von PUFAs durchgeführt. Die Daten demonstrieren, dass die Phytoplanktondiversität mit der Diversität von PUFAs korreliert, und dass einzelne PUFAs direkt den innerartlichen Konkurrenzkampf zwischen den getesteten *D. longispina* Genotypen beeinflussen. Somit deutet diese Studie auf eine potentielle Verbindung zwischen der Diversität der Phytoplankton-Traits (im Sinne von PUFA Verfügbarkeit) und den Dynamiken innerhalb der *Daphnia* Population hin.

Abstract

Anthropogenically induced environmental changes are ranked among the major drivers of global biodiversity loss in different types of ecosystems. While there have been numerous studies that examined the impact of biodiversity loss on ecosystem functioning, it is still not much known about the underlying mechanisms behind the biodiversity-ecosystem functioning relationship. In recent years, studies started to follow a trait-based approach, i.e. examining the role of species and taxon specific functional traits, such as resource uptake or biochemical composition. Loss of such traits has been shown to alter key processes of ecosystems, such as productivity and sustainability. In aquatic ecosystems, biodiversity loss on producer level is believed to have cascading effects on multiple trophic levels. In particular the phytoplanktonzooplankton interface is of high interest, as the phytoplankton content of dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) was found to be crucial for the fitness of the herbivorous grazer Daphnia, which is not capable of de novo synthesis of such PUFAs. Essential PUFAs are thus assumed to be a functional phytoplankton trait that affects the trophic transfer efficiency and dynamics between the primary producers and consumers. However, fatty acid composition of phytoplankton was shown to be taxonspecific. Thus, I hypothesized that altered phytoplankton community composition will result in an altered composition of dietary fatty acids. This in turn will affect the intraspecific competition in *Daphnia*. To address these hypotheses, I first compared two commonly used methods for the indirect assessment of the phytoplankton community composition. From the obtained results, I concluded that the pigment-based method for the *in vitro* estimation of phytoplankton diversity provides a higher resolution compared to the *in vivo* method based on fluorescence spectra.

Second, I performed dose-response growth experiments with two different Daphnia species in order to compare the relevance of two C_{20} -PUFAs from different ω -families for Daphnia's fitness. I estimated the growth and reproduction saturation thresholds of both PUFAs and compared these between the species. Other than expected, the results of my experiments provide evidence for equal relevance of ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs for *Daphnia*. Third, I assessed the intrapopulation variability in susceptibility of naturally coexisting Daphnia longispina genotypes to limitations by the availability of essential dietary PUFAs. I first isolated D. longispina individuals from an oligo-mesotrophic lake and identified different genotypes via microsatellite analyses. Subsequently, I performed standardized growth assays and determined the juvenile somatic growth rate of different *D. longispina* genotypes in presence and absence of three different essential PUFAs. From the obtained data, I estimated the susceptibility of each genotype to the availability of supplemented PUFAs and found intraspecific differences between the tested *D. longispina* genotypes. Finally, I performed a common garden experiment with diversity-manipulated natural phytoplankton community and naturally coexisting *D. longispina* genotypes with pronounced differences in their susceptibility to limitations by essential dietary fatty acids. The obtained data demonstrate that the phytoplankton diversity is correlated with the composition of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), and that single PUFAs directly affect competitive interactions between the tested D. *longispina* genotypes. Therefore, the present study provides evidence for a potential link between phytoplankton trait diversity (in terms of PUFA availability) and Daphnia's population dynamics.

General Introduction and aim of the study

Anthropogenically induced environmental changes, such as global warming and eutrophication, are ranked among the major drivers of global biodiversity loss in different types of ecosystems (Cardinale et al., 2006; Cardinale, 2012; Loreau, 2001, 2010; Naeem et al., 2009; Hooper et al., 2012). While there have been numerous studies that examined the impact of species loss on ecosystem functioning and community dynamics, it is still not much known about the underlying mechanisms behind the biodiversity-ecosystem functioning relationship. Therefore, novel approaches were developed to provide new insights into processes coupled with the response of ecosystem properties to species loss and allow for further predictions on the consequences of the ongoing global diversity decline.

Trait-based approaches are more and more frequently applied to study mechanisms that link ecosystem functioning, community structure and eco-evolutionary dynamics within various ecosystems (Fussmann et al., 2007; Litchman and Klausmeier, 2008; Litchman et al., 2013). Such studies address different levels of organization and complexity, ranging from individuals to whole populations and ecosystems (Ackerly and Cornwell, 2007; Litchman et al., 2007, 2010). In this context, traits are defined as measurable morphological, physiological or phenological characteristics of an organism, while functional traits are considered to affect the organismal growth, reproduction and survival, thus affect its fitness and performance (McGill et al., 2006; Violle et al., 2007; Cadotte et al., 2015). Loss of such traits has been shown to alter key processes of ecosystems, such as productivity and sustainability (Striebel et al., 2009b, 2009a).

6

Furthermore, functional traits are crucial for the response of an individual to the surrounding environment and may play an important role in intra- and interspecific interactions (Jung et al., 2010; Bolnick et al., 2011; Violle et al., 2012). Variability in a functional trait within and among species is the basis for competition and selection and thus a driver of evolution in natural populations.

In previous studies, it has been shown that, although often underestimated or neglected, intraspecific variability occurs within populations in both terrestrial (Eichenberg et al., 2015; Bu et al., 2017) and aquatic ecosystems (De Bruin et al., 2004; White et al., 2011; Werner et al., 2018). For example, White et al. (2011) documented an intraspecific variation in vulnerability of co-occuring genotypes of the toxic and colony-forming cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa* to herbivory by the filter-feeding zebra mussel Dreissena polymorpha. Furthermore, with a combination of single-trait and multi-trait analyses of five functional traits measured for 13 plant species, Albert et al. (2010) found a pronounced intraspecific variation, accounting for approximately 30% of the overall trait variability. Within a single species, a high variation in a functional trait (given either as genetical diversity or phenotypic plasticity) can promote coexistence of different genotypes by decreasing their niche overlap (Violle and Jiang, 2009; Bolnick et al., 2011). On the other hand, given that the trait-variation arises from genetic variation, such standing genetic diversity may promote local adaptation and increase the resilience to changing environmental conditions and other biotic and abiotic factors such as predation risk, toxicity and resource availability (Barrett and Schluter, 2008; Jung et al., 2010), thus buffering biodiversity losses (Reusch, 2005; Albert et al., 2010).

The water flea *Daphnia*, a herbivorous crustacean zooplankton, is a well established model organism in ecology, in particular regarding trophic interactions and effects of trait-variation on eco-evolutionary dynamics (Hairston et al., 1999; Ebert, 2011; Stoks et al., 2016). *Daphnia* is a key species in freshwater food webs, as it feeds directly on phytoplankton and serves as a food source for planktivorous fish (Gaedke and Straile, 1998). Under optimal environmental conditions, *Daphnia* spp. produce clonal females through parthenogenesis (Stross and Hill, 1965). As *Daphnia* are non-selective filter feeders (DeMott, 1986), their fitness depends strongly on the diet present.

Two major factors that determine the nutritional value and thus the food quality of Daphnia's diet are the elemental and biochemical composition of the phytoplankton (Ahlgren et al., 1990a; Müller-Navarra, 1995a; Park et al., 2002; Becker and Boersma, 2003). Besides dietary carbon to nutrient ratios (Sterner et al., 1993; Urabe et al., 1997; Ravet and Brett, 2006), Daphnia's performance has often been associated with the availability of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in their diet (Müller-Navarra, 1995b; Wacker and von Elert, 2001; von Elert, 2002), i.e. fatty acids with two or more double bonds in their carbon chain. Essential PUFAs are thus assumed to be a functional phytoplankton trait that affects the trophic transfer efficiency and dynamics between the primary producers and consumers. However, fatty acid composition of the phytoplankton was shown to be taxon-specific (Ahlgren et al., 1990a; Lang et al., 2011). Therefore, biodiversity loss on producer level might result in a decreased trait diversity, which can have cascading effects on multiple trophic levels. Furthermore, the outcome of such cascading effects on the level of consumers might depend of consumer's specific functional traits coupled to their fitness and susceptibility to limitations by poor food quality.

In **Chapter 1**, I compare two methods commonly used to indirectly determine the phytoplankton community composition. This is of particular interest, as the estimation of producer's diversity builds the basis of trait-based approaches addressing cascading effects of biodiversity loss on other trophic levels. Although other methods are available, such as microscopic counting or DNA metabarcoding, they have several disadvantages which make them unsuitable for fast assessment of the phytoplankton community complexity. Therefore, I discuss the advantages and disadvantages of a pigment-based method, which includes extraction and separation of phytoplankton pigments and subsequent complex algorithmic calculations via the matrix-factorization program CHEMTAX. On the other hand, I present the data obtained from a spectrofluorometric method and compare both methods in terms of reliability and resolution regarding the estimated phytoplankton diversity.

In **Chapter 2**, via dose-response growth experiments, I compare two C₂₀-PUFAs from different ω -families, namely eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 20:5 ω 3) and arachidonic acid (ARA, 20:4 ω 6), regarding their relevance for the fitness of two *Daphnia* species. Although EPA has been shown previously to strongly affect the fitness of different *Daphnia* species (von Elert, 2002; Becker and Boersma, 2003; Ravet et al., 2012), the role of ARA is not yet clear, which is apparent from inconsistent findings in the present literature.

In **Chapter 3**, I assess the intrapopulation variability in susceptibility of naturally coexisting *Daphnia longispina* genotypes to availability of α -linolenic acid (ALA, 18:3 ω 3), EPA and ARA. Here, susceptibility is suggested to be a consumer's functional trait that might affect intraspecific competition and community dynamics within natural *Daphnia* populations.

9

Finally, in **Chapter 4**, I perform a common garden experiment to study effects of biodiversity on phytoplankton functional trait diversity. Such biodiversity loss is suggested to alter the food quality of the phytoplankton and result in a decreased PUFA availability and diversity, which in turn might affect the population dynamics of the consumer. On the other hand, the susceptibility of different *D. longispina* genotypes, assessed in **Chapter 3**, might affect the outcome of competitive interactions within the *Daphnia* community. I discuss the role of sestonic PUFA content (i.e. phytoplankton functional trait) and *Daphnia*'s susceptibility to limitations by PUFA availability (i.e. consumer functional trait) as potential links between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning.

In summary, the present study follows a trait-based approach to study possible links and mechanisms behind the biodiversity-ecosystem functioning relationship in aquatic ecosystems. Furthermore, this study allows for suggestions on improvement of phytoplankton diversity assessment and provides evidence for an equal relevance of a ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs for the fitness of *Daphnia* spp.. Finally, this thesis addresses the role of intraspecific variation in a fitness-related functional trait for competitive interactions and provides evidence for a potential link between phytoplankton trait diversity (in terms of PUFA availability) and *Daphnia*'s population dynamics.



Fig. I: The general concept illustrating the potential role of functional traits as a link between biodiversity loss and ecosystem functioning.

Chapter 1

Determination of phytoplankton biodiversity in lakes of different

trophic state through pigment and fluorescence proxies

1.1 Introduction

Phytoplankton community composition has often been used as an indicator of the ecosystem productivity and trophic status of lakes (Reynolds et al., 2002) and of food quality for e.g. herbivorous zooplankton (Behl and Stibor, 2015). In the past few decades, the global biodiversity has experienced a strong decline (Cardinale, 2012; Hooper et al., 2012). One of the major drivers of global biodiversity loss is the anthropogenic eutrophication, which further causes the formation of cyanobacterial blooms (Hooper et al., 2012; O'Neil et al., 2012). Such cyanobacterial blooms can be toxic, as some cyanobacteria are producing toxins like microcystins, anatoxins, cylindrospermopsin and nodularins, with microcystins being the most commonly detected cyanobacteria toxin (Pilotto et al., 2004; Koreivienė et al., 2014; Zamyadi et al., 2016). Microcystins have been shown to be carcinogenic and cause liver damage ((Falconer et al., 1994; Falconer, 2005; Koreiviene et al., 2014). Thus, the formation of toxic, in particular microcystin-rich cyanobacterial blooms, may have negative impacts on ecosystem properties and services such as the provision of drinking water (Jurczak et al., 2005). To ensure the sustainable use of aquatic ecosystems and to manage the water treatment operations, the European Community legislation has introduced the EU Water Framework Directive (WFD, Directive 2000/60/EC). The WFD defines the composition of the phytoplankton community as one of the most important biological parameters that determine the quality and ecological status of surface water bodies (Sarmento and Descy, 2008; Catherine et al., 2012; Escoffier et al., 2015). Because of the rapid respond of the phytoplankton community to environmental changes (Richardson et al., 2010) and a usually high number of samples that have to be processed, it is necessary to use time saving methods for the assessment of phytoplankton community composition and

in particular the monitoring of cyanobacteria abundances. This is of high importance, as the time delay between sampling and data processing has to be as short as possible, to ensure a fast management of necessary water treatment actions. Traditionally, the phytoplankton community composition is estimated via microscopic counting. However, this method is extremely time consuming and highly depended on the taxonomic knowledge of the respective person who identifies and counts the phytoplankton taxa. Also, phytoplankton of a small size (picoplankton, $< 5 \mu m$) cannot be differentiated accurately(Groendahl et al., 2017). Another approach, which is new and not yet completely implemented, is DNA metabarcoding, e.g. using 18S rDNA. Although this method could help to distinguish between small phytoplankton species, it is still very costly and limited by available databases that still lack many reference sequences (Simmons et al., 2016; Groendahl et al., 2017). Thus, chemotaxonomic alternatives have been proposed, such as pigment-based spectrofluorometry and high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) of pigments. Both approaches are based on the differences in pigment composition of the main phytoplankton groups. For example, Dinoflagellates contain the pigment peridinin, which is a Dinoflagellate-specific pigment, while alloxanthin and lutein are pigments that are group-specific for Cryptophytes and Chlorophytes, respectively (Gieskes and Kraay, 1983). Thus, the pigment composition of the phytoplankton is commonly used for the assessment of phytoplankton community composition. The advantage of both methods is that they are less time consuming then microscopy or DNA metabarcoding. However, they only allow for a relatively low taxonomic resolution (class level, compared to microscopy and DNA metabarcoding which both allow for genus or even species level).

14

Traditionally, fluorescence-based chlorophyll *a* quantification methods were applied for both in vitro and in vivo (Yentsch and Menzel, 1963; Yentsch and Phinney, 1985) measurements of chlorophyll a. Subsequently, spectrofluorometric methods that use multiple excitation and/or emission wavelengths were developed and became the standard application for phytoplankton monitoring (Beutler et al., 2002; Richardson et al., 2010). The chlorophyll *a* fluorescence is mostly determined by the peripheral and core antennae of photosystem II (Beutler et al., 2002). While the evolutionarily conserved core antenna contains the chlorophyll *a* molecules in all phytoplankton taxa, the peripheral antenna includes species-dependent light-absorbing accessory pigments, which are responsible for selective excitation spectra and thus represent the fundament of the spectrofluorometric differentiation of phytoplankton groups. Based on these observations, Beutler et al. (2002) introduced a novel spectrofluorometer, the Algae Lab Analyser (bbe Moldaenke, Kiel, Germany) as a bench-top device which is commonly used by water authorities and routine laboratories. The Algae Lab Analyser contains five different light-emitting diodes (LEDs) with λ 450 nm, 525 nm, 570 nm, 590 nm and 610 nm, respectively. Based on the group-specific excitation spectra, also called norm spectra, the Algae Lab Analyser allows for differentiation of four spectral groups: the green group (Chlorophytes), the blue-green group (Cyanobacteria), the brown group (Chromophytes, which includes Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates) and mixedgroup (Cryptophytes and phycoerythrin-containing algae, Beutler et al., 2002). Calculation of the contribution of each phytoplankton group to the total chlorophyll *a* is based on linear unmixing (solving linear equations). For details and algal species used to determine norm spectra and calculation algorithms for all four spectral algal groups, see Beutler et al. (2002). The *in vivo* measurement is very fast (few minutes) and the data is transferred online to a PC or lap top. Using the actual five-point excitation spectrum of a water sample, the allocation of the measured chlorophyll *a* concentration to the four phytoplankton groups is rapidly obtained. Thus, Algae Lab Analyser seems to be very suitable for fast monitoring and assessment of the phytoplankton community composition.

Another commonly used method for the assessment of the phytoplankton community composition is the HPLC analysis of photopigments, combined with the matrix factorization programme CHEMTAX. HPLC is not only a fast and cost-effective alternative to microscopic counts, but also allows for identification of species that are usually not detectable by microscopic counting (e.g. picoplankton), as the detection limits of diagnostic pigments are usually low (Schlüter et al., 2016). The HPLC approach to analyze the pigment composition of phytoplankton communities has been widely used and is nowadays often combined with the matrix factorization programme CHEMTAX, which was developed in 1996 by Mackey et al. for marine systems, but has been used and updated since then for both marine and freshwater ecosystems (Descy et al., 2000, 2009; Buchaca, 2004; Lewitus et al., 2005; Sarmento and Descy, 2008; Lauridsen et al., 2011; Armbrecht et al., 2015; Schlüter et al., 2016). The CHEMTAX approach is based on group-specific pigments (e.g. peridinin, lutein etc. as mentioned above) and uses input ratio matrices containing ratios of such pigments to chlorophyll a, which can be found in the literature. For example, Schlüter et al. (2006) provide an excellent summary on pigment : chlorophyll *a* ratios of several freshwater phytoplankton groups, estimated in laboratory cultures, which have been cultured under different light intensities, to account for different environmental conditions that can cause changes in pigment : chlorophyll *a* ratios of the phytoplankton species. Recently, such ratio matrices have been developed using data from 46 German lakes along a phosphorus gradient (oligotrophic, mesotrophic and eutrophic lakes) by

16

Schlüter et al. (2016). Depending on the pigment ratio matrix and observed concentrations of the pigments, CHEMTAX provides the best fit of contributions of the predefined phytoplankton groups to the total chlorophyll *a* concentration and is able to differentiate between more than 4 groups (to which the Algae Lab Analyser is limited). The number of discernible groups by CHEMTAX depends on the number of analyzed diagnostic pigments and the previous knowledge about the phytoplankton community composition of the water body of interest (Mackey et al., 1996).

Both the Algae Lab Analyser and the HPLC/CHEMTAX approach are limited in the taxonomic resolution, as they only allow a differentiation on the group level. This may not be a major constraint, as multiple studies have shown functional phytoplankton diversity to be a better predictor of ecosystem functioning than species richness (Striebel et al., 2009b; Behl et al., 2011; Stockenreiter et al., 2013). This means that both approaches might be good alternative tools to assess the phytoplankton community composition and investigate research questions. In particular for cyanobacteria monitoring, many different methods have been used, e.g. microscopic counting, quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), pigments extraction and fluorometric probes. An excellent review of such methods as well as further recommendations and proposals on cyanobacterial monitoring were recently summarized by Zamyadi et al. (2016). Furthermore, some studies compared the suitability of spectrofluorometry and HPLC/CHEMTAX for the assessment of the phytoplankton community composition, e.g. usage of the bbe Moldaenke FluoroProbe (Catherine et al. 2012) and the bbe Moldaenke Algae Online Analyser (Richardson et al. 2010) compared to CHEMTAX-derived community composition data. However, both these studies did not compare lakes across a gradient of trophic status, which is done here for the first time.

17

We here focused on the following specific hypotheses: (i) both methods give a good representation of the phytoplankton community composition, (ii) CHEMTAX allows for a higher resolution of the phytoplankton biodiversity as it can distinguish between more than four taxonomic groups depending on the specific marker pigment calibrated and (iii) the Algae LabAnalyser allows a more accurate determination of cyanobacteria, as the lipophilic solvent extraction of pigments used for the HPLC method does not capture the water-soluble cyanobacterial pigments phycocyanin and phycoerythrin.

1.2 Materials and Methods

1.2.1 Field experiment and sampling

During the summer in 2014, we simultaneously conducted large-scale mesocosm field experiments in three lakes of different trophic state situated in Upper Bavaria (Germany): Brunnsee (47° 59′ 01″ N, 12° 26′ 12″ E, area: 5.8 ha, maximal depth: 20 m), Klostersee (47° 58′ 26″ N, 12° 27′ 10″ E, area: 47.0 ha, maximal depth: 16 m) and Thalersee (47° 54′ 16″ N, 12° 20′ 17″ E, area: 3.8 ha, maximal depth: 7 m, Fig. S1). Depending on the average epilimnetic total phosphorus concentration (TP, ± standard deviation) determined in summer 2014 Brunnsee can be classified as an oligotrophic (TP = 5.62 ± 1.09 µg L⁻¹), Klostersee as an oligo-mesotrophic (TP = 9.88 ± 2.47 µg L⁻¹) and Thalersee as a mesotrophic lake (16.80 ± 5.18 µg L⁻¹, Nürnberg, 1996).

The mesocosms were made of white plastic foil, forming cylindrical enclosures closed at the bottom and open at the top to allow for gas exchange with the atmosphere. They had a diameter of 0.95 m and a length of 5 m (Thalersee) and 6 m (Brunnsee and Klostersee), resulting in a total volume of approx. $3.5 - 4.2 \text{ m}^3$, respectively. Per lake, 20 mesocosms were installed and filled with surrounding water from the respective lake, which was pre-filtered over a 250 µm gaze, to exclude zooplankton and thus prevent grazing. We used disturbances of the water column via compressed air to manipulate the natural phytoplankton community in the mesocosms, in order to establish a diversity gradient (Flöder and Sommer, 1999; Hammerstein et al., 2017). We regularly (usually once a week) took water samples from the mesocosms and from the lake itself, using a 2 L integrated water sampler (KC Denmark), from the depth of 0.5 m to 2.5 m. The water samples were transported to the laboratory and were kept cool and dark until further analyses (within a few hours). In total, we analyzed 562 samples (186 from Brunnsee, 187 from Klostersee and 189 from Thalersee).

1.2.2 In vivo fluorometric analysis (Algae Lab Analyser)

The fluorometric measurement of the chlorophyll *a* concentration was done using the Algae Lab Analyser (bbe Moldaenke). For this, the water samples were carefully shaken and 25 ml were transferred into a cuvette and measured *in vivo*, using the manufacturer's default settings. The bbe++ Windows software was used to calculate the best sum of the four specific excitation norm spectra (corresponding to the four phytoplankton groups: Chlorophytes, Chromophytes, Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria) from the measured fluorescence signal. With this, we obtained the contribution of each of the four phytoplankton groups to the total chlorophyll *a* concentration, given in micrograms per liter. For details on calibration of the fluorometer, default settings and mathematical equations used for the calculation of the contribution of the four phytoplankton groups to the total chlorophyll *a*.

1.2.3 In vitro chromatographic analysis (HPLC)

For the HPLC analyses, up to 1000 ml of the water samples from the lakes were filtered onto precombusted glass fiber filters (VWR GF/F, Ø 25 mm). The filters were wrapped in aluminium foil and stored at -20 °C until analysis. Seston samples were extracted with each 3.5 ml 100% acetone (Alfa Aesar, HPLC grade), sonicated for 2 min and then placed on ice for 1 min. This was repeated 5 times, resulting in a total of 10 min sonication and extraction time. Subsequently, the filters were kept at 4°C over night to allow for further extraction. On the following day, the filters were removed from the tubes and the

extracts were centrifuged for 15 min at 4500 x g (Eppendorf Centrifuge 5804) to remove cell and filter debris. 1 ml of the extracts were transferred to new tubes, evaporated to dryness under a gentle stream of nitrogen gas, re-dissolved in 100 μ l acetone and transferred to HPLC vials. To correct for sample loss during the evaporation, we used trans- β -apo-8'-carotenal (Sigma Aldrich) as an internal standard (ISTD). We added 100 ng of the ISTD to 1 ml of extract prior to evaporation. 25 - 50 μ l per sample were injected into the HPLC system. All samples were measured within 72 hours after extraction.

A Prominence HPLC System from Shimadzu equipped with a binary pump (LC-20AB), an autosampler SIL-A20C, a column oven CTO-10AC set at 40°C and a diode array detector (PDA) SPD-M20A was used for the analysis of phytoplankton pigments. We used a reverse phase Spherisorb ODS2 column (stationary octadecyl-phase (C₁₈), dimensions: 25 cm x 4.6 mm, particle size: 5 μ m). The pigments were separated with a method modified after Garridol and Zapata (1993): The solvents used were methanol : 1 M ammonium acetate : acetonitrile (50:20:30, v/v, Solvent A) and acetonitrile : ethyl acetate (50:50, v/v, Solvent B). The gradient system used was as follows: 0 min: A: 90%, B: 10%; 2 min: A: 90%, B: 10%; 26 min: A: 40%, B: 60%; 28 min: A: 10%, B: 90%; 30 min: A: 10%, B: 90%. The composition of the solvents was returned to initial conditions over a 1 min gradient, followed by 2 min of system re-equilibration before the next sample was injected. The flow rate was 1 ml min⁻¹. Absorbance was recorded in the PDA from 350 to 700 nm. Pigments were identified by the retention times and the absorption spectra, which were obtained from previous measurements of the pure pigment standards. Peak areas were integrated at 436 nm and corrected for internal standard. For the quantification of the pigments, calibration curves were estimated by measuring at least 5 different amounts of each pigment standard in triplicates and fitting a linear regression between the amount of the pigment and the observed peak area at 436 nm. We determined the limit of detection and the limit of quantification as described in Hooker et al. (2005).

Based on our previous knowledge on phytoplankton groups that are usually present in the examined lakes (data from long-term monitoring), we chose 10 pigment standards, of which 9 were obtained from DHI Water (Hoersholm, Denmark): alloxanthin (marker pigment for Cryptophytes), β-carotene, chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b* (marker pigment for Chlorophytes), diatoxanthin, echinenone (marker pigment for Cyanobacteria), fucoxanthin (marker pigment for Chrysophytes and Diatoms), lutein (another marker pigment for Chlorophytes) and zeaxanthin (usually used as the only marker pigment for Cyanobacteria (Havskum et al., 2004; Llewellyn, 2004; Lewitus et al., 2005), but also shared with other groups like Chlorophytes). Peridinin (marker pigment for Dinoflagellates, extracted from Symbiodinium spp. following the protocol from Rogers and Marcovich, 2007) was kindly provided by D. Langenbach from the group of M. Melkonian at the University of Cologne. With the solvent gradient described above, we were able to separate all pigment peaks to the baseline except for lutein and zeaxanthin (Fig. 1.1). Although well separated, diatoxanthin was excluded from the subsequent CHEMTAX analysis as it was detected in very low amounts and in only few samples. Also, we excluded β -carotene as it did not have any effect on the output data (previous CHEMTAX runs, data not shown).

1.2.4 CHEMTAX and data analysis

The recently published (Schlüter et al. 2016) pigment : chlorophyll *a* ratio matrices had been established for oligo- and for meso- and eutropic lakes, including all three lakes from our study. These ratio matrices should thus be highly suitable for our study and were used in the present study to calculate the contribution of six phytoplankton groups, namely Chlorophytes, Cryptophytes, Cyanobacteria, Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates, to the total chlorophyll *a* via CHEMTAX (Mackey et al., 1996; version 1.95 provided by S. Wright).

For the CHEMTAX calculations, 60 different ratio matrices were generated from the initial ratio matrices (separately for the oligotrophic lake and for the oligomeso/mesotrophic lakes). 10% (n=6) of the matrices with the lowest residual root mean square (RMS) were averaged and used as new input ratio matrices. The runs were repeated using final ratio matrices from every previous run as input ratio matrix for the next run. This was repeated until the ratios became stable. For details on this procedure, see Latasa (2007) and Higgins et al. (2011). The parameters used within CHEMTAX were set as recommended by Mackey et al. (1996) and S. Wright (pers. comm.): ratio limits: 500 (this allowed initial pigment ratios to vary from r/6 to 6r, in total a 36-fold change), weighting: bounded relative (error by pigment, see Latasa, 2007), iteration limit: 100, epsilon limit: 0.0001, initial step size: 10, step ratio: 1.3, cutoff step: 100, elements varied: 5, subiterations: 1, weight bound: 30. For explanations, see Mackey et al. (1996). Subsequently, we used the HPLC derived pigment concentrations and the CHEMTAX derived biomasses of the phytoplankton groups (in units of chlorophyll *a*) to calculate Shannon-Diversity Indices as estimates of pigment and phytoplankton diversity (Shannon and Weaver, 1949). For this, we used the equation (Eq. 1):

$$H' = -\sum p_i \times \ln(p_i)$$

where p_i is the proportion of the pigment or phytoplankton class relative to the total amount of the pigments or the total biomass, respectively.

When the Shannon-Diversity Indices were calculated from the CHEMTAX data, we followed two approaches: first, we summed up the contribution of Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates to the total chlorophyll *a* to one single data point per sample, which was comparable to the biomass estimates of Chromophytes via Algae Lab Analyser. With this, we were able to calculate and compare the Shannon-Indices based only on the biomass estimates of the four groups (Chlorophytes, Chromophytes, Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria) from both methods (spectrofluorometrically and chromatographically estimated biomass). The second approach was to calculate the Shannon-Indices using the biomass estimates for all 6 phytoplankton groups, as CHEMTAX was able to discriminate between the subgroups of the Chromophytes (see above).

To compare the biomass (given as total chlorophyll *a*, in the following abbreviated as TChl *a*) and biodiversity estimates from the Algae Lab Analyser with those from HPLC and CHEMTAX, we estimated the Spearman correlation coefficient, r_s , as the data was not normally distributed. Additionally, we calculated the ratio between the estimates from the Algae Lab Analyser and CHEMTAX, RLAB/CHEM. The ratios and the biodiversity estimates were tested for normality with the Shapiro-Wilk's test, while the homogeneity of variances was tested with Levene's test. We performed one-way ANOVAs for all four phytoplankton groups, with the ratio RLAB/CHEM as the dependent variable and trophic status of the lakes as the independent variable, followed by the Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test ($\alpha = 0.05$). Alternatively, when the data was not normally distributed and variances were heterogeneous, we applied the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test on both the ratios RLAB/CHEM and the biodiversity estimates, followed by Dunn's *post hoc* test. For all calculations, statistics and figures, we used R (version 3.3.2, R Core Team, 2016) and RStudio (version 1.1.383, RStudio Team, 2016).



Fig. 1.1: HPLC chromatogram recorded at 436 nm. Shown are peaks of the pigments peridinin (Peri), fucoxanthin (Fuco), alloxanthin (Allo), diatoxanthin (Dtx), lutein (Lut), zeaxanthin (Zea), chlorophyll *b* (Chl *b*), chlorophyll *a* (Chl *a*), echinenone (Echi) and β -carotene (β -Caro). The pigment standard trans- β -apo-8'-carotenal was used as an internal standard (ISTD) and was well separated from the other pigments.

1.3 Results

1.3.1 Pigment composition

The most abundant pigment in the oligotrophic lake was zeaxanthin (37%), followed by fucoxanthin (36%), while the relative abundance of alloxanthin (marker pigment for the Cryptophytes) was even below 0.5%. In both the oligo-mesotrophic and the mesotrophic lake, the most abundant pigment was fucoxanthin (34% and 30%, respectively). Also, in both lakes, zeaxanthin and chlorophyll *b* (maker pigment for the Chlorophytes) were found in high relative abundances (Fig. 1.2). While peridinin (marker pigment for the Dinoflagellates) was moderately abundant in both the oligotrophic (14%) and the mesotrophic (16%) lake, we found only 1% of peridinin in the oligo-mesotrophic lake. The pigment diversity per sample ranged from 0.57 to 1.39 and was on average 1.11.

1.3.2 CHEMTAX final output ratio matrices

The final output ratio matrices from CHEMTAX calculations for all three lakes can be found in the Tab. 1.1. Both the final output peridinin : chlorophyll *a* and echinenone : chlorophyll *a* ratios were lower in all three lakes compared to the input ratios from Schlüter et al. (2016).

The zeaxanthin : chlorophyll *a* ratios for the Cyanobacteria were found to be higher in the output ratio matrices from the oligotrophic and the oligo-mesotrophic lake, while the final output zeaxanthin : chlorophyll *a* and chlorophyll *b* : chlorophyll *a* ratios for the Chlorophytes were lower compared to the input ratios. In the mesotrophic lake, the opposite was the case.

While the fucoxanthin : chlorophyll *a* ratios between the Diatoms and the Chrysophytes were similar in both input ratio matrices, the ratios changed during the CHEMTAX calculations: in the oligotrophic lake, the final output fucoxanthin : chlorophyll *a* ratio for Chrysophytes was higher than the fucoxanthin : chlorophyll *a* ratio for Diatoms (0.463 and 0.104, respectively). Interestingly, in both the oligo-mesotrophic and the mesotrophic lake, the final output fucoxanthin : chlorophyll *a* ratio for Chrysophytes was found to be much lower than the fucoxanthin : chlorophyll *a* ratio for Diatoms (0.032 and 0.685 in the oligo-mesotrophic lake and 0.044 and 0.399 in the mesotrophic lake, respectively).



Fig. 1.2: Pigment composition of the natural phytoplankton communities of the lakes Brunnsee (oligotrophic), Klostersee (oligo-mesotrophic) and Thalersee (mesotrophic). Shown are relative abundances of pigments alloxanthin, chlorophyll *b*, echinenone, fucoxanthin, lutein, peridinin and zeaxanthin, given as an average over the whole duration of the experiment, including both mesocosms and the lake itself.

Tab. 1.1: Final pigment : chlorophyll *a* ratio matrices after CHEMTAX calculations for each of the lakes: oligotrophic (Brunnsee), oligo-mesotrophic (Klostersee) and mesotrophic lake (Thalersee). Allo: alloxanthin, Chl *b*: chlorophyll *b*, Echi: echinenone, Fuco: fucoxanthin, Lut: lutein, Peri: peridinin, Zea: zeaxanthin.

	Allo	Chl b	Echi	Fuco	Lut	Peri	Zea
Oligotrophic lake							
Chlorophytes	0	0.276	0	0	0.131	0	0.002
Cryptophytes	0.228	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cyanobacteria	0	0	0.012	0	0	0	0.554
Chrysophytes	0	0	0	0.463	0	0	0.014
Diatoms	0	0	0	0.104	0	0	0.019
Dinoflagellates	0	0	0	0	0	0.340	0
Oligo-mesotrophic lake							
Chlorophytes	0	0.264	0	0	0.139	0	< 0.001
Cryptophytes	0.162	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cyanobacteria	0	0	0.024	0	0	0	0.538
Chrysophytes	0	0	0	0.032	0	0	< 0.001
Diatoms	0	0	0	0.685	0	0	0.002
Dinoflagellates	0	0	0	0	0	0.367	0
Mesotrophic lake							
Chlorophytes	0	0.363	0	0	0.165	0	< 0.001
Cryptophytes	0.147	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cyanobacteria	0	0	0.030	0	0	0	0.400
Chrysophytes	0	0	0	0.044	0	0	< 0.001
Diatoms	0	0	0	0.399	0	0	< 0.001
Dinoflagellates	0	0	0	0	0	0.401	0

1.3.3 Total biomass

The biomasses per sample, given as TChl *a*, ranged between 0.01 and 11.51 µg TChl *a* L⁻¹, as determined with the Algae Lab Analyser, and between 0.22 and 12.92 µg TChl *a* L⁻¹, as determined via HPLC (Fig. 1.3a). The average TChl *a* per lake was higher when determined with Algae Lab Analyser (0.86 in the oligotrophic, 1.27 in the oligomesotrophic and 3.19 µg L⁻¹ in the mesotrophic lake) compared to the values determined via HPLC (0.53, 1.26 and 2.01 µg L⁻¹, respectively). Despite those differences, we found a high positive correlation for the estimated TChl *a* between the two methods ($r_s = 0.82$, Tab. 1.2) across all three lakes. The ratio R_{LAB/CHEM} for TChl *a* was 1.47 and differed significantly from the 1:1 relationship (Tab. 1.3). The best match between the two methods was found in the oligo-mesotrophic lake (Kruskal-Wallis test, $X^2_{2,559} = 144.57$, p < 0.001, Tab. 1.4), where the ratio R_{LAB/CHEM} was not significantly different from 1 (value of 1 included in the 95% confidence interval, Tab. 1.3).

1.3.4 Phytoplankton community composition and biodiversity

The phytoplankton communities of all three lakes were strongly dominated by Chromophytes, as determined by Algae Lab Analyser (Fig. 1.4). Their relative abundance ranged from 55% in the oligo-mesotrophic lake to 76% as found in the oligotrophic lake. Second most abundant group in the oligo-mesotrophic and the mesotrophic lake were Cryptophytes (32% and 23%, respectively), while the Chlorophytes were the second most abundant group in the oligotrophic lake (16%). Cyanobacteria were found only in very low abundances being even below 2% (Fig. 1.4).


Fig. 1.3: (a) Total chlorophyll *a* concentration (μ g L⁻¹) and (b) phytoplankton diversity *H*' (Shannon-Index) determined spectrofluorometrically *in vivo* with Algae Lab Analyser (*y*-axis) and chromatographically *in vitro* via HPLC and CHEMTAX (*x*-axis). The dashed lines represent the 1:1 relationship. Color of the circles represents the trophic state of the lakes, blue: oligotrophic (*n*=186); light green: oligo-mesotrophic (*n*=187); dark green: mesotrophic (*n*=189); n in parentheses indicates the number of water samples per lake used in the study.

With CHEMTAX, we were able to differentiate between the subgroups of Chromophytes (Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates) and thus received a higher taxonomical resolution of the phytoplankton community composition compared to Algae Lab Analyser. According to the CHEMTAX calculations, in the oligotrophic lake, the Diatoms were the most abundant phytoplankton group (46.44%), followed by Cyanobacteria (15.22%), Dinoflagellates (14.12%) and Chrysophytes (14.06%), while the relative abundance of the Cryptophytes was below 1% (Fig. 1.5), as indicated by very low amount of alloxanthin in the oligotrophic lake (Fig. 1.2). In both the oligo-mesotrophic and the mesotrophic lake, we found high relative abundances of Chrysophytes (43.05% and 36.24%, respectively). As indicated by high amounts of zeaxanthin, chlorophyll b and lutein in the oligo-mesotrophic lake (Fig. 1.2), the Chlorophytes (21.98%) were the

second most abundant phytoplankton group in this lake, followed by Cyanobacteria (15.77%, Fig. 1.5). In the mesotrophic lake, which was dominated by Chrysophytes and Diatoms (in total 55.23%), as indicated by high amounts of fucoxanthin, the other 4 phytoplankton groups were all present in relatively similar abundances, ranging from 8.05% (Cryptophytes) to 13.02% (Chlorophytes, Fig. 1.5). Interestingly, in more than 63% of the samples, we found only 1 or 2 functional groups when using Algae Lab Analyser (47 and 311 samples, respectively) while 3 or 4 groups were found in 184 and 20 samples, respectively. With CHEMTAX, we found all four phytoplankton groups in 484 out of 562 samples, while 78 samples had a functional richness of 3 (Fig. 1.6).



Fig. 1.4: Composition of the natural phytoplankton communities of the lakes Brunnsee (oligotrophic), Klostersee (oligo-mesotrophic) and Thalersee (mesotrophic), as determined via Algae Lab Analyser. Shown are relative abundances of phytoplankton groups Chlorophytes, Chromophytes, Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria, given as an average over the whole duration of the experiment, including both mesocosms and the lake itself.



Fig. 1.5: Composition of the natural phytoplankton communities of the lakes Brunnsee (oligotrophic), Klostersee (oligo-mesotrophic) and Thalersee (mesotrophic), as determined via HPLC and CHEMTAX. Shown are relative abundances of phytoplankton groups Chlorophytes, Cryptophytes, Cyanobacteria, Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates, given as an average over the whole duration of the experiment, including both mesocosms and the lake itself.



Fig. 1.6: Functional richness of the natural phytoplankton communities in each sample from the lakes Brunnsee (oligotrophic, n=186), Klostersee (oligo-mesotrophic, n=187) and Thalersee (mesotrophic lake, n=189), as determined via Algae Lab Analyser (left panel) and CHEMTAX (right panel). Only the four phytoplankton groups Chlorophytes, Chromophytes, Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria are included.

The phytoplankton diversity (given as Shannon-Diversity Index) based on the biomass estimates of four phytoplankton groups (Chlorophytes, Chromophytes, Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria) from the Algae Lab Analyser ranged from 0 (only one group present) to 1.37 and was on average 0.59 across all three lakes. The average phytoplankton diversity based on CHEMTAX biomass estimates was higher (0.88) and ranged between 0.30 and 1.38 (Fig. 1.3b), resulting in a ratio significantly below 1 (RLAB/CHEM = 0.7±0.03 (95% confidence interval), Tab. 1.3). The highest average diversity of the phytoplankton community was found in the oligo-mesotrophic lake ($H' = 1.03\pm0.21$ (mean ± standard deviation); Kruskal-Wallis test, $X^2_{2,559} = 199.34$, p < 0.001) based on CHEMTAX biomass estimates from Algae Lab Analyser ($H' = 0.72\pm0.15$; Kruskal-Wallis test, $X^2_{2,559} = 131.52$, p < 0.001). We found the lowest average phytoplankton diversity in the oligotrophic lake as indicated by both the Algae Lab Analyser and CHEMTAX biomass estimates (0.43 and 0.66, respectively).

1.3.5 Comparison of the biomass estimates from both methods

We found a very low, but nevertheless significant correlation between the two methods for the biomass estimates of the Chlorophytes (r_s = 0.19, p < 0.001, Tab. 1.2). As determined via the Algae Lab Analyser, the contribution of the Chlorophytes to the TChl a was on average 0.36 µg L⁻¹ and ranged from 0 to 8.05 µg L⁻¹. With CHEMTAX, we found lower average contribution of the Chlorophytes to the TChl a (0.20 µg L⁻¹), with a maximum value of only 3.21 µg L⁻¹ in the mesotrophic lake (Fig. 1.7a), which resulted in an average ratio R_{LAB/CHEM} of 2.97 (Tab. 1.3). The best correlation for the Chlorophytes was found in the oligo-mesotrophic lake (r_s = 0.41, p < 0.001, Tab. 1.2 and Tab. 1.4), which was also the only lake where the average contribution of the Chlorophytes to the TChl a was higher when determined via CHEMTAX than Algae Lab Analyser (R_{LAB/CHEM} = 0.58, Tab. 1.3 and Fig. 1.8a).

The highest correlation between the biomass estimates from both methods was found for the Chromophytes ($r_s = 0.77$, p < 0.001, Tab. 1.2). The average contribution of the Chromophytes to the TChl *a* was 1.07 (Algae Lab Analyser) and 0.82 µg L⁻¹ (CHEMTAX, Fig. 1.7b). Again, we found the best fit between the two methods in the oligomesotrophic lake ($r_s = 0.72$, p < 0.001, Tab. 1.2 and Tab. 1.4), with an average ratio RLAB/CHEM of 1.17 (Tab. 1.3). Compared to the biomass estimates of the other phytoplankton groups, the ratios RLAB/CHEM for Chromophytes were the closest to 1 in all three lakes (Fig. 1.8b).

The contribution of the Cryptophytes to the TChl *a* ranged from 0 to 6.75 µg L⁻¹ and from 0 to 1.25 µg L⁻¹ as determined via Algae Lab Analyser and CHEMTAX, respectively (Fig. 1.7c). On average, we found only 0.09 µg L⁻¹ of the Cryptophytes in our samples according to the CHEMTAX calculations, while with the Algae Lab Analyser, the average biomass of the Cryptophytes was 4 times higher (0.36 µg L⁻¹). Still, we found a highly significant positive correlation between the biomass estimates from the two methods across all lakes ($r_s = 0.62$, p < 0.001, Tab. 1.2), while the best fit was found in the mesotrophic lake ($r_s = 0.5$, p < 0.001, Tab. 1.2). The worst fit for the Cryptophytes was found in the oligotrophic lake, but was still significant ($r_s = 0.15$, p < 0.05, Tab. 1.2). The ratios RLAB/CHEM found for the biomass estimates of the Cryptophytes were in many cases very high and ranged up to about 2 x 10⁶ as found in the oligo-mesotrophic lake (Fig. 1.8c), which was due to very low concentrations of alloxanthin in the samples and thus, a very low contribution of the Cryptophytes to the TChl *a* as determined via CHEMTAX.

The lowest correlation between the two methods was found for the Cyanobacteria ($r_s = 0.07$, p > 0.05, Tab. 1.2 and Fig. 1.7d). Although the biomass estimates for the Cyanobacteria from Algae Lab Analyser and CHEMTAX were in a very similar range (0 to 0.86 µg L⁻¹ and 0.01 to 0.88 µg L⁻¹, respectively), the overall ratio R_{LAB/CHEM} was only 0.1 (Tab. 1.3 and Fig. 1.8d). Interestingly, we found Cyanobacteria in all samples as determined via CHEMTAX, but the same was the case in only 69 samples when using Algae Lab Analyser. In 493 samples (88% of all samples), Cyanobacteria were not found at all according to the Algae Lab Analyser. In the oligotrophic and the mesotrophic lake, this was even the case in 96% and 93% of the samples, respectively. The only positive correlation between the two methods was found in the oligotrophic lake, but was very low ($r_s = 0.17$, p < 0.05, Tab. 1.2). For both the Cryptophytes and the Cyanobacteria, no significant differences between the ratios R_{LAB/CHEM} were found between the lakes (Tab. 1.4).

Tab. 1.2: Spearman rank correlation coefficients (r_s) between the chlorophyll *a* concentrations (µg L⁻¹) determined fluorometrically with Algae Lab Analyser and chromatographically via HPLC and CHEMTAX estimated across all lakes and for each lake separately; significance levels are indicated with asterisks: * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.001.

Chlorophyll a	All lakes	oligotrophic	oligo- mesotrophic	mesotrophic
(µg L ⁻¹)	$r_s (n = 562)$	$r_s (n = 186)$	oligo- <u>mesotrophic</u> <i>r</i> _s (<i>n</i> = 187) 0.59*** 0.41*** 0.72*** 0.33***	$r_s (n = 189)$
Total	0.82***	0.56***	0.59***	0.71***
Chlorophytes	0.19***	-0.06	0.41***	0.26***
Chromophytes	0.77***	0.66***	0.72***	0.62***
Cryptophytes	0.62***	0.15*	0.33***	0.5***
Cyanobacteria	0.07	0.17*	0	-0.12



Contribution to TChl *a* [µg L⁻¹] CHEMTAX

Fig. 1.7: Contribution of (a) Chlorophytes, (b) Chromophytes (Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates), (c) Cryptophytes and (d) Cyanobacteria to the total chlorophyll *a* concentration (μ g L⁻¹) determined spectrofluorometrically *in vivo* with Algae Lab Analyser (*y*-axis) and chromatographically *in vitro* via HPLC and CHEMTAX (*x*-axis). The dashed lines represent the 1:1 relationship. Color of the circles represents the trophic state of the lakes, blue: oligotrophic (*n*=186); light green: oligo-mesotrophic (*n*=187); dark green: mesotrophic (*n*=189); n in parentheses indicates the number of water samples per lake used in the study.



Fig. 1.8: The distribution of the ratios ($R_{LAB/CHEM}$ + 1, to be able to use a logarithmic scale for the *y*-axis) between the contribution of four phytoplankton groups (a) Chlorophytes, (b) Chromophytes (Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates), (c) Cryptophytes and (d) Cyanobacteria to the total chlorophyll *a* determined spectrofluorometrically *in vivo* with Algae Lab Analyser and chromatographically *in vitro* via HPLC and CHEMTAX for all three lakes of different trophic status.

1.3.6 CHEMTAX derived phytoplankton diversity including all 6 phytoplankton groups

The average ratio between the Shannon-Diversity Indices from two the methods was even lower when all 6 phytoplankton groups (Chlorophytes, Cryptophytes, Cyanobacteria, Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates) were included into CHEMTAX derived phytoplankton diversity (Fig. 1.9a). Here, the correlation coefficient $r_{\rm s}$ between Algae Lab Analyser and CHEMTAX derived diversity was only 0.3, while the average ratio R_{LAB/CHEM} across all lakes was 0.44 (Tab. 1.3).

When we compared the HPLC derived pigment diversity (including chlorophyll *a*) and phytoplankton diversity determined via CHEMTAX (all 6 groups included, Fig. 1.9b), we found a highly significant positive correlation ($r_s = 0.67$, p < 0.001), which was found to be the highest in the mesotrophic lake ($r_s = 0.82$, p < 0.001). The average ratio R_{phytoplankton/pigments} was 1.23 across all lakes and ranged between 0.67 and 1.50. The ratio most closely to 1 was found in the oligo-mesotrophic lake (R_{phytoplankton/pigments} = 1.13; Kruskal-Wallis test, $X^2_{2,559} = 290.9$, p < 0.001).



Fig. 1.9: (a) Correlation between the phytoplankton diversity *H*′ (Shannon-Index) determined spectrofluorometrically *in vivo* with Algae Lab Analyser (*y*-axis) and chromatographically *in vitro* via HPLC and CHEMTAX (*x*-axis, including all 6 taxonomic groups: Chlorophytes, Cryptophytes, Cyanobacteria, Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates). (b) Correlation between the phytoplankton diversity estimated with HPLC and CHEMTAX (including all 6 taxonomic groups) and pigment diversity (including chlorophyll *a*). The dashed line represents the 1:1 relationship. For legend, see Fig. 1.3.

Tab. 1.3: Average ratios $R_{LAB/CHEM}$ between the estimates from Algae Lab Analyser and CHEMTAX for the total biomass (TChl *a*, in µg L⁻¹), contribution of the four phytoplankton groups to the chlorophyll *a* (µg L⁻¹) and the phytoplankton diversity (4: including only four groups, Chlorophytes, Chromophytes, Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria; 6: including all 6 taxonomic groups determined via CHEMTAX, Chlorophytes, Cryptophytes, Cyanobacteria, Chrysophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates). Given are average ratios ± 95% confidence intervals calculated across all lakes and for each lake separately.

Average ratio R _{LAB/CHEM}	All lakes	oligotrophic	oligo- mesotrophic	eutrophic
	<i>n</i> = 562	<i>n</i> = 186	<i>n</i> = 187	n = 189
TChl a	1.47 ± 0.06	1.65 ± 0.11	1.04 ± 0.06	1.72 ± 0.12
Chlorophytes	2.97 ± 0.49	5.57 ± 1.30	0.58 ± 0.16	2.79 ± 0.44
Chromophytes	1.47 ± 0.07	1.63 ± 0.10	1.17 ± 0.12	1.59 ± 0.12
Cryptophytes	6661.32 ±7618.32	10434.63 ± 8315.19	11017.03 ± 20647.46	23.69 ± 35.83
Cyanobacteria	0.100 ± 0.06	0.014 ± 0.01	0.168 ± 0.09	0.118 ± 0.15
Phytoplankton diversity 4	0.70 ± 0.03	0.73 ± 0.07	0.59 ± 0.04	0.79 ± 0.03
Phytoplankton diversity 6	0.44 ± 0.02	0.36 ± 0.04	0.47 ± 0.03	0.48 ± 0.02

Tab. 1.4: Effects of the trophic status of the lakes on the ratios R_{LAB/CHEM} for (a) total chlorophyll *a* (TChl *a*), biomass estimates for (b) Chlorophytes, (c) Chromophytes, (d) Cryptophytes and (e) Cyanobacteria and for phytoplankton diversity, including either (f) 4 or (g) 6 groups from CHEMTAX. One-way ANOVA was performed for homoscedastic data, while Kruskal-Wallis test (KW) was applied to heteroscedastic data. The different letters in the column "Group" are indicating significant differences between the trophic states (after Tukey's HSD and Dunn's *post hoc* tests following ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis analyses, respectively). The lakes are ordered depending on the mean values of the given variable (in descending order).

RLAB/CHEM	Group	Test	X ² or F	р		
(a) TChl a						
mesotrophic	а					
oligotrophic	а	KW	$X^{2}_{2,559} = 144.57$	< 0.001		
oligo-mesotrophic	b					
(b) Chlorophytes						
oligotrophic	а					
mesotrophic	а	KW	$X^{2}_{2,559} = 64.579$	< 0.001		
oligo-mesotrophic	b					
(c) Chromophytes						
oligotrophic	а					
mesotrophic	а	KW	$X^{2}_{2,559} = 58.576$	< 0.001		
oligo-mesotrophic	b					
(d) Cryptophytes						
oligo-mesotrophic	а					
oligotrophic	а	ANOVA	$F_{2,481} = 0.904$	0.406		
mesotrophic	a					
(e) Cyanobacteria						
oligo-mesotrophic	а					
mesotrophic	а	ANOVA	$F_{2,559} = 2.196$	0.112		
oligotrophic	а					
(f) Phytoplankton diversity 4						
mesotrophic	а					
oligotrophic	b	KW	$X^{2}_{2,559} = 46.627$	< 0.001		
oligo-mesotrophic	С					
(g) Phytoplankton diversity 6						
mesotrophic	а					
oligo-mesotrophic	а	KW	$X^{2}_{2,559} = 42.477$	< 0.001		
oligotrophic	b					

1.4 Discussion

1.4.1 General

Both the Algae Lab Analyser and CHEMTAX allowed for a good general overview of the composition of natural phytoplankton communities. Despite the somewhat limited taxonomic resolution of both methods, the overall patterns of phytoplankton group abundances matched well with both the *in vivo* and the *in vitro* assay. Further, phytoplankton biomass estimates (determined as total chlorophyll *a*) were very similar with both methods. This demonstrates the general utility of both approaches, in contrast to other methods and devices such as FluoroProbe and Algae Online Analyser (both from bbe Moldaenke) which frequently underestimate the total chlorophyll *a* (Gregor and Maršálek, 2004; Catherine et al., 2012; Harrison et al., 2016). As both our methods require relatively little time in comparison to e.g. microscopic counts or DNA-metabarcoding approaches, this makes them highly suited for monitoring and routine phytoplankton analyses.

Despite their general comparability, both methods differed markedly in some important aspects. This applies in particular, but not exclusively, to the determination of cyanobacterial abundances, which are a major focus of phytoplankton community assessment in the context of water quality management. In our study, the Algae Lab Analyser was frequently unable to detect any Cyanobacteria in the lakes' phytoplankton, even though the detection of echinenone in the HPLC gave clear indications of cyanobacterial presence which is supported by microscopic observations of a subset of the samples that showed a presence of Cyanobacteria in the majority of analysed samples.

It has to be noted that manufacturer suggests to calibrate the Algae Lab Analyser with phytoplankton species isolated from the water bodies of interest to get a more accurate assessment of the phytoplankton community composition. However, this seems not realistic in practice, in particular for routine laboratories and water authorities that monitor numerous different lakes and other aquatic systems.

An important aspect that might explain the observed differences between the two methods is the possibility to adjust the sensitivity of the HPLC/CHEMTAX method via the filtered volume of samples. While only 25 ml of the water samples are measured in the Algae Lab Analyser, we filtered 500 – 1000 ml of water for each sample for the pigment-analyses via HPLC. Thus, the concentration of the pigments extracted from the filters and detected via HPLC was higher compared to the pigment concentrations in the water sample measured *in vivo* with Algae Lab Analyser. This probably allowed for the higher sensitivity of the CHEMTAX method and its accuracy in the estimation of low Cyanobacteria abundances.

1.4.2 Comparative assessment of methods

Three specific aspects in the comparative evaluation of the HPLC-based and the *in vivo* method merit particular attention: The first applies to the distinction between Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria, which is of particular relevance for water quality assessment and monitoring (Gregor et al., 2005; Catherine et al., 2012): The detection of Cryptophytes by the Algae Lab Analyser depends not only on the main Cryptophyte marker pigment alloxanthin, but further on the specific absorption of phycoerythrin (Beutler et al., 2002, 2004), which is also an important pigment for many "red" and "blue" Cyanobacteria (Bryant, 1982; Gregor et al., 2005; Haverkamp et al., 2009).

As the lipophilic extraction commonly applied prior to the HPLC separation of pigments does not capture the hydrophilic pigment groups of phycoerythrins and phycocyanins, these pigments cannot be evaluated by the CHEMTAX approach. This led us to the assumption that CHEMTAX may underestimate the abundance of Cyanobacteria in the lake phytoplankton, as this method does not consider these two main groups of pigments typical for Cyanobacteria.

Interestingly, our data indicated quite the opposite, i.e. a much higher relative abundance of Cyanobacteria in the phytoplankton community assessment via CHEMTAX as compared to the Algae Lab Analyser. Catherine et al. (2012) also reported a "potentially strong misattribution towards Cryptophytes of "red" Cyanobacteria" when they compared the biomass estimates of Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria from FluoroProbe to the microscopic counts. When examining cyanobacterial blooms in reservoirs, in some samples dominated by Cyanobacteria, Gregor et al. (2005) detected certain amounts of Cryptophytes (approx. 1-20% of TChl *a*) via FluoroProbe, although microscopic counts revealed no Cryptophyte abundances. This may be explained by the inclusion of phycoerythrins into the detection of Cryptophytes by the Algae Lab Analyser (and FluoroProbe). Admittedly, there have been attempts to account for this potential problem by the manufacturers of the Algae Lab Analyser (Beutler et al., 2003, 2004). Nevertheless, our data indicate that under certain conditions, the CHEMTAX approach may be more sensitive for the detection of low cyanobacterial abundances in comparison to the *in vivo* approach of the Algae Lab Analyser.

Beyond the distinction between Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria, it may also be challenging to distinguish Chlorophytes from Cyanobacteria under certain conditions. Most published HPLC gradients have difficulties in separating the peaks of lutein and zeaxanthin (Latasa et al., 1996; Van Heukelem and Thomas, 2001; Stoń-Egiert and

Kosakowska, 2005). This was also the case for our HPLC gradient. As a consequence, lutein may be frequently underestimated, which would lead to an underestimation of Chlorophytes relative to Cyanobacteria. In our HPLC data, no lutein peak could be identified in some samples, although microscopic counts indicated the presence of Chlorophytes. Such an underestimation of Chlorophyte abundances due to an insufficient separation of lutein and zeaxanthin may explain the lower Chlorophytes : Cyanobacteria ratio detected by CHEMTAX in comparison to the Algae Lab Analyser.

CHEMTAX estimates the relative abundance of Chlorophytes mainly based on the occurrence of lutein and chlorophyll *b*. If chlorophyll *b*, but no lutein is detected, this is probably a consequence of the above mentioned weak separation of the lutein and zeaxanthin peaks in the HPLC. An alternative explanation could be the occurrence of euglenophytes that are characterized by the possession of chlorophyll *b* without a concomitant abundance in lutein (Fietz and Nicklisch, 2004; Schlüter et al., 2006; Sarmento and Descy, 2008). However, microscopic observations of our samples give no indications of common occurrences of euglenophytes in our study lakes.

The third important difference of the two methods is related to the distinction of Diatoms and Chrysophytes. As both share the characteristic pigment fucoxanthin, the Algae Lab Analyser does not allow for a distinction between these algal groups. This is somewhat unfortunate, as these two algal groups often dominate in oligo- and mesotrophic lakes (Buchaca, 2004; Ptacnik et al., 2008; Järvinen et al., 2013; Poxleitner et al., 2016; Schlüter et al., 2016). CHEMTAX provides the distinct advantage of separating Chrysophytes from Diatoms based on their specific fucoxanthin : chlorophyll a ratios (Tab. 1.1). As mentioned before, the final output ratio of fucoxanthin : chlorophyll a differed between the oligotrophic lake and the oligo-mesotrophic and the

mesotrophic lake, resulting in a switched dominance of either the Diatoms or the Chrysophytes comparing the lakes (oligotrophic lakes: Diatoms more abundant than Chrysophytes, while the opposite was the case in the oligo-mesotrophic and the mesotrophic lake). In the case of the oligo-mesotrophic lake, the microscopic counts indicated a dominance of Diatoms rather than Chrysophytes. One possible explanation might be the usage of a CHEMTAX ratio matrix established for meso- and eutrophic lakes (Schlüter et al., 2016, Tab. 1.3). However, CHEMTAX calculations for the oligo-mesotrophic lake with the ratio matrix established for oligotrophic lakes (Schlüter et al., 2016, Tab. 1.3) yielded the same results (data not shown). This indicates that a differentiation between Diatoms and Chrysophytes based on their specific fucoxanthin : chlorophyll *a* ratios is not sufficient to accurately discriminate these two phytoplankton groups. We thus suggest the inclusion of other pigments into the CHEMTAX approach for a more accurate differentiation of Diatoms and Chrysophytes, e.g. the inclusion of violaxanthin, which is a commonly used marker pigment for Chrysophytes (Buchaca et al., 2005; Descy et al., 2000; Lauridsen et al., 2011; Schlüter et al., 2016).

Within the CHEMTAX analyses, the pigment : chlorophyll *a* ratios are changed trough a series of iterations until the RMS error is stable (Mackey et al., 1996). This means that depending on the data and parameters chosen, the ratios in the final matrix can be very different from the ones in the input matrix. This has positive aspects, as it indicates that the actual data (HPLC derived pigment concentrations) has the highest effect on the outcome of the CHEMTAX analysis. On the other hand, this means that under certain conditions, independently from the original input matrix, ratios can change in a wide range (here: 1/6 to 6 fold). When it comes to pigments that are shared between phytoplankton groups such as fucoxanthin, such an approach could shift the pigment : chlorophyll *a* ratios between the groups in the opposite direction (input

matrix: higher fucoxanthin : chlorophyll *a* for group A compared to group B, output matrix: the other way around). This may be an additional explanation for the inconsistent relative abundance of Diatoms versus Chrysophytes in the oligomesotrophic lake of our study. Similar results were found by Simmons et al. (2016), who compared the phytoplankton community composition via HPLC/CHEMTAX estimates to biovolume estimates derived from microscopic counts for the oligotrophic Lake Michigan. There, CHEMTAX overestimated Chrysophytes versus Diatoms. Interestingly, the input fucoxanthin : chlorophyll *a* ratios for both groups of Simmons et al. (2016) were similar to the final output fucoxanthin: chlorophyll a ratios for the oligomesotrophic and the mesotrophic lake from our study, which leads to a consistent favoring of Chrysophytes over Diatoms in those CHEMTAX matrices. To overcome the observed mismatch between Diatoms and Chrysophytes, Simmons et al. (2016) suggested to include chlorophyll c_1 and c_2 into CHEMTAX analyses. This is because (freshwater) Diatoms contain both chlorophyll c_1 and c_2 , while most Chrysophytes contain only chlorophyll c_2 (Jeffrey et al., 2011). Interestingly, when Simmons et al. (2016) combined the CHEMTAX-derived relative abundances of Chrysophytes and Diatoms, the match with the combined relative abundances of these two groups from the microscopic counts was much better, which was also observed in our study (personal observation, data not shown).

1.4.3 Phytoplankton biodiversity

Independent from the number of groups included into the calculation of the Shannon-Diversity Index, the biodiversity of the phytoplankton community based on CHEMTAX was higher than the biodiversity calculated based on Algae Lab Analyser data.

This indicates an advantage of CHEMTAX over Algae Lab Analyser, as it allows for a higher resolution of the phytoplankton community composition.

The lower biodiversity estimates based on the data from the Algae Lab Analyser may be related to the observation, that in more than 63% of the samples, the Algae Lab Analyser identified only 1 or 2 phytoplankton groups. This seems highly unlikely for samples from natural phytoplankton communities. Thus, for studies on biodiversity of phytoplankton communities, CHEMTAX appears to be more suitable.

Another observation made in our study was the high positive correlation between the pigment-based and the phytoplankton-based Shannon-Diversity. This indicates that even the pigment-based diversity can be used as a good proxy for the biodiversity of the phytoplankton community, without the necessity to perform CHEMTAX calculations.

1.4.4 Effects of trophic status

In some cases, the agreement of the two used methods depended on the trophic status of the lake. For example, the best agreement for TChl *a*, Chlorophytes and Chromophytes was found in the oligo-mesotrophic lake Klostersee (Tab. 1.4), while there were no effects of the trophic status on the agreement between Algae Lab Analyser and CHEMTAX for the biomass estimates of Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria. This might indicate that the agreement between the two methods depends not only on the trophic status of the lake and phytoplankton group, but also on the overall biomass found in the lakes: too low or too high chlorophyll *a* concentrations might be difficult to allocate accurately to the phytoplankton groups.

When differentiating between the Chrysophytes and Diatoms via CHEMTAX, we found higher abundances of Diatoms in the oligotrophic lake compared to Chrysophytes, while the opposite was the case in the oligo-mesotrophic and the mesotrophic lake. However,

microscopic counts indicated a mismatch between the Chrysophytes and Diatoms in the oligo-mesotrophic and the mesotrophic lake, while the abundances of those two groups, as determined with CHEMTAX, corresponded well to the cell counts in the oligotrophic lake. One explanation for such findings may be the usage of different input ratio matrices for the oligotrophic lake compared to the oligo-mesotrophic and the mesotrophic lake. However, a repetition of CHEMTAX calculations for the oligo-mesotrophic lake with the input ratio matrix for oligotrophic lakes (Schlüter et al., 2016) yielded unaltered results. Interestingly, with both Algae Lab Analyser and CHEMTAX, we found the lowest average diversity in the oligotrophic lake Brunnsee. This was surprising, as many studies claim that oligotrophic lakes usually harbor more diverse phytoplankton communities compared to mesotrophic or eutrophic lakes (Stanley-Samuelson et al., 1987; Harrison, 1990; Leonard et al., 2004) (Leibold, 1999; Dodson et al., 2000). This is probably due to a strong dominance of chromophytes and in particular Diatoms in lake Brunnsee. Nevertheless, we cannot exclude that despite the low functional diversity observed in Brunnsee, there may be an underlying high species richness within one functional group.

1.4.5 Conclusions

Both the Algae Lab Analyser and HPLC/CHEMTAX are fast and useful tools for the assessment of the phytoplankton community composition. However, the agreement between the methods was not always satisfactory. This is similar to findings by Richardson et al. (2010) and may be due to different marker pigments utilized by the two methods. Also, more pigments should be included in the HPLC analysis, especially to be able to distinguish between Diatoms and Chrysophytes, e.g. violaxanthin and

chlorophylls c_1 and c_2 . As both methods have advantages and disadvantages, the method of choice depends on the aim of the study or the field of use.

While the Algae Lab Analyser is more suitable for rapid monitoring, CHEMTAX provides a higher resolution of the biodiversity in the community and better estimates of cyanobacterial abundances. Within the present study, pigment-based method via HPLC and CHEMTAX was used in **Chapter 4** to assess the phytoplankton community composition.

Chapter 2

Equal relevance of omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids for the fitness of *Daphnia* spp.

2.1 Introduction

The food quality of phytoplankton for Daphnia is frequently determined by the availability of essential polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), i.e. fatty acids with two or more double bonds in their carbon chain. Similar to other arthropod animals, Daphnia are incapable of synthesizing ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs *de novo* (Stanley-Samuelson et al., 1987; Harrison, 1990; Leonard et al., 2004). However, previous studies suggest that at least some *Daphnia* species are able to convert ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs within the respective PUFA family, albeit at conversion rates insufficient to cover the PUFA demands of the daphnids (Taipale et al., 2011). Thus, certain ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs are considered as essential for Daphnia and have to be derived from the diet (Weers et al., 1997; von Elert, 2002; Schlechtriem et al., 2006). In several field studies, the juvenile somatic growth of Daphnia sp. was shown to correlate with the content of ω 3-PUFAs in the seston, in particular α -linolenic acid (α -LA, 18:3 ω 3; Wacker and von Elert, 2001) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 20:5ω3; Müller-Navarra, 1995b). As juvenile somatic growth rate is a good proxy for *Daphnia* fitness (Lampert and Trubetskova, 1996), this suggests that the dietary availability of ω 3-PUFAs can limit the fitness of *Daphnia* in nature. This view is supported by multiple laboratory studies: *Daphnia galeata* fed with algal food supplemented with single ω 3-PUFAs showed increased somatic growth rates when EPA, α -LA and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, 22:6 ω 3) were supplemented (von Elert, 2002). In particular the dietary EPA availability was shown to limit not only the somatic growth rate of Daphnia (Becker and Boersma, 2003; Sperfeld and Wacker, 2012), but also their reproduction (Ravet et al., 2003; Martin-Creuzburg et al., 2008, 2010) and population growth (Martin-Creuzburg et al., 2010). Hence, EPA has been strongly recognized as a dietary PUFA limiting the fitness of various *Daphnia* species.

Besides EPA, the C₂₀-PUFA arachidonic acid (ARA, 20:4 ω 6) is assumed to play an important role for *Daphnia*'s fitness and physiology (Kainz et al., 2004; Brett et al., 2006; Schlotz et al., 2014). The main structural difference between these two PUFAs is the position of the first double-bond relative to the ω -end (methyl-end) of the carbon chain (ω 3 vs. ω 6). Both ARA and EPA serve as precursors for eicosanoids, a family of hormone-like substances such as prostaglandins, which are known to affect the reproduction, the immune system and the ion transport physiology of both vertebrates and invertebrates (Stanley-Samuelson, 1994; Stanley, 2000). Nevertheless, studies investigating the eicosanoid pathway in *Daphnia* were mostly focused on the role of ARA (Heckmann et al., 2008b; Schlotz et al., 2012), while the relevance of EPA for the eicosanoid metabolisms was poorly understood until recently (Schlotz et al., 2016; Fink and Windisch, 2018). The relevance of ARA for Daphnia is further supported by the finding that daphnids accumulate significant amounts of ARA, both during starvation and feeding, either by direct uptake from the diet or by bioconversion of other available ω6-PUFAs (Kainz et al., 2004; Schlechtriem et al., 2006; Smyntek et al., 2008; Burns et al., 2011; Taipale et al., 2011).

However, in contrast to EPA, the reports on potential constraints of *Daphnia*'s fitness through ARA availability are rather inconsistent. In a field study, Wacker and von Elert (2001) applied a modified Monod model to describe the relationship between the somatic growth rate of *D. galeata*, which was raised on natural seston of Lake Constance, and the sestonic content of different ω 3-and ω 6-PUFAs. They found equal proportions of variance explained by the Monod model when the sum of the sestonic content of all ω 3-PUFAs was considered compared to the sum of ω 6-PUFAs ($R^2 = 0.86$ for both ω families). Furthermore, their Monod model describing the relationship between the growth of daphnids and the sestonic concentration of ARA explained 70% of the variance. The study of Wacker and von Elert (2001) hence provided first evidence that in the field, ω 6-PUFAs might play a role for the fitness of *Daphnia*. The first controlled laboratory study on the role of PUFAs for Daphnia fitness by von Elert (2002) found *D. galeata* to be limited only by the availability of ω 3-, but not of ω 6-PUFA (namely ARA) availability. These findings were supported by a later study by Ravet et al. (2012), where an ARA-supplemented diet did (in contrast to EPA supplementation) not increase the somatic growth rate or reproduction of *Daphnia pulex*, although equal amounts of EPA and ARA were used in the respective diet treatments. This leads to the assumption that the effect size of ARA-supplementation (in terms of increased growth or reproduction) is smaller than the effect size of EPA-supplementation. On the other hand, Martin-Creuzburg et al. (2010) reported an increase in reproduction (determined as cumulative number of offspring), but not of somatic growth of Daphnia magna fed a cholesterol- and ARA-supplemented cyanobacterium. Furthermore, survival and reproduction of D. magna exposed to an opportunistic bacterial pathogen (Pseudomonas sp.) were increased when ARA was supplemented to a C₂₀-PUFA-deficient diet (Schlotz et al., 2014). Additionally, Schlotz et al. (2014) also observed an increased growth of *D. magna* when a C₂₀-PUFA-free diet mixture of *Acutodesmus obliquus* (formerly *Scenedesmus*) and Synechococcus elongatus was supplemented with ARA, which is in contrast to the previous findings from von Elert (2002), Martin-Creuzburg et al. (2010) and Ravet et al. (2012).

Due to the highly inconsistent findings, the limitation of *Daphnia*'s fitness and in particular its growth and reproduction by the availability of this ω 6-PUFA cannot be resolved without the determination of threshold saturation concentrations, as previously established for ω 3-PUFAs (Sperfeld and Wacker, 2011a). Such saturation thresholds are defined as minimum dietary PUFA concentrations that are necessary

for a saturated (i.e. unlimited) growth or reproduction (Sperfeld and Wacker, 2011a). Along a nutrient concentration gradient, starting with an infinite availability of a particular PUFA, a higher saturation threshold indicates a stronger and earlier occurring limitation of *Daphnia*'s fitness compared to lower saturation thresholds. The determination of threshold saturation concentrations of dietary PUFAs may therefore not only allow for identification of PUFAs that limit the fitness of *Daphnia*, but also may provide an indication about PUFA-limiting conditions for *Daphnia* in nature (Becker and Boersma, 2005).

To be able to better predict consumer's population dynamics (including consumer's fitness as well as inter- and intraspecific competition), gaining further knowledge on the relevance of ω 6-PUFAs for the fitness of *Daphnia* might be crucial. This is of particular importance when shifts in the ratio of dietary availability of ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs within the phytoplankton community occur. Additionally, with respect to competitive interactions in the field, potential intra- and interspecific variability in ARA demands within the genus *Daphnia* has to be considered. Such different specific PUFA demands between Daphnia species may depend on their body size, as lipid accumulation and assimilation rates of different cladocerans were found to increase with increasing body size (Goulden and Place, 1993). Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that larger sized Daphnia species (e.g. D. magna) might have higher rates of assimilation and accumulation of ARA and EPA compared to smaller sized Daphnia (e.g. D. pulex, D. pulicaria and D. longispina). Furthermore, it is not yet clear, if and at which rates ARA and EPA can be synthesized due to (retro-)conversion of other available PUFAs by different *Daphnia* species (Weers et al., 1997; von Elert, 2002; Schlechtriem et al., 2006). While specific EPA demands by different *Daphnia* species have been previously reported by Sikora et al. (2016), intra- and interspecific differences in ARA requirements within the genus *Daphnia* have, to our knowledge, not yet been studied. Although addressing such intra- and interspecific differences would require investigations with more genotypes from multiple species, single clone studies can nevertheless provide first evidence on possible species-specific ARA requirements.

We specifically hypothesize that: (i) insufficient ARA availability limits the fitness of *Daphnia* species; (ii) ARA threshold concentrations that are necessary to allow for saturated (i.e. ARA-unlimited) growth and reproduction of *Daphnia* are lower compared to the respective EPA saturation thresholds. To address these hypotheses, we conducted dose-response growth experiments with two *Daphnia* species of different body size fed with C₂₀-PUFA-free diet supplemented with either EPA or ARA.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Study organisms and cultivation

Two *Daphnia* clones, one from the medium sized species *D. pulex* (clone Gerstel, Koch et al., 2009) and one from the large species *D. magna* (clone B, Lampert and Rothhaupt, 1991) were cultured in clonal lines in aged, aerated and sterile-filtered (0.45 μ m) tap water at 20°C and a 16:8 h light:dark cycle. During the preculture phase (at least three generations), the daphnids were fed with the green alga *Acutodesmus obliquus* (strain SAG 276-3a from the Göttingen Algal Culture Collection SAG, Germany), which is rich in C₁₈-PUFAs, but lacks C₂₀-PUFAs such as ARA (C20:4 n-6) and EPA (C20:5 n-3, Windisch and Fink, 2018), at a concentration of 2 mg particulate organic carbon (POC) L⁻¹ every other day. *A. obliquus* was cultured in Z/4 medium (Zehnder and Gorham, 1960) in semi-continuous (dilution rate 0.1 d⁻¹) 5 L batch cultures at 100 μ E s⁻¹ m⁻² PAR.

2.2.2 Growth experiments

We placed six randomly assigned neonates of the 3^{rd} clutch (hatched within 20 hours) per species into 200 ml (*D. pulex*) or 300 ml (*D. magna*) aged and aerated tap water, respectively. The neonates were fed with *A. obliquus* (2 mg POC L⁻¹). ARA and EPA were supplemented via liposome carriers (Martin-Creuzburg et al. 2008) loaded with of either ARA (122 ng µl⁻¹) or EPA (142 ng µl⁻¹). Different volumes of the ARA- or EPA-containing liposome suspensions were used, which resulted in a dietary gradient ranging from 0.5 to 10 µg ARA or EPA mg POC⁻¹, respectively. In order to exclude a possible effect of liposome carriers on the growth of the daphnids, we maintained equal concentration of liposomes in all food treatments by adding appropriate amounts of PUFA-free control liposomes to all treatments with < 10 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹. Further, in the control

treatment, we supplied the same volume of PUFA-free control liposomes as was necessary to achieve the highest (10 µg mg POC⁻¹) PUFA concentrations. In total, we had one control treatment (*A. obliquus* + control liposomes = 0 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹, which served as the C₂₀-PUFA-free treatment for both experimental lines) and nine PUFAtreatments (0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3, 5, 7 and 10 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹) supplemented with either EPA or ARA, resulting in a total of 19 treatments in triplicates. Juveniles were transferred into fresh food + liposome suspensions daily. At the start of the experiments, we placed 3 x 10 neonates into preweighed aluminium boats and dried them at 60°C in the drying oven for at least 24 h. After 6 (*D. pulex*) or 7 days (*D. magna*), we sampled half of the daphnids (all not egg-bearing) and dried them in aluminium boats. The second half (egg-bearing individuals; all eggs were counted to determine the clutch size) was sampled one day later, i.e. after 7 (*D. pulex*) or 8 days (*D. magna*) and dried in aluminium boats. After drying, aluminium boats with daphnids were weighed on a Sartorius microbalance type CP2 P (accuracy 1 µg). The somatic growth rate g (d⁻¹) of the daphnids was calculated as (Eq. 2):

$$g = \frac{\ln(W_t) - \ln(W_0)}{t}$$

where W_0 is the dry mass at the beginning of the experiment, W_t is the dry mass at the end of the experiment and t is the duration of the experiment in days.

2.2.3 Fatty acid analyses

To be able to estimate the volume of the liposome suspensions that had to be added to the treatments in order to achieve a certain concentration gradient, we analyzed the fatty acid content of the respective liposomes via gas chromatography (GC). We first extracted lipids with 5 ml of dichloromethane/methanol (2:1, v:v) from 100 µl of each liposome suspension (control liposomes, ARA- and EPA-containing liposomes; in triplicates). For subsequent quantification of fatty acids, we added two internal standards to the samples, i.e. 10 µg heptadecanoic acid methyl ester (C17:0 ME) and 5 µg tricosanoic acid methyl ester (C23:0 ME) and sonicated for 1 minute. The samples were evaporated to dryness at 40°C under a stream of nitrogen gas and fatty acids were transesterified at 70°C for 20 min in 5 ml of 10% methanolic HCl. The methanolic HCl was prepared by addition of acetyl chloride (>99%, Acros Organics, Geel, Belgium) to ice-cooled methanol. The resulting fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) were extracted twice with approx. 2 ml of isohexane. The isohexane phases were joined and subsequently evaporated at 40°C under a stream of nitrogen gas and the remaining FAMEs were redissolved in 50 µl isohexane per sample. 1 µl of each sample was injected (splitless) into a 6890-N GC System (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) and analyzed using the same method as described by Windisch and Fink (2018). We found \sim 140 ng µl⁻¹ of ARA or EPA in the respective liposomes, while we confirmed the control liposomes to be PUFA-free.

2.2.4 Growth and reproduction saturation thresholds

We determined growth and reproduction saturation thresholds, i.e. PUFAconcentrations at which the growth and reproduction of juvenile daphnids reaches saturation (Sperfeld and Wacker, 2011a). For this, we used the saturation curve procedure described in Sperfeld and Wacker (2011), where a saturation curve is fitted using the growth rates of the daphnids at certain PUFA amounts. We applied the same procedure to our reproduction data. This procedure has two main advantages compared to the conventional statistical method (ANOVA) used to determine growth saturation thresholds: a) it allows for a calculation of thresholds for different saturation levels; b) combined with a bootstrapping method, it allows for an uncertainty (variance) of the estimated thresholds, which is necessary for statistical comparisons of thresholds between e.g. species or PUFAs. Furthermore, the threshold concentration estimated with ANOVA depends on the distances between the PUFA concentrations within the chosen concentration gradient (for further discussion, see Sperfeld and Wacker, 2011).

Therefore, to estimate the EPA and ARA threshold concentrations for the saturated growth of daphnids, we applied a modified Monod function (Monod, 1950) to describe the growth rate g (d⁻¹) of the daphnids along the EPA or ARA concentration gradient as (Eq. 3):

$$g = g_0 + \frac{(g_{\infty} - g_0) \times S}{(S + K_{\rm S})}$$

where g_0 is the growth rate observed in the PUFA-free treatment (0 µg mg POC⁻¹ of EPA and ARA respectively), g_{∞} the asymptotic growth rate (d⁻¹), *S* the amount of EPA or ARA supplemented to the diet (µg mg POC⁻¹) and *K*s the half saturation constant (µg mg POC⁻¹; threshold for the 50% growth saturation level $g_{50\%}$). We separately analyzed the growth rates of not egg-bearing vs. egg-bearing mothers. g_0 was calculated as the mean growth rate of the daphnids raised in the C₂₀-PUFA-free treatment (*n*=3 for *D. pulex* and not egg-bearing *D. magna* and *n*=2 for egg-bearing *D. magna*), while g_{∞} and *K*s were predicted from the Monod model. Additionally, we calculated the adjusted R^2 as a measure for the proportion of variance explained by the fitted Monod model.

As asymptotic growth rates can only be reached at an infinite amount of EPA and ARA, we used the predicted parameters for the saturated growth of the two *Daphnia* species from the fitted curves to additionally calculate the EPA and ARA thresholds $S_{75\%}$ (in µg mg POC⁻¹) for the 75% growth saturation level $g_{75\%}$, which corresponds to the reduction

of g_{∞} by 25% relative to the baseline g_0 . This saturation level was used for two main reasons, which are both further discussed in Sperfeld and Wacker (2011): a) although higher saturation levels (e.g. 90% or 95%) are much closer to the asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} , calculation of PUFA threshold concentrations for $g_{90\%}$ and $g_{95\%}$ is not recommended as variability in threshold concentrations increases with higher saturation levels and can lead to biased threshold estimates; b) to avoid biased PUFA threshold estimation by neglecting bootstrapped data sets for which regression curves do not intersect with the line of the growth level, which is likely to occur for growth saturation levels \geq 90%. Using the same model (Eq. 3), we predicted the asymptotic clutch size ($eggs_{\infty}$), the half saturation constant K_s for the saturated reproduction and the EPA and ARA threshold concentrations $S_{75\%}$ for the 75% reproduction saturation level $eggs_{75\%}$ (equivalent to a reduction of $eggs_{\infty}$ by 25% relative to the baseline $eggs_{0}$). The initial clutch size ($eggs_0$) was calculated as the mean number of eggs produced by daphnids raised in the C₂₀-PUFA-free treatment (n=3 for *D. pulex* n=2 for *D. magna*).

2.2.5 Bootstrapping

To be able to statistically compare the estimated growth saturation thresholds between PUFAs and species, we applied the bootstrapping procedure described in Sperfeld and Wacker (2011): we allowed for uncertainty in the calculated thresholds by randomly leaving out one replicate per concentration level > 0 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹ (separately for the EPA- and ARA-limited growth) and thus generating 1000 new data sets per species and PUFA-specific growth response with a sample size of *n*-9 (as we used 9 different EPA and ARA concentration levels). Those new data sets were used again for curve fitting (using the Eq. 3) resulting in *N* values for each parameter (g_{∞} , *K*s, *S*_{75%} for $g_{75\%}$ and adjusted R^2) per species and PUFA. g_0 was calculated as the mean growth rate of the

daphnids raised in the C₂₀-PUFA-free treatment and was set as a fixed starting point for every curve; thus, there was no variance in g_0 within one species, as we used the same C₂₀-PUFA-free control treatment for both PUFA experimental lines. In some cases, it was not possible to fit the curves through the bootstrapped growth rate data; therefore, these bootstrapped data sets were omitted from further analyses. Additionally, we applied a second data cleaning step by leaving out all data sets were curve fitting resulted in a negative K_S (i.e. $K_S < 0 \mu g$ PUFA mg POC⁻¹), as such results were biological meaningless. The same bootstrapping procedure and the subsequent data cleaning were applied for the reproduction data. The final counts N (max. 1000) of biologically meaningful growth and reproduction saturation curves for both species and both tested PUFAs (and thus the number of bootstrapped values for each parameter) are given in Table 2. Additionally, using the bootstrapped data, we calculated intersection points between 1000 randomly chosen EPA- and ARA-saturation curves for the growth and reproduction of the two Daphnia species. We used the function optimise() in R, with a fixed maximum of 1 mg PUFA mg POC⁻¹. Although this upper limit is biologically not meaningful and technically not reachable (e.g. via liposome supplementation), it allows for the maximal possible variation within the potential intersection points. All intersection points $\leq 0 \mu g$ PUFA mg POC⁻¹ and exactly equal to 1 mg PUFA mg POC⁻¹ were excluded from the further analysis for following reasons: a) values below zero are not biologically significant; b) values equal zero indicate no intersection of the curves after the initial starting point g₀, which was equal for EPA- and ARA-curves within one species; c) values equal to 1 mg (fixed maximum) indicate that the intersection point is equal to or above 1 mg PUFA mg POC⁻¹, which is biologically not meaningful.

2.2.6 Statistical analyses

Bootstrapping, fitting of the modified Monod function and subsequent statistical analyses were performed in R (version 3.3.2, R Core Team, 2016) and RStudio (version 1.1.383, RStudio Team, 2016). We tested the effect of the factors *PUFA* (EPA vs. ARA), Species (D. pulex vs. D. magna) and their interaction PUFA \times Species on the predicted PUFA threshold concentrations S75% for 75% growth and reproduction saturation levels as well as the asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} and asymptotic clutch size eggs_∞ via two-way ANOVA. For this, we followed a statistical procedure described in Martin-Creuzburg et al. (2014): for each of the predicted parameters, we randomly chose the same number of replicates as in the growth experiments (n=3 for both species and both PUFAs) from the distribution of N bootstrapped parameters. These were compared via two-way ANOVA. The procedure was repeated 400 times and the *p*-values for the two main factors and the interaction were recorded. As suggested by Martin-Creuzburg et al. (2014), we searched for a critical *p*-value necessary to hold for a statistical power of 0.8 (equivalent to a type II error of 0.2). Homogeneity of variances was checked with Levene's test. Finally, we compared the estimated intersection points of EPA- and ARA-curves for growth and reproduction between the two *Daphnia* species: we randomly chose 6 replicates (accounting for 3 replicates per EPA and ARA experimental line in the original growth experiments) from the distribution of intersection points and compared these via the non-parametric Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney-test (due to the lack of residuals normal distribution, checked via Shapiro-Wilk's test). This procedure was repeated 400 times (separately for growth and reproduction) to assess the critical *p*-value necessary to hold for a statistical power of 0.8.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 C20-PUFA-limited growth of Daphnia spp.

Growth rates of egg-bearing *Daphnia pulex* and *Daphnia magna* increased with increasing amounts of ARA supplemented to Acutodesmus obliquus, following a typical saturation curve (Fig. 2.1). We observed a similar pattern for the EPA-limited growth of D. magna (Fig. 2.1b). Accordingly, 58.34 % and 47.47 % of the variance of D. magna growth were explained by the saturation curves fitted along the EPA and ARA concentration gradient, respectively. For *D. pulex* however, the modified Monod model explained only 22.10 % of the variance of the ARA-limited growth of *D. pulex*. Growth rates of *D. pulex* clearly increased at EPA concentrations \geq 5 µg EPA mg POC⁻¹, but did not show a clear pattern along the experimental EPA concentration gradient (Fig. 2.1a). As a consequence, the modified Monod model explained only 18.74% of the variance of EPA-limited growth of *D. pulex*. In *D. pulex*, the mean growth rate g_0 in the C₂₀-PUFA-free control treatment was 0.370 d⁻¹, while the predicted asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} with EPA supply was 0.407 d⁻¹ and 0.401 d⁻¹ when ARA was supplemented. This accounted for a 9% and 8% growth increase (gain in growth from g_0 in absence of C₂₀-PUFAs to g_{∞}) by EPA and ARA supply, respectively (Fig. 2.1a, Tab. 2.1). In *D. magna*, the growth rate increased from 0.391 d⁻¹ (q_0) to a predicted asymptotic growth rate of 0.461 d⁻¹ (~ 15% increase) when EPA was supplemented and to 0.449 d⁻¹ when ARA was supplemented (~ 13% increase, Fig. 2.1b, Tab. 2.1). We further used the predicted parameters g_{∞} and K_s (Tab. 2.1) from the fitted saturation curves (Fig. 2.1) to calculate EPA and ARA threshold concentration $S_{75\%}$ (given in µg mg POC⁻¹) for the 75% growth saturation level $g_{75\%}$ for both *Daphnia* species. The estimated PUFA threshold concentration $S_{75\%}$ was below 5 µg of PUFA per mg particulate organic carbon for *D. magna* ($S_{75\% (EPA)} = 4.183 µg$ mg POC⁻¹, $S_{75\%}$ (ARA) = 2.230 µg mg POC⁻¹, Tab. 2.1). For *D. pulex*, we found similar $S_{75\%}$ for ARA-limited growth ($S_{75\%}$ (ARA) = 2.625 µg mg POC⁻¹) and a 3-fold higher $S_{75\%}$ for EPA-limited growth ($K_{S(EPA)}$ = 13.850 µg mg POC⁻¹, Tab. 2.1) compared to *D. magna*. Note that these findings refer to the saturation curves fitted through the raw growth rate data. Interestingly, the growth rate of not egg-bearing *D. pulex* (sampled after 6 days) did not show any clear patterns along the PUFA concentration gradient (Fig. S2a), while the EPA- and ARA-limited growth of *D. magna* followed the saturation curve (Fig. S2b). Similar to egg-bearing *D. magna*, the saturation curves fitted through the growth rate data of not egg-bearing *D. magna* explained 58.93% and 50.12% of variance (adjusted R^2) for the EPA- and ARA-limited growth, respectively (Tab. S1).

Bootstrapping procedure and the subsequent statistical analyses revealed significant differences in the predicted asymptotic growth rates g_{∞} among egg-bearing *Daphnia*: we found significantly higher g_{∞} for *D. magna* compared to *D. pulex* (two-way ANOVA; p(Species) < 0.001, Fig. 2.2a, Tab. 2.2a and Tab. 2.3). The factors *PUFA* (EPA vs. ARA) and the interaction *PUFA* × *Species* did not have any significant effect on the asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} (two-way ANOVA; p(PUFA) = 0.298, $p(\text{PUFA} \times \text{Species}) = 0.809$, Tab. 2.3). We did not find any significant effects of the two main factors and their interaction on the threshold concentrations $S_{75\%}$ (Fig. 2.2b, Tab. 2.3). Summary of estimated parameters for the growth of *D. pulex* and *D. magna*, derived from the bootstrapping procedure, can be found in Table 2.2a.

2.3.2 C₂₀-PUFA-limited reproduction of Daphnia spp.

Similar to the growth, the reproduction (given as number of eggs per individual) of both *Daphnia* species increased upon EPA and ARA supplement (Fig. 2.1c and 2.1d). However, the proportion of variance explained by the fitted saturation curves along the PUFA
concentration gradient was only 21% for EPA- and ARA-limited reproduction of D. pulex and 22% and 33% for the reproduction of *D. magna* under EPA and ARA supply. respectively (Tab. 2.1). D. pulex and D. magna reared in C₂₀-PUFA-free treatment produced ~ 5 and ~ 9 eggs per individual, respectively (*eggs*₀, calculated as the mean of n=3 (*D. pulex*) and n=2 (*D. magna*) replicates, Tab. 2.1). Via the Monod model, we predicted an asymptotic clutch size *eggs*_∞ of 6.456 and 6.442 (Ind⁻¹) for EPA- and ARAlimited reproduction of *D. pulex*, while the predicted asymptotic clutch size was approx. 2-fold higher for *D. magna* (13.791 and 14.284 eggs Ind⁻¹ under EPA and ARA supply, respectively). Hence, we predicted a \sim 29% increase in the number of eggs produced per individual in D. pulex in both experimental lines (EPA vs. ARA supply), while D. magna was predicted to increase its reproduction by $\sim 33\%$ and $\sim 35\%$ (from eggs₀ to eggs_∞) when EPA or ARA are present in infinite amounts, respectively. The estimated threshold concentration $S_{75\%}$ for the 75% reproduction level *eqgs*_{75%} was below 1.5 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹ for both species and PUFAs (*D. pulex*: $S_{75\%}$ (EPA) = 1.141 µg mg POC⁻¹, $S_{75\%}$ (ARA) = 0.131 µg mg POC⁻¹; *D. magna*: $S_{75\% (EPA)} = 1.471$ µg mg POC⁻¹, $S_{75\% (ARA)} = 0.561$ µg mg POC⁻¹, Tab. 2.1).

Via the bootstrapping procedure, we found a significantly higher asymptotic clutch size $eggs_{\infty}$ produced by *D. magna* compared to *D. pulex* (two-way ANOVA; *p*(Species) < 0.001, Fig. 2.2c, Tab. 2.2b and Tab. 2.3), while there were no significant differences between the two PUFA experimental lines (EPA vs. ARA, *p*(PUFA) = 0.754). The interaction *PUFA* × *Species* did not have any significant effect on $eggs_{\infty}$ (*p*(PUFA × Species) = 0.766). Finally, the threshold concentration *S*_{75%} for the 75% reproduction saturation level was neither significantly affected by the two main factors nor by their interaction (Fig. 2.2d, Tab. 2.3). A summary of estimated parameters for the reproduction of *D. pulex* and *D. magna*, derived from the bootstrapping procedure, can be found in Table 2b.



Fig. 2.1: Somatic growth rate g (d⁻¹) and reproduction (clutch size, i.e. number of eggs per individual) of *Daphnia pulex* (egg-bearing, sampled after 7 days; panels a and c, respectively) and *Daphnia magna* (egg-bearing, sampled after 8 days; panels b and d, respectively) grown on *Acutodesmus obliquus* supplemented with different amounts (µg mg POC⁻¹; particulate organic carbon) of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, green circles) or arachidonic acid (ARA, pink circles). Solid (EPA) and dashed (ARA) saturation curves are based on modified Monod functions (nonlinear least-square fits, Eq. 3). Vertical lines (green solid: EPA, pink dashed: ARA) indicate half saturation constants K_S (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹) of growth and reproduction saturation curves. Summary of the plots can be found in Table 2.1.

2.3.3 Intersection points of EPA- and ARA-curves for growth and reproduction

Finally, we calculated intersection points between 1000 randomly chosen fitted saturation curves describing the EPA- and ARA-limited growth (Fig. 2.3a) and reproduction (Fig. 2.3b) of *D. pulex* and *D. magna*. After data cleaning, 767 for *D. pulex* and 905 for *D. magna* intersection points remained for the growth curves, while the final number of estimated intersection points for the reproduction curves was 515 for *D. pulex* and 603 for *D. magna*. Although we found large variation of the intersection points within each of the two species, the median values were below 10 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹. The median intersection point for the growth of *D. pulex* was at 9.26 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹, while the median intersection point for the growth of *D. magna* was much lower (2.64 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹). Despite this 4-fold difference in median values, the growth-curves intersection points were not significantly different between the two *Daphnia* species (Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test, *p* = 0.94). Similarly, we did not find a significant difference among the two *Daphnia* species for the intersection points of the EPA- and ARA-dependent reproduction curves (4.12 and 4.97 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹ (median values) for *D. pulex* and *D. magna*, respectively; Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test, *p* = 0.82).



Fig. 2.2: (a) Asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} (d⁻¹), (b) PUFA threshold concentration $S_{75\%}$ (in μ g mg POC⁻¹) for growth saturation level $g_{75\%}$ (corresponding to reduction of g_{∞} by 25% relative to the baseline g_0), (c) asymptotic clutch size $eggs_{\infty}$ (number of eggs per individual) and (d) PUFA threshold concentration $S_{75\%}$ (in μ g mg POC⁻¹) for reproduction saturation level *eggs*_{75%} (corresponding to reduction of *eggs*_∞ by 25%) relative to the baseline *eqgs*₀) for egg-bearing *D. pulex* and *D. magna* grown on *A. obliquus* supplemented with either EPA (green) or ARA (pink). In all panels, the flat violin plot represents the distribution (density) of the data, while the boxplots represent the median (horizontal lines within each box), 25% and 75% quartiles (box), 10% and 90% percentiles (whiskers), 95% confidence interval (circles) and the mean value (diamond). In the panels a-b, the asymptotic growth rate and the PUFA threshold concentration were derived from nonlinear least-square fits through bootstrapped growth rate data (see Methods). In the panels c-d, the asymptotic clutch size and the PUFA threshold concentration were derived from nonlinear least-square fits through bootstrapped reproduction data (clutch size, i.e. number of eggs per individual; see Methods). Note that the y-axis in the panels b, c and d has a logarithmic scale. Summary of the plots (sample size, median, mean ± standard deviation) and statistical analyses can be found in Table 2.2 and 2.3, respectively. Different letters indicate significantly different groups (two-way ANOVA).



Fig. 2.3: Intersection points (μ g PUFA mg POC⁻¹) of EPA- and ARA-limited (a) growth and (b) reproduction saturation curves for egg-bearing *D. pulex* (green) and *D. magna* (pink). In all panels, the flat violin plot represents the distribution (density) of the data, while the boxplots represent the median (horizontal lines within each box), 25% and 75% quartiles (box), 10% and 90% percentiles (whiskers) and 95% confidence interval (circles). All intersection points $\leq 0 \ \mu$ g PUFA mg POC⁻¹ were excluded from the data set due to lack of biological significance (i.e. no intersection of the EPA- and ARA-curves). Note that for visualization reasons, the outliers exceeding 75 μ g PUFA mg POC⁻¹ are not shown in the figure. Number of intersection points for growth curves: n = 767 (D. pulex) and n = 905 (D. magna); number of intersection points for reproduction curves: n = 515 (D. pulex) and n = 603 (D. magna). We did not find a significant difference between the species (Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney-test; Growth: p = 0.94; Reproduction: p = 0.82). For details, see Methods.

Chapter 2

Tab. 2.1: Somatic growth rate g_0 (d⁻¹) and clutch size $eggs_0$ (Ind⁻¹) for *D. pulex* (egg-bearing, sampled after 7 days) and *D. magna* (egg-bearing, sampled after 8 days) grown on *A. obliquus* without C₂₀-PUFA supplementation; asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} (d⁻¹), asymptotic clutch size $eggs_{\infty}$ (Ind⁻¹); half-saturation constant K_s (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹) for the EPA- and ARA-limited growth and reproduction of the two *Daphnia* species; PUFA threshold concentration $S_{75\%}$ (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹) for growth and reproduction saturation levels $g_{75\%}$ and $eggs_{75\%}$ (corresponding to reduction of g_{∞} and $eggs_{\infty}$ by 25% relative to the baseline g_0 and $eggs_{\infty}$, respectively). g_0 and $eggs_0$ were calculated prior to curve fitting (mean growth rate and clutch size of *D. pulex* (*n*=3) and *D. magna* (*n*=2) while g_{∞} , $eggs_{\infty}$, K_s , $S_{75\%}$ (for both growth and reproduction) and the corresponding adjusted R^2 were derived from saturation curves based on modified Monod functions (nonlinear least-square fits, Eq. 3). Total *n* refers to the total number of data points used to fit the saturation curves (10 different tested concentrations of EPA or ARA in triplicates, i.e. max. 30 data points). This data correspond to the plots in Figure 2.1.

Somatic growth					Reproduction					
	Daphnia pulex		x Daphnia magna			Daphni	ıphnia pulex D		Daphnia magna	
	ARA	EPA	ARA	EPA		ARA	EPA	ARA	EPA	
Total n	30	30	27	27	Total <i>n</i>	30	30	27	27	
$g_{0}(d^{-1})$	0.370	0.370	0.391	0.391	$eggs_0$ (Ind ⁻¹)	4.556	4.556	9.250	9.250	
g_{∞} (d ⁻¹)	0.401	0.407	0.449	0.461	$eggs_{\infty}$ (Ind ⁻¹)	6.442	6.456	14.284	13.791	
Ks (μg mg POC ⁻¹)	0.875	4.617	0.743	1.394	Ks (μg mg POC ⁻¹)	0.044	0.380	0.187	0.490	
S75% for g75% (μg mg POC ⁻¹)	2.625	13.850	2.230	4.183	S75% for <i>eggs</i> 75% (µg mg POC ⁻¹)	0.131	1.141	0.561	1.471	
Adjusted R ²	0.221	0.187	0.475	0.583	Adjusted R ²	0.210	0.212	0.332	0.218	

Chapter 2

Tab. 2.2: (a) Somatic growth rate g_0 (d⁻¹) for *D. pulex* (egg-bearing, sampled after 7 days) and *D. magna* (egg-bearing, sampled after 8 days) grown on *A. obliquus* without C₂₀-PUFA supplementation; asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} (d⁻¹), half saturation constant K_s (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹) and PUFA threshold concentration $S_{75\%}$ for growth saturation level $g_{75\%}$ (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹) for the EPA- and ARA-limited growth of the two *Daphnia* species. Growth saturation level $g_{75\%}$ corresponds to a reduction of g_{∞} by 25% relative to the baseline g_0 . (b) Clutch size (*eggs*₀, Ind⁻¹) for *D. pulex* and *D. magna* grown on *A. obliquus* without C₂₀-PUFA supplementation; asymptotic clutch size (*eggs*_∞, Ind⁻¹), half saturation constant K_s (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹) and PUFA threshold concentration $S_{75\%}$ for reproduction saturation level *eggs*_{75\%} (in µg mg POC⁻¹) for the EPA- and ARA-limited reproduction of the two *Daphnia* species. Reproduction saturation level *eggs*_{75\%} (in µg mg POC⁻¹) for the EPA- and ARA-limited reproduction of the two *Daphnia* species. Reproduction saturation level *eggs*_{75\%} corresponds to a reduction of *eggs*₀ by 25% relative to the baseline *eggs*₀. *g*₀ and *eggs*₀ were calculated prior to curve fitting (mean growth rate and number of eggs of *D. pulex* (*n*=3) and *D. magna* (*n*=2) and used as fixed initial points of the saturation curves during the bootstrapping procedure. *g*_∞, *eggs*_∞, *K*_s, *S*_{75\%} (for both growth and reproduction) and the corresponding adjusted *R*² were derived from nonlinear least-square fits through bootstrapped growth rate and reproduction level > 0 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹ was left out during the bootstrapping procedure), while *N* refers to the total number of saturation curves fitted after bootstrapping and data cleaning (see Methods). This data corresponds to the plots in Figure 2.2.

(see Table on the next page)

((a)	Soi	natic	growth
	· ,			0 -

		Daphnia pulex		Daphnic	a magna
		ARA	EPA	ARA	EPA
n		21	21	18	18
Ν		997	974	1000	1000
$g_0\left(d^{\text{-}1} ight)$		0.370	0.370	0.391	0.391
	Median	0.401	0.412	0.449	0.460
<i>g</i> ∞(d ⁻¹)	Mean ± 1 SD	0.402 ± 0.007	0.409 ± 0.012	0.450 ± 0.006	0.461 ± 0.009
Ks	Median	0.847	5.070	0.784	1.410
(μg PUFA mg POC ⁻¹)	Mean ± 1 SD	1.050 ± 0.784	5.170 ± 2.72	0.852 ± 0.398	1.470 ± 0.525
<i>S</i> 75% for <i>g</i> 75%	Median	2.541	15.225	2.353	4.229
(μg PUFA mg POC ⁻¹)	Mean ± 1 SD	3.156 ± 2.352	15.497 ± 8.150	2.556 ± 1.195	4.418 ± 1.576
	Median	0.265	0.222	0.529	0.578
Adjusted K ²	Mean ± 1 SD	0.280 ± 0.077	0.221 ± 0.046	0.531 ± 0.048	0.604 ± 0.074

(b) Reproduction

		Daphnia pulex		Daphnic	a magna
		ARA	EPA	ARA	EPA
n		21	21	18	18
Ν		778	984	779	816
eggs ₀ (Ind ⁻¹)		4.556	4.556	9.250	9.250
<i>eggs</i> ∞ (Ind ⁻¹)	Median Mean ± 1 SD	6.498 6.510 ± 0.154	6.461 6.510 ± 0.271	14.399 14.400 ± 0.419	14.073 14.200 ± 0.980
Ks (µg PUFA mg POC ⁻¹)	Median Mean ± 1 SD	0.061 0.071 ± 0.050	0.407 0.469 ± 0.317	0.233 0.274 ± 0.221	0.676 0.823 ± 0.675
S _{75%} for <i>eggs</i> _{75%} (μg PUFA mg POC ⁻¹)	Median Mean ± 1 SD	0.182 0.213 ± 0.149	1.220 1.410 ± 0.952	0.698 0.821 ± 0.664	2.028 2.470 ± 2.020
Adjusted R ²	Median Mean ± 1 SD	0.283 0.293 ± 0.063	0.243 0.275 ± 0.080	0.428 0.435 ± 0.065	0.294 0.304 ± 0.077

Tab. 2.3: Results from two-way ANOVAs: We tested the effect of factors *PUFA* (EPA vs. ARA), *Species* (*D. pulex* vs. *D. magna*) and their interaction *PUFA* × *Species* on the estimated parameters asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} (d⁻¹; Fig. 2.2a), *S*_{75%} for growth saturation level $g_{75\%}$ (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹; Fig. 2.2b), asymptotic clutch size $eggs_{\infty}$ (Ind⁻¹; Fig. 2.2c) and *S*_{75%} for reproduction saturation level $eggs_{75\%}$ (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹; Fig. 2.2d) derived from nonlinear least-square fits through bootstrapped growth rate and reproduction data (see Methods). In total, 400 trials of two-way ANOVA were performed for each estimated parameter comparing randomly chosen bootstrapped data (*n*=3 per group, in total 12 data points). The *p*-values given in the table correspond to a critical *p*-value which holds for a statistical power of 0.8 (equivalent to a type II error of 0.2).

	Parameter Factors		р
		PUFA	0.298
	<i>g</i> ∞ (d-1)	Species	< 0.001
Somatic growth		PUFA imes Species	0.809
-		PUFA	0.096
	S75% for g 75%	Species	0.137
		PUFA imes Species	0.230
		5	• • • •
	eaas	PUFA	0.754
	(Ind ⁻¹)	Species	< 0.001
		PUFA imes Species	0.766
Reproduction			
		PUFA	0.152
	S75% for <i>eggs</i> 75% (µg PUFA mg POC ⁻¹)	Species	0.528
		PUFA imes Species	0.805

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1. C20-PUFA-limited fitness of D. magna

In the present study, we show that the dietary availability of both ω 3-PUFA (EPA) and ω 6-PUFA (ARA) limits the fitness (i.e. both the juvenile somatic growth and reproduction rates) of two different Daphnia species. The results obtained from doseresponse growth experiments with the large-bodied *D. magna* fed on a green alga supplemented with the ω 3-PUFA EPA are in line with previous findings. The estimated threshold concentration S_{75%} for the 75% saturation level (i.e. reduction of asymptotic growth rate by 25%) of the EPA-limited growth of *D. magna* in our study (4.418 ± 1.576) μ g EPA mg POC⁻¹ after bootstrapping procedure; mean ± 1 SD) was in the range of previously published 75% growth saturation thresholds for this species found at the same temperature (20°C), e.g. 0.7 µg EPA mg POC⁻¹ (Sperfeld and Wacker, 2011) and 5.83 – 7.33 μg EPA mg POC⁻¹ (Sikora et al., 2016). Furthermore, we observed an increase in the somatic growth rate of *D. magna* when ARA was supplied. This is in line with the results from Schlotz et al. (2014), who observed higher growth rates of *D. magna* fed with an ARA-enriched food mixture of A. obliquus and S. elongatus compared to a C20-PUFA-free diet. Becker and Boersma (2005) also observed an increase in somatic growth of D. magna when ARA was supplemented to P-sufficient A. obliquus and provided an ARA threshold (lowest ARA concentration at which the growth of *D. magna* was not limited) of only 0.06 mg per g dry mass which corresponds to approx. 0.136 µg ARA mg POC⁻¹ when a conversion factor of dry mass to carbon of 0.44 is used (Becker and Boersma, 2005, 2010). While Becker and Boersma (2005) found similarly low EPA thresholds (0.02 and 0.25 µg of EPA mg⁻¹ dry mass, corresponding to 0.05 and 0.57 µg EPA mg POC⁻¹, respectively), their approach and findings were strongly criticized by Brett (2010) and thus may need to be interpreted with caution. We here report for the first time reasonable ARA saturation thresholds for the growth of *D. magna*. Furthermore, contrary to expectations, our data show that equal (not statistically different) amounts of EPA and ARA are required to allow for saturated (i.e. unlimited) growth of *D. magna*. At saturating concentrations, EPA and ARA seem to be equally utilized by *D. magna*, which results in similar asymptotic growth rates.

2.4.2 C20-PUFA-limited fitness of D. pulex

Our data suggest that also the growth of *D. pulex* is limited by both dietary EPA and ARA availability. The estimated 75% threshold concentration S_{75%} for EPA-limited growth of *D. pulex* (2.625 μ g EPA mg POC⁻¹ estimated from the raw data and 3.156 ± 2.352 μ g EPA mg POC⁻¹ after bootstrapping procedure) was almost 10-times higher than the previously reported EPA-threshold (0.3 \pm 0.3 µg EPA mg POC⁻¹) for the 90% growth saturation (i.e. concentration at which the growth rate is reduced by 10%) for this species grown on the same food organism (Ravet et al., 2012). The estimated EPAthreshold concentration for the 75% reproduction saturation level, however, was in the range of EPA-thresholds reported by Ravet et al. (2012) (0.17 \pm 0.06 and 1.5 \pm 0.6 μ g EPA mg POC⁻¹ for the 50% and 90% reproduction saturation level, respectively, compared to 1.141 µg EPA mg POC⁻¹ observed in our study). Although the range of ARA supply $(0.53 - 9.2 \mu g \text{ ARA mg POC}^{-1})$ was similar to the one used in our study, Ravet et al. (2012) didn't find any effects of ARA availability on the growth or reproduction of D. pulex. In contrast to these earlier findings, we observed similar patterns in the somatic growth rate and clutch size of *D. pulex* when grown on either ARA- or EPAsupplemented A. obliquus.

To our knowledge, the results of our study for the first time demonstrate a limitation in growth of *D. pulex* by the availability of a ω 6-PUFA such as ARA. Additionally, we provide evidence for an equal relevance of both tested PUFA for the fitness of *D. pulex*.

2.4.3 Interspecific variation

Interspecific variation in growth and reproduction saturation thresholds may affect competition between Daphnia species, in particular when essential dietary PUFAs are present in limiting amounts (DeMott, 1989). At such conditions, the species with the lowest growth and reproduction saturation threshold for a particular PUFA is suggested to be superior over other species with higher PUFA requirements (von Elert, 2004; Brzeziński and von Elert, 2007). We expected that the ARA thresholds for saturated growth of the smaller species D. pulex will be lower than those for the large-bodied species *D. magna*. However, we only found significant differences regarding the asymptotic growth rate and reproduction (given as clutch size, i.e. number of eggs per individual) among the two *Daphnia* species, while there were no significant difference between the ARA threshold concentrations for saturated growth and reproduction of the daphnids. Other than expected, the somatic growth rate and reproduction of the two Daphnia species, differing in their body size, were limited similarly by both the ω 3-PUFA EPA and the ω 6-PUFA ARA. This indicates that both ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs are equally relevant for the growth and reproduction of daphnids. This is in contrast to earlier findings of Sikora et al. (2016), who demonstrated that the EPA growth saturation thresholds increase with increasing body size across different Daphnia species. However, we found a significantly higher asymptotic growth rate of *D. magna* compared to *D. pulex* (in both EPA and ARA experimental line), which is in accordance with the positively correlated juvenile growth rate and body size of different *Daphnia* species reported by Sikora et al. (2016). Likewise, we observed a significantly higher clutch size for the larger *D. magna* compared to *D. pulex*.

The saturation threshold approach used in our study to access possible interspecific differences between *D. pulex* and *D. magna* did not reveal significant results. We assume that the effect sizes depending on EPA- and ARA-supplementation were too similar to reveal any differences and therefore suggest to repeat the experiments at colder temperatures, where possible interspecific differences may be more visible (Masclaux et al., 2012; Pajk et al., 2012) due to a higher requirement for highly unsaturated fatty acids to maintain proper membrane fluidity (Hazel, 1995; Valentine and Valentine, 2004). Nevertheless, we do provide evidence for interspecific differences in the response of the two Daphnia species that might be explained exclusively by insufficient amounts of EPA and/or ARA: the growth rate and the clutch size of *D. magna* along the EPA and ARA concentration clearly followed a saturation curve (between 30% and 50% of the variance was explained by the modified Monod model, see Fig. S3), while this was not the case for *D. pulex*. Although the growth rate and clutch size of *D. pulex* increased when EPA or ARA were present, only a small proportion the variance of the two response variables was explained by the fitted saturation curve (20% - 30%, see Fig. S3). It is important to note, however, that our findings are restricted to only one genotype per species. As shown in previous studies, intraspecific differences in response to PUFAdeficiency and in the body content of single ω 3-PUFAs (e.g. EPA) might occur (Brzeziński and von Elert, 2007; Sikora et al., 2016; Werner et al., 2018). It is hence necessary to test more genotypes per *Daphnia* species to draw general conclusions on the strength of the effect of insufficient EPA and ARA availability for the fitness of different Daphnia species.

2.4.4 Intersection points of the saturation curves and potential co-limitation scenarios

The interpretation of the bootstrapped intersection points of the saturation curves derived from the EPA- and ARA-limited growth and reproduction of D. pulex and *D. magna* is limited by the lack of information on intraspecific differences. Nevertheless, we report intersection points of EPA- and ARA-saturation curves with median values between 2.64 and 9.26 µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹ for both growth and reproduction of the daphnids. As we found intersection points of the EPA- and ARA-reproduction curves to be above the estimated EPA- and ARA-saturation thresholds, they are probably of minor importance for competitive interactions. In contrast, the intersection points of EPA- and ARA-growth curves were found to be above the estimated ARA-saturation thresholds for the growth, but below the estimated EPA-thresholds. This might indicate that shifts in the relative relevance of ARA and EPA for the growth of *Daphnia* might occur along the PUFA concentration gradient. Furthermore, the positive fitness response to the addition of both PUFAs provides evidence for a potential independent co-limitation, i.e. simultaneous limitation of growth or reproduction by both tested PUFAs (sensu Sperfeld et al., 2016). Hence, ARA and EPA might serve as substitutable resources in Daphnia's nutrition. However, the extension of this co-limitation scenario necessary to classify EPA and ARA as substitutable or essential resources would require controlled growth experiments with simultaneous supplementation of the diet with both PUFAs along a concentration gradient, i.e. response surface or matrix experiments (Sperfeld et al. 2012, 2016). In nature, this probably plays a minor role, as the ratio of EPA to ARA found in seston is usually higher than 1 (Ahlgren et al., 1997; Müller-Navarra, 2006).

As both ARA and EPA serve as precursors for eicosanoids (Heckmann et al., 2008a, 2008b; Schlotz et al., 2016; Garreta-Lara et al., 2018), they play an important role for *Daphnia*'s reproduction and the immune system (Martin-Creuzburg et al., 2010; Schlotz

et al., 2014; Fink and Windisch, 2018). For example, ARA was shown to improve the survival and reproduction of *D. magna* exposed to an opportunistic bacterial pathogen (Schlotz et al., 2014). However, in vertebrates, ARA- and EPA-derived eicosanoids have partially opposing effects, where their pro- and anti-inflammatory activity, respectively, serves as the best example (Schmitz and Ecker, 2008; Alcock et al., 2012). The possible inhibition of the synthesis of ARA-derived eicosanoids by EPA (Sargent et al., 1999; Schmitz and Ecker, 2008) led to the assumption that the actions of eicosanoids in fish physiology depend on the ratio between EPA and ARA in the tissue (Koussoroplis et al., 2011). Nevertheless, both ARA and EPA were shown to be important for the development and physiology of fish (Sargent et al., 1999; Bell and Sargent, 2003), which in freshwater systems feed on *Daphnia*. Thus, the dietary availability of EPA and ARA in nature might not only influence *Daphnia*'s performance, but it could also affect higher trophic levels in lakes.

2.4.5 Conclusions

Overall, our study provides clear evidence that arachidonic acid, a ω 6-PUFA, limits the fitness of two different *Daphnia* species to an equal extent as the ω 3-PUFA eicosapentaenoic acid. We thus suggest that together with the ω 3-PUFA EPA, ARA availability needs to be considered in further studies on food quality and trophic transfer efficiency within freshwater ecosystems. Finally, shifts in phytoplankton community composition might result in environmental fluctuations in the dietary availability of ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs, as their presence and amount varies among different phytoplankton groups. Therefore, our findings are of particular importance to better predict and understand the consequences of environmental changes and the ongoing global biodiversity loss for the phytoplankton-zooplankton interface.

Chapter 3

Intrapopulation variability in a functional trait: susceptibility of Daphnia to limitation by dietary fatty acids

3.1 Introduction

As discussed in **Chapter 2**, certain ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs are considered essential for Daphnia and have to be derived from the diet. The phytoplankton PUFA-content, however, is found to be taxon-specific and differs strongly between different phytoplankton groups (Ahlgren et al., 1990b; Lang et al., 2011): Cyanobacteria usually lack sterols and polyunsaturated fatty acids (von Elert et al., 2003; Martin-Creuzburg et al., 2005, 2008). Therefore, Cyanobacteria represent a low quality food, while most Chlorophytes contain sterols and are rich in short-chain PUFAs (C₁₈), thus representing a diet of a modest quality for *Daphnia*. Long-chain PUFAs (C₂₀), such as EPA and ARA, are usually found in Cryptophytes, Diatoms and Dinoflagellates (Ahlgren et al., 1990), which often dominate the spring bloom in the lakes, while in the late summer, the phytoplankton community is usually dominated by Cyanobacteria and Chlorophytes (Sommer et al., 1986). Thus, seasonal and annual fluctuations in availability of essential dietary ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs can occur, resulting in seasonal changes in food quality of the phytoplankton for *Daphnia* (Müller-Navarra and Lampert, 1996; Ahlgren et al., 1997; Wacker and von Elert, 2001). Such environmental heterogeneity mediated by seasonal fluctuations in food quality is assumed to contribute to the maintenance of genetic variation within natural populations and to promote seasonal succession of different Daphnia genotypes due to natural selection based on trait-variation (DeMott, 1983; Hu and Tessier, 1995; Brzeziński and von Elert, 2007).

Based on these observations, we here hypothesized that there is considerable intraspecific variability in susceptibility of coexisting genotypes within a natural *Daphnia* population to the availability of essential dietary PUFAs.

To test our hypothesis, we first isolated clones from a natural *Daphnia longispina* population of the oligo-mesotrophic lake Klostersee (see **Chapter 1**) and assessed the different genotypes present via microsatellites. Using laboratory growth experiments, we estimated the juvenile somatic growth rate of the daphnids as a proxy for the fitness (Lampert and Trubetskova, 1996; Wacker and von Elert, 2001) of each of the isolated genotypes in the presence and absence of ω 3- or ω 6-PUFAs (ALA/EPA and ARA, respectively). Additionally, we estimated the susceptibility of each of the genotypes to the availability of tested PUFAs (Brzeziński and von Elert, 2007). To our knowledge, this is the first study that addresses the intraspecific susceptibility of coexisting genotypes from a natural *Daphnia* population to the availability of several essential dietary PUFA, a probable basis for intraspecific competition for essential resources.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Daphnia population

In September 2014, a natural *Daphnia longispina* population was sampled with a 200 µm plankton net from the oligo-mesotrophic lake Klostersee (see **Chapter 1**). Subsequently, the *D. longispina* clones were cultivated in clonal lines in a climate chamber at 20 °C and a16:8h light:dark cycle in aged, aerated and sterile-filtered (0.45 µm) tap-water under non-limiting food conditions (2 mg particulate organic carbon (POC) L⁻¹, fed every other day). To ensure that even the most sensitive clones (i.e. the most susceptible to PUFA limitation that are of particular interest here) would survive the acclimation to laboratory conditions, we fed the animals with a 2:1 mixture of Chlamydomonas klinobasis (strain 56, culture collection of the Limnological Institute at the University of Konstanz, Germany) and Cryptomonas sp. (strain SAG 26.80, Culture Collection Göttingen, Germany). The cryptophyte Cryptomonas sp. contains various short- and long-chain ω 3-PUFAs, including EPA (Ahlgren et al., 1990b; Windisch and Fink, 2018) and is thus considered to be of particularly high food quality for *Daphnia* sp. The green alga C. klinobasis was cultured in Cyano medium (von Elert and Jüttner, 1997) with vitamins (0.3 µmol L⁻¹ thiamine hydrochloride, 0.002 µmol L⁻¹ biotin and 0.004 µmol L⁻¹ cyanocobalamine [vitamin B12]) in semi-continuous (dilution rate 0.1 d^{-1}) 5 L batch cultures at 20 °C and 100 µE s⁻¹ m⁻² PAR. The cryptophyte *Cryptomonas* sp. was cultured at the same conditions, but at a lower light intensity (40 μ E s⁻¹ m⁻² PAR).

3.2.2 Microsatellites

Five polymorphic microsatellite primer pairs (Tab. 3.1) were chosen from Brede et al. (2006) to test for genetic differentiation of the *D. longispina* clones. DNA from

D. longispina was extracted by homogenizing 5 individuals per clone in 31.5 µl ultrapure water, 5 µl 10x PCR buffer (from 5'Prime Tag DNA polymerase PCR kit), 3.5 µl dithiothreitol (1 M DTT, Biochemica, AppliChem, dissolved in 0.08 M sodium acetate, MERCK, pH adjusted to 5.2 by adding HCl) and 5 µl proteinase K (20 mg ml⁻¹, peqlab), resulting in 45 µl of extraction mix. Individuals were homogenized with a Teflon pestle and the homogenate was incubated for 1 h at 56 °C and 300 rpm in a heat block (Thermomixer compact, Eppendorf), followed by 10 min at 96 °C (without further mixing). Subsequently, the homogenate was centrifuged at 12000 x g for 10 min (HERAEUS FRESCO 17 Centrifuge, Thermo Scientific). The supernatant containing the extracted DNA was transferred into 1.5 ml tubes and stored at -20 °C. Polymerase chain reactions (PCR) were performed using the 5'Prime Taq DNA polymerase PCR kit. Each PCR reaction contained 1µl 10x PCR buffer, 0.4mM dNTPs, 0.15 µM of each primer (Sigma Aldrich, fluorescence-labeled forward primers, Tab. 3.1), 2 units Taq-Polymerase and 1μ of DNA template in a final volume of 10 μ (modified after Kuster et al., 2013). Cycling parameters were 95 °C for 3 min, followed by 35 cycles of 1 min steps at 95°C, 57.5°C (an average annealing temperature for all microsatellite primers, see Table S1) and 72 °C. The PCR program was completed by a final step at 72 °C for 7 min (Brede et al., 2006). The PCR products were diluted 1:70, mixed with the Gene Scan 500 Rox Size Standard (ABI) and electrophoresed on the ABI 48-capillary 3730 DNA Analyzer at the Cologne Center for Genomics. Allele sizes were analyzed with the software Gene-Marker v1.8 (SoftGenetics). The microsatellite analysis of tested polymorphic loci revealed 25 different genotypes within the 35 clones tested from the lake Klostersee D. longispina population, of which twelve were used in this study (Tab. 3.2).

3.2.3 Growth experiments

For the standardized growth assays, precultures of each *D. longispina* genotype were synchronized by feeding them every second day with 2 mg POC L⁻¹ of the green alga Acutodesmus obliguus for at least three generations. Acutodesmus obliguus, which is rich in short-chain PUFAs, especially ALA (18:3 n-3), but does not contain any C20-PUFAs such as ARA (C20:4 n-6) and EPA (C20:5 n-3, Windisch and Fink, 2018), was cultured in Z/4 medium (Zehnder and Gorham, 1960) in semi-continuous (dilution rate 0.1 d⁻¹) 5L batch cultures at 20 °C and 100 µE s⁻¹ m⁻² PAR. Per genotype, three to four growth experiments were conducted over a period of 9 months in total. Juvenile *D. longispina* used in the growth experiments originated from synchronized mothers that carried the fourth clutch of parthenogenetic offspring. Neonates (5-10 per jar, within max. 24 hours after release from the mothers' brood pouch) were randomly distributed to jars containing 200 ml aged, aerated and filtered lake water, A. obliquus (2 mg POC L⁻¹) and 64 μl (320 μl L⁻¹) of either PUFA-free (control) liposomes or liposomes containing ALA, EPA or ARA. All treatments were prepared in triplicates which resulted in a total of 3 x 4 = 12 jars per experiment and genotype. Liposomes were prepared according to Martin-Creuzburg et al. (2008). The experimental animals were transferred into fresh food + liposome suspensions every second day. At the start of each experiment, a subsample of up to 20 juveniles was taken to determine the dry mass at day 0 (*W*₀). After 6 days, all individuals from each jar were collected, placed in preweighed aluminium boats and dried at 60°C for at least 24 h. Subsequently, the dried daphnids were weighted to determine the dry mass after 6 days (W_t) which was used to calculate the somatic growth rate q (day⁻¹) given as (Eq. 2, see **Chapter 2**):

$$g = \frac{\ln(W_t) - \ln(W_0)}{t}$$

where W_t is the dry mass at the end of the experiment, W_0 is the dry mass at the beginning of the experiment and t is the duration of the experiment (6 days). Somatic growth rate g has been shown to be a good proxy for the fitness of *Daphnia* (Lampert and Trubetskova, 1996).

Susceptibility *S* (%) was calculated as the difference between the somatic growth rate (d⁻¹) of the *D. longispina* juveniles fed with *A. obliquus* supplemented with PUFA-free liposomes g_{C} and the somatic growth rate of juveniles fed with *A. obliquus* supplemented with one of the three PUFAs g_{PUFA} , divided by the PUFA-free somatic growth rate (Eq. 4, Brzeziński and von Elert, 2007):

$$S = \frac{g_{\rm C} - g_{\rm PUFA}}{g_{\rm C}} \ge 100$$

Thus, susceptibility describes the reduction in fitness (i.e. somatic growth rate) of *Daphnia* juveniles when fed on PUFA-free diet compared to PUFA-supplemented diet. If *Daphnia* juveniles are limited in their growth by PUFA availability, i.e. show higher somatic growth rate in presence of PUFAs compared to the PUFA-free diet, the value of the susceptibility *S* will be negative. Thus, the higher the absolute value of *S* (in other words: the more negative the *S* value), the greater the susceptibility of the *Daphnia* juveniles to the absence of the respective PUFA.

3.2.4 Data analysis and statistics

Statistical analyses and visual representation of the data were performed with R (version 3.3.2, R Core Team, 2016) and RStudio (version 1.1.383, RStudio Team, 2016). To test the effect of PUFA availability and genotype on somatic growth rate *g* and susceptibility *S*, we fitted and validated linear mixed-effects models following Zuur et al.

(2009, Chapters 4 and 5) with fixed effects PUFA and Genotype and their interaction (*PUFA* \times *Genotype*). As a random effect, we used the variable Day, describing the day at which every individual growth experiment was started (24 starting dates in a period of 9 months during the year 2017). Note that the fixed factor PUFA contained four (PUFAfree, ALA, EPA and ERA) and three levels (ALA, EPA and ARA) when testing the effect of PUFA availability on the somatic growth rate and susceptibility, respectively. Normal distribution of residuals was checked with Shapiro-Wilk's test, while the homogeneity of variances was tested with Levene's test. Because of the heterogeneity of variances for somatic growth rate ($g \sim PUFA$: p < 0.05; $g \sim Genotype$: p < 0.001; $g \sim PUFA \times Genotype$: p < 0.001), variance structure was changed as suggested by Zuur et al. (2009) using the function *varIdent()* from the package "nlme" (version 3.2.128, Pinheiro and Bates, 2000; Pinheiro et al., 2016), which allows for different variances per stratum. The variance structure was changed for PUFA, Genotype and their interaction and was used in different models (summary of the models and their validation can be seen in Tab. 3.3). For susceptibility, the variances were homogeneous for PUFA (P = 0.88) and PUFA \times *Genotype* (p = 0.15), but not for *Genotype* only (p < 0.001). For this reason, we changed the variance structure for *Genotype*, but also for *PUFA* and *PUFA* \times *Genotype* and tested all three variance structures in a set of linear mixed-effects models (Tab. 3.3). All models were fitted using the function *lme()* from the package "nlme". To validate the models, residuals were plotted against fitted values and strata. Final model selection was decided using Aikaike Information Criterion (AIC). For both somatic growth rate and susceptibility, the model with changed variance structure for the interaction PUFA imes*Genotype* had the lowest AIC value (Tab. 3.3) and was used as the final model. Residuals from the final model for *g* were not normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk's test, p < 0.001), however, due to a large sample size (n = 489), the deviation from the normal (Gaussian) distribution can be ignored (Underwood, 1997). Residuals from the final model for susceptibility (n = 368) followed a Gaussian distribution (Shapiro-Wilk's test, p = 0.054). The significance of the fixed effects was tested with the function *anova()*. Differences between the groups were tested with Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test ($\alpha < 0.05$) using the *lsmeans()* function from the package "lsmeans" (version 2.24). Additionally, paired t-tests were performed between the somatic growth rate of the daphnids fed supplemented food and the respective controls. Finally, one-sample t-tests against zero (μ =0, Mcdonald, 2009) were performed for the susceptibility of the different genotypes. When p < 0.05, the tested genotype was considered "susceptible" to the availability of the respective PUFA.

Tab. 3.1: Locus name, repeat motif, forward (F) and reverse (R) primer sequences, dye (label) used for the forward primer and annealing temperature (T_a) of five microsatellite loci (from Brede et al., 2006) used for the genotyping of the *Daphnia longispina* population from the Lake Klostersee.

Locus	Repeat	Primer sequences [5' - 3']	Dye	<i>Ta</i> [°C]
0	(GA) ₁₃	F: ACTATGCATAACACAGACACACG	EAM	61
SWID2		R: GAAGTACGGCAAGGAGCAAC	ГАМ	
SwiD8	(TG)4(TG)13	F: GATATTCTCTTGGACTGCGTTTG	UEV	56
		R: GATATGACAAGCCGACGTCA	ПЕХ	
0.1040	(TG)19	F: TGTAGATATCAGCCAGCAGCTC	UEV	60
SWIDTO		R: AAGGTTATTCTCTCCGCTCGTC	ПЕХ	
SwiD11	(GT) ₂₀	F: ACTCGACAAACTTGGAGAGGTC	EAM	
		R: GGGGTGGCTATAGATAGACTGG	ГАМ	57
SwiD16	(CA)	F: CATCGACAATGTACGGTGGGAG	UEV	57
	(LA)15	R: GGCTGGTGGTGGTCCAGTGGTT	ПЕЛ	57

Loci	SwiD5	SwiD8	SwiD10	SwiD11	SwiD16			
Genotype	Fragment size (bp)							
KL3	124	121	185/190	158/173	170			
KL8	124	121	185/194	147/173	181			
KL11	124	NA	185/190	158/160	170/181			
KL13	124	121/130	185	158/173	172			
KL14	132/134	121	185/190	158/160	170/172			
KL50	124/132	121	177/185	158/173	170			
KL53	132	121	175/190	160/173	172			
KL54	123/132	121	175/190	158/160	169			
KL73	124/132	121	178/185	158	171			
KL82	132	121	175/185	158/160	169/181			
KL83	124/132	121	177/185	158	169			
KL93	NA	121	175/184	158/173	170/172			

Tab. 3.2: Genotypes of the *Daphnia longispina* population from the Lake Klostersee used in the study. Fragment sizes (bp) of different loci were obtained via microsatellite analysis using microsatellite markers from (Brede et al., 2006). NA: no amplicon obtained.

Tab. 3.3: Summary of linear mixed-effects models describing somatic growth rate and susceptibility. The models were fitted with the function *lme()* from the R-package "*nlme*". In all models, fixed effect was specified as *PUFA*Genotype*, which includes effects of both main factors *PUFA* and *Genotype* and their interaction *PUFA* × *Genotype*, while random effect was set to ~1/Day. Variance structure (Weights) was specified as suggested by Zuur et al. (2009), allowing for different variances per stratum by using the function *varIdent()*. Final model selection was decided using Aikaike Information Criterion (AIC). The model with the lowest AIC (in bold) was chosen for further statistical analysis.

Response variable Weights		AIC
Somatic growth rate		
Model.null	not specified (NULL)	-1761.273
Model.1	varIdent(form= $\sim 1 \mid PUFA$)	-1787.238
Model.2	varIdent(form= ~ 1 <i>Genotype</i>)	-1784.124
Model.3	varIdent(form= ~ 1 <i>PUFA*Genotype</i>)	-1820.653

Susceptibility

Model.3	varIdent(form= ~ 1 <i>PUFA*Genotype</i>)	2363.175
Model.2	varIdent(form= $\sim 1 \mid Genotype$)	2370.820
Model.1	varIdent(form= ~ 1 <i>PUFA</i>)	2402.441
Model.null	not specified (NULL)	2403.447

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Somatic growth rate g

We found intraspecific differences in the somatic growth rate g of the different genotypes within the *Daphnia longispina* population ($F_{11, 418} = 49.13$, p < 0.001, Fig. 3.1 and Tab. 3.4). Additionally, the linear mixed-effects model revealed significant effect of the fixed factor *PUFA* ($F_{3,418} = 98.87$, p < 0.001) on the somatic growth rate g of *D. longispina* juveniles as well as a significant interaction between the two factors *PUFA* and *Genotype* ($F_{33,418} = 1.54$, p = 0.0313).

The average somatic growth rate g (± 1 SD) of *D. longispina* juveniles significantly increased when the daphnids were fed *A. obliquus* supplemented with liposomes containing any of the three PUFAs compared to daphnids raised in the PUFA-free (control, C) treatment ($g_c = 0.30 \pm 0.03 d^{-1}$, Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test following LME, p < 0.001 for all pairwise comparisons between the PUFA-free control treatment and PUFA-supplemented treatments). Interestingly, we observed the highest average somatic growth rate g of the *D. longispina* subpopulation when *A. obliquus* was supplemented with the ω 6-PUFA arachidonic acid ($g_{ARA} = 0.35 \pm 0.02 d^{-1}$), which significantly differed from the somatic growth rate observed when *A. obliquus* was supplemented with liposomes containing ω 3-PUFAs (Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test following LME, p < 0.001). The effect on the somatic growth rate did not differ between the two ω 3-PUFAs, ALA and EPA (both g_{ALA} and $g_{EPA} = 0.33 \pm 0.03 d^{-1}$; Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test following LME, P = 0.996).

Daphnia juveniles of the genotype KL93 showed the lowest average somatic growth rate (± 1 SD), independent of the supplementation ($g_{\rm C} = 0.27 \pm 0.03 \, \text{d}^{-1}$; $g_{\rm ALA} = 0.28 \pm 0.04 \, \text{d}^{-1}$, $g_{\rm EPA} = 0.29 \pm 0.04 \, \text{d}^{-1}$, $g_{\rm ARA} = 0.30 \pm 0.05 \, \text{d}^{-1}$), while the highest average somatic growth

rate was observed for KL83 ($g_c = 0.35 \pm 0.03 \text{ d}^{-1}$; $g_{ALA} = 0.38 \pm 0.02 \text{ d}^{-1}$, $g_{EPA} = 0.38 \pm 0.01 \text{ d}^{-1}$, $g_{ARA} = 0.38 \pm 0.00 \text{ d}^{-1}$). When ALA was supplemented to the diet, somatic growth rates were higher for three genotypes (compared to the daphnids of the same genotypes fed an unsupplemented diet), while in presence of EPA, the somatic growth rate of only one genotype significantly exceeded the growth of the respective controls. Four genotypes grew faster on an ARA-supplemented diet compared to a PUFA-free diet (t-test, p < 0.05).



Fig. 3.1: Mean juvenile somatic growth rates (day⁻¹, \pm 1SD) of *Daphnia longispina* fed the green alga *Acutodesmus obliquus* supplemented with either PUFA-free (control) liposomes or liposomes containing the PUFAs α -linolenic acid (ALA, C18:3 ω 3), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5 ω 3) or arachidonic acid (ARA, C20:4 ω 6). White circles represent the mean somatic growth rate of the sampled subpopulation (*n* = 12), while the colored circles represent mean somatic growth rates for each genotype (*n* = 3 or 4). Different letters indicate heterogeneous groups following Tukey's HSD *post hoc* tests at *p* < 0.05.

3.3.2 Susceptibility S

Similar to the somatic growth rate, the susceptibility to limitations by PUFA availability showed marked variation within the *D. longispina* population (LME, fixed factor *Genotype*: $F_{11,309} = 12.91$, p < 0.001, Fig. 3.2 and Tab. 3.4). Furthermore, we found significant effects of the fixed factor *PUFA* ($F_{2,309} = 50.07$, p < 0.001) on the susceptibility of *D. longispina* juveniles as well as a significant interaction between the two factors *PUFA* and *Genotype* ($F_{22,309} = 1.69$, p = 0.0284).

We did not find a significant difference in the average susceptibility (± 1 SD) of *D. longispina* juveniles to limitations by the availability of the ω 3-PUFAs ALA ($S_{ALA} = -7.66 \pm 4.00$ %) and EPA ($S_{EPA} = -8.13 \pm 3.51$ %, Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test, *p* = 0.861). However, compared to the two ω 3-PUFAs, *D. longispina* population showed a significantly higher average susceptibility (i.e. more negative values) to limitations by the availability of the ω 6-PUFA ARA ($S_{ARA} = -12.92 \pm 4.07$ %, Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test, *p* < 0.001).

The most susceptible *D. longispina* genotypes to the availability of the ω 3-PUFAs ALA and EPA were KL50 (*S*_{ALA}= -15.06 ± 18.75 %) and KL73 (*S*_{EPA} = -15.76 ± 12.62 %), respectively, while the least susceptible genotype was KL13 (*S*_{ALA} = -0.45 ± 5.13 % and *S*_{EPA} = -2.77 ± 3.87 %). The strongest susceptibility to the availability of ARA was observed for the genotype KL50 (*S*_{ARA} = -20.47 ± 14.78 %), while the weakest susceptibility was found for KL83 (*S*_{ARA} = -6.99 ± 7.30 %). Two out of 12 genotypes were found to be susceptible to the absence of ALA, four out of 12 were susceptible to ARA absence while none of the genotypes was shown to be susceptible to the absence of EPA (t-test, genotype was considered "susceptible" when *p* < 0.05).



Fig. 3.2: Susceptibility (%, ± 1SD) of *Daphnia longispina* juveniles fed the green alga *Acutodesmus obliquus* supplemented with liposomes containing either of the PUFAs α -linolenic acid (ALA, C18:3 ω 3), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5 ω 3) or arachidonic acid (ARA, C20:4 ω 6). White circles represent the mean susceptibility of the sampled subpopulation (n = 12), while the colored circles represent mean susceptibility of each genotype (n = 3 or 4). Different letters indicate heterogeneous groups following Tukey's HSD *post hoc* tests at p < 0.05.

Tab. 3.4: Results from linear mixed-effects models showing effects of fixed factors *PUFA*, *Genotype* and their interaction on the somatic growth rate and susceptibility of *Daphnia longispina* population. For both models, *Day* (given as the day at which every individual growth experiment was started in a period of 9 months; number of levels = 24) was used as a random effect.

.

Response variable	Fixed effect	df	F	р
	PUFA	3, 418	98.87	< 0.001
Somatic growth rate	Genotype	11, 418	49.13	< 0.001
	PUFA $ imes$ Genotype	33, 418	1.54	0.0313
	PUFA	2, 309	50.07	< 0.001
Susceptibility	Genotype	11, 309	12.91	< 0.001
	PUFA $ imes$ Genotype	22, 309	1.69	0.0284

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Intrapopulation variability

We found strong evidence for marked intrapopulation variability in susceptibility to the availability of essential dietary PUFAs within a natural population of *Daphnia longispina*. Trait-variation within and among *Daphnia* species and its role for population dynamics has been frequently addressed, usually in predator-prey (e.g. predator-mediated lifehistory changes of prey), host-parasite (survival and fecundity) or producer-consumer (food quality and sensitivity to toxicity) systems: Boersma et al. (1998) found intraspecific variation in various traits among four *Daphnia magna* populations in the presence of fish kairomones (simulation of predator presence). Similarly, in the presence/absence of fish kairomones, Daphnia hyalina \times galeata hybrid clones displayed differences in numerous life-history traits, such as size or age at maturity and habitat use (De Meester and Weider, 1999). Several studies reported clonal variation of Daphnia in their sensitivity to the toxic cyanobacterium Microcystis sp. (Hietala et al., 1997; Chislock et al., 2013). Studying the host-parasite system with Daphnia dentifera and the virulent yeast pathogen Metschnikowia bicuspidate, Duffy and Sivars-Becker (2007) found highly significant variation in the susceptibility of different *Daphnia* clones and populations to parasite infection. Recently, Werner et al. (2018) reported intraspecific variation in heat tolerance within a natural *Daphnia magna* population. Furthermore, Daphnia showed interclonal variation in their response to varying food quality, both in terms of nutrient stoichiometry (Weider et al., 2005) and dietary fatty acid availability, in particular to the dietary availability of EPA (Brzeziński and von Elert, 2007; Brzeziński et al., 2010). Additionally, Sikora et al. (2016) found interspecific variation in somatic growth rates and growth saturation thresholds (saturating EPA- concentration) between different species of the genus *Daphnia*, depending on the body size of the respective species within the genus Daphnia. However, most previous studies used clones with spatial (habitat) and temporal (time point of isolation) differences in their origin. We specifically addressed trait-variation in a natural *Daphnia* community of coexisting genotypes from the same lake, and thus with a shared evolutionary history. Notwithstanding this, we could confirm a general limitation of daphnids' fitness by the absence of EPA in their diet, as previously reported in numerous studies (Müller-Navarra, 1995b; von Elert, 2002; Becker and Boersma, 2003). Furthermore, our results are in line with findings from Wacker and von Elert (2001), who showed that sestonic ALA content is a good predictor of the somatic growth of *D. galeata*, a closely related member of the *D. longispina* species complex. Additionally, Wacker and von Elert (2001) suggested that the ratio of ALA and EPA present in the diet determines which of these two ω 3-PUFAs is limiting the daphnids' fitness. In his study, von Elert (2002) suggested that *D. galeata* is capable to convert ALA into EPA. Therefore, one might argue that the increase in somatic growth rate of D. longispina fed on ALA-supplemented diet is a result of elevated availability of EPA due to the bioconversion of ALA into EPA. However, it is not yet clear, whether all *Daphnia* species are capable of a bioconversion of ALA into EPA or if this capability is species-specific. Nevertheless, the conversion rate is assumed to be very low (von Elert, 2002; Taipale et al., 2011) so that it is unlikely that Daphnia can produce EPA in amounts that are not limiting their growth. Although the availability of EPA was strongly emphasized in previous studies as the PUFA that limits the fitness of Daphnia (von Elert, 2002; Martin-Creuzburg et al., 2010; Sperfeld and Wacker, 2011), in our study, the reduction in *Daphnia* genotypes' fitness was even more pronounced when the ω 6-PUFA ARA was absent. This corroborates our related findings that ARA is limiting the fitness of two *Daphnia* species to a similar extent as the ω 3-PUFA EPA (see

Chapter 2). The even stronger effect of the absence of ARA on the fitness of *D. longispina* in the present study might be due to adaptations of the local *D. longispina* population of the lake Klostersee to the availability of ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs.

3.4.2 Susceptibility to limitations by PUFA availability - a functional trait affecting population dynamics in natural Daphnia populations?

Natural selection acts on traits through performance in terms of growth, survival and reproductive success of organisms and is often driven by competition for limiting resources (Ghalambor et al., 2007; Boyden et al., 2008; Bolnick et al., 2011). Trait variation, caused by within population genetic variation, is therefore necessary to allow for selection and thus for adaptation of a population to changing environmental conditions (McGill et al., 2006; Violle et al., 2007; Violle and Jiang, 2009). Such environmental variables could e.g. be temporally and spatially variable predation pressure or resource availability. Local adaptation is thus expected to be driven by selection for beneficial alleles. In our particular case, less susceptible clones are less affected by the absence and low availability of essential dietary PUFAs and are therefore assumed to have a higher chance of survival and persistence when PUFA availability in the diet becomes limiting. Therefore, at low food quality (in terms of availability of essential dietary PUFAs), we expect to find changes in clonal composition within the natural Daphnia population, where the frequencies of less susceptible clones are expected to increase in comparison to strongly susceptible genotypes (scenario 1). On the other hand, given a temporal environmental heterogeneity which includes periods of intermediate to high food quality and no too rapid resource fluctuations, the observed intraspecific trait-variation is assumed to be the basis for the maintenance of the genotypic variation and thus promote coexistence of different genotypes within the

D. longispina population (scenario 2, Brzeziński and von Elert, 2007; Kremer and Klausmeier, 2013). Nevertheless, we suggest that susceptibility to limitations by the availability of essential dietary PUFAs is one of the functional traits that might affect the outcome of the intraspecific competition within natural *Daphnia* populations, thus affecting the trophic interactions and eco-evolutionary dynamics within freshwater ecosystems.

3.4.3 Conclusions

We here demonstrate significant intrapopulation variation in a functional trait, i.e. susceptibility to limitations by dietary fatty acid availability among coexisting genotypes of a natural *Daphnia longispina* population. While the absence of the two ω 3-PUFAs ALA and EPA affected the fitness of different *D. longispina* genotypes to a similar extent, we show the ω 6-PUFA ARA to be the most limiting PUFA for the investigated *D. longispina* population. We suggest that such intrapopulation differences in susceptibility to absence of dietary PUFAs might not only contribute to the maintenance of the genetic variation within natural animal populations, but may also affect the outcome of intraspecific competition and thus be the driving force of natural selection and local adaptation in many ecosystems. Guided by these hypotheses, we address the role of susceptibility to limitations by PUFA availability for the intraspecific competition of naturally coexisting *D. longispina* genotypes within a common garden experiment in **Chapter 4**.
Chapter 4

Effects of phytoplankton diversity on intraspecific competition in *Daphnia* – The role of essential dietary fatty acids

4.1 Introduction

In freshwater ecosystems, trophic transfer efficiency between phytoplankton and zooplankton is mainly determined by the dietary quality of the phytoplankton, which depends on several factors, such as stoichiometry of elements C, N and P (Sterner et al., 1993; Urabe et al., 1997) and the biochemical composition in terms of fatty acids and sterols (Müller-Navarra, 1995b; Wacker and von Elert, 2001; Martin-Creuzburg et al., 2005), as previously discussed. In particular the sestonic content of dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) was found to be crucial for the fitness of the herbivorous grazer *Daphnia*, which is not capable of *de novo* synthesis of such PUFAs (Stanley-Samuelson et al., 1987; Harrison, 1990; Leonard et al., 2004). However, the fatty acid composition of seston was shown to be taxon-specific (Ahlgren et al., 1990a; Lang et al., 2011). Therefore, biodiversity loss on the producer level might decrease its food quality and in turn have cascading effects on multiple trophic levels and affect eco-evolutionary dynamics on population, community or ecosystem level.

In this Chapter, methods and findings from previous Chapters are combined to study the effects of phytoplankton diversity (in terms of food quality) on the intraspecific competition between naturally coexisting *Daphnia longispina* genotypes and to identify phytoplankton and zooplankton functional traits responsible for the observed dynamics. In **Chapter 1**, two different methods used for a fast assessment of phytoplankton community composition are discussed. The obtained results show that the indirect assessment of phytoplankton community composition via HPLC-derived pigment concentrations provides a higher resolution of phytoplankton diversity compared to a method based on fluorescence spectra, as it includes six different classes, while the spectrofluorometric method provides identification of only four different phytoplankton

classes. Furthermore, the spectrofluorometric method seems to strongly underestimate Cyanobacteria compared to the pigment-based method. Therefore, the pigment-based method is used within the present study to determine the phytoplankton community composition (for details, see *Methods and Materials* below). In **Chapter 2**, ω 6-PUFA ARA is shown to limit the fitness (in terms of growth and reproduction) of two different *Daphnia* species in an equal manner as the ω 3-PUFA EPA. Therefore, these two longchain PUFAs, as well as the C₁₈-PUFA ALA, which belongs to the family of ω 3-PUFAs, were included into laboratory growth assays, which are discussed in **Chapter 3**. Via these single clone microcosm experiments, we assessed intrapopulation variability of different coexisting *Daphnia longispina* genotypes in their susceptibility to fitness limitations by the availability of essential dietary PUFAs. Here, susceptibility to PUFA availability is defined as a consumer's functional trait, which is suggested to be of crucial importance for the outcome of competitive interactions within a natural *Daphnia* population.

We hypothesize that (i) biodiversity loss within a natural phytoplankton community results in a decreased diversity of fatty acids, in particular PUFAs. Furthermore, we hypothesize that (ii) the intraspecific competition between naturally coexisting *D. longispina* genotypes is affected by several fatty acids related dietary factors (i.e. phytoplankton functional traits), such as PUFA diversity. In particular, the availability of ω 3-PUFAs ALA, EPA and DHA and the ω 6-PUFA ARA is suggested to affect the outcome of competitive interactions between *D. longispina* genotypes, as these PUFAs were previously shown to limit the fitness of *Daphnia* (von Elert, 2002; **Chapters 2** and **3** of this thesis) or to serve as precursors for other essential PUFAs (e.g. DHA can be bioconverted into EPA; (von Elert, 2002).

These hypotheses were addressed within an outdoor common garden experiment. Such common garden experiments are often performed to study local adaptation and ecoevolutionary dynamics on population or community level (Kawecki and Ebert, 2004). They involve direct comparison of the performance of different genotypes under the same environmental conditions (i.e. in the same habitat) and therefore allow for the assessment of natural complexity on a meso- to macro-scale under controlled conditions. Depending on the aim of the experiment, common garden experiments usually include assessment of fitness-related traits, such as growth or reproduction, which are used as measures of performance of different genotypes.

In order to study effects of biodiversity loss on the phytoplankton-zooplankton interface, we aimed to establish a diversity gradient by manipulating a natural phytoplankton community. We determined the food quality of the phytoplankton in terms of stoichiometry and fatty acid composition. Finally, we introduced *D. longispina* genotypes with pronounced differences in their susceptibility to limitations by PUFA availability and assessed the *Daphnia* community composition in the further course of the experiment (10 weeks) via microsatellite analyses.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Study organism

In **Chapter 3**, twelve different naturally coexisting *D. longispina* genotypes from the oligo-mesotrophic lake Klostersee (see **Chapter 1**), previously identified via microsatellite analysis, were used in standardized growth experiments to access their susceptibility to limitations by the availability of essential dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids. For the common garden experiment, we chose three *D. longispina* genotypes with pronounced differences in their susceptibility to the absence of ω 3-PUFAs ALA and EPA and the ω 6-PUFA ARA, namely genotypes KL14, KL83 and KL93.

For the laboratory growth assays as well as for the outdoor common garden experiment, precultures of the *D. longispina* genotypes were synchronized by feeding them every second day with 2 mg POC L⁻¹ of the green alga *Acutodesmus obliquus* for at least three generations. *A. obliquus* was cultured in Z/4 medium (Zehnder and Gorham, 1960) in semi-continuous (dilution rate 0.1 d⁻¹) 5L batch cultures at 20 °C and 100 μ E s⁻¹ m⁻² PAR. For the common garden experiment, we used 5 days old third clutch juveniles (hatched within 24 hours).

4.2.2 Common garden experiment

<u>4.2.2.1 Experimental design</u>

The outdoor common garden experiment was performed from 18th July until 24th October 2016 in the Botanical garden of the University of Cologne using 15 mesocosm tanks (max. volume 75 L) in total, randomly distributed in two pools (diameter: 2 m, Fig. 1). The pools were filled with ground water to ensure cooling of the tanks during the hot summer days. In every pool, one temperature logger (series EBI 20, ebro, Xylem

Analytics, Germany) was sank and used to continuously measure the temperature. To keep the water temperature constant (at approx. 22 °C), the pool water was replaced with fresh ground water when necessary.

4.2.2.2 Growth phase

To establish a diversity gradient within a natural phytoplankton community, five 20 L canisters were filled with ground water and inoculated with different volumes (1 µl, 10 µl, 100 µl and 10000 µl) of an initial phytoplankton community (in following abbreviated as IP 1, IP 10, IP 100, IP 1000 and IP 10000), following the dilution method from Hammerstein et al. (2017). For this, the natural seston from lake Klostersee was used (origin of *D. longispina* genotypes used in this study, see also **Chapter 1**), sampled by Maria Stockenreiter (Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich) on 10th June 2016 and filtered over a 200 µm mesh to exclude zooplankton from the lake. Until the start of the experiment, the canisters were kept at outdoor temperature (22-24 °C) and gently shaken and aerated twice a week.

Four days before the start of the experiment, the 75 L mesocosm tanks were each filled with 60 L tap water and aerated for 24 h on the last day before the experiment was initiated. All mesocosm tanks were covered with mesh to prevent animals and litter from entering.

The common garden experiment was started on 18th July 2016 by inoculating the prefilled mesocosm tanks with 2 L (+ 2 L tap water) or 4 L of the pregrown phytoplankton communities (depending on the phytoplankton biomass measured as chlorophyll *a* content, see section *Chlorophyll* a *content as a biomass proxy* in this Chapter). Each of the pregrown phytoplankton communities (five in total, corresponding to five different volumes of initial phytoplankton community) was filled into three

randomly chosen tanks, resulting in a 5 x 3 experimental design (Fig. 4.1). Additionally, samples from each pregrown phytoplankton community were taken for further analysis (see section *Laboratory analyses* in this Chapter).

The water in the mesocosms was mixed once a day to prevent sedimentation of the phytoplankton. Once per week during the growth phase (4 weeks), 2 L samples were taken from each tank with a custom-built tube-sampler for further analyses and replaced with 2 L tap water, so that the volume in the tanks was kept constant.



Fig. 4.1: Distribution of mesocosm tanks within the pools. Different colours indicate different treatments (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community, given as IP in µl): red: IP 1; blue: IP 10; green: IP 100; purple: IP 1000; orange: IP 10000.

4.2.2.3 Grazing phase

After four weeks of growth phase, on the 15th August 2016, the grazing phase was started by adding 20 juveniles of each *D. longispina* genotype (KL14, KL83 and KL93) to each of the mesocosm tanks, resulting in 60 juvenile daphnids per tank (1 individual L⁻¹). Similar to the growth phase, 2 L samples from each mesocosm were taken once a week for the next 10 weeks (until 24th October 2016) and replaced with 2 L tap water.

The samples were immediately filtered over a 250 µm mesh to isolate and subsequently count the *Daphnia* individuals. All daphnids were kept in 50 ml tubes until further analyses (see section *Microsatellite analysis* in **Chapter 3**). To avoid possible crowding and starvation of the daphnids, which might occur at low food quantity as a result of strong grazing pressure due high *Daphnia* densities, we randomly removed excessive individuals from respective mesocosm tanks when *Daphnia* density exceeded 20 individuals per litre.

4.2.2.4 Environmental parameters

Over the entire duration of the common garden experiment, we collected data on temperature (in °C, measured at 03:00, 09:00, 15:00 and 21:00 h), precipitation (in mm) and sunlight (in hours), provided by weather station Cologne / Bonn Airport on wetteronline.de, the German weather website.

4.2.3 Laboratory analyses

4.2.3.1 Determination of particulate organic carbon (POC) and nitrogen (PON)

To determine POC and PON content of the phytoplankton community, 75 – 250 ml of water sample from every mesocosm tank were filtered on precombusted glass-fibre filters (GF/F, Ø 25 mm, VWR, Germany). The filters were dried at 60 °C for 24 h and subsequently packed into tin capsules (10 x 10 mm, HEKAtech, Germany) and analyzed via Flash 2000 elemental analyzer (Thermo Fisher, Germany).

4.2.3.2 Determination of particulate phosphorus (PP)

To determine PP content of the phytoplankton community, 70 – 250 ml of water samples were filtrated on precombusted GF/F filters, which were previously rinsed with 5% H₂SO₄ solution and ultrapure water. Each filter was transferred into 10 ml of reaction solution (containing potassium peroxodisulphate and 1.5% sodium hydroxide) and autoclaved for 1 h at 120 °C. Subsequently, particulate phosphorus was analyzed with the molybdate-ascorbic acid method (Greenberg, Trussel and Clesceri, 1985) using a DR5000 UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Hach, Germany). Subsequently, the PP content of the respective phytoplankton community was calculated using a previously established calibration curve.

4.2.3.3 Chlorophyll a content as a biomass proxy

Chlorophyll *a* concentrations was measured using a TD-700 Laboratory Fluorometer (Turner Designs, USA). Chlorophyll *a* is a photosynthetic pigment that can be found across all phytoplankton groups and therefore can be used as a biomass proxy.

<u>4.2.3.4 Physiology of the phytoplankton community</u>

To obtain information on the physiological state of the phytoplankton community, the photosynthetic activity (given as the yield of the photosystem II, φ_{PSII}) and the relative electron transport rate (ETR) can be estimated via chlorophyll *a* fluorescence detection. This can be achieved via pulse-amplitude modulation (Schreiber, 1998). Therefore, dark-adapted subsamples of the phytoplankton community (up to 3 ml) were analyzed using a Water-PAM Fluorometer (cuvette version, Walz, Germany) and the WinControl-3 software.

The following parameters were recorded: the chlorophyll *a* fluorescence yield in the quasi-dark state (F₀) and the maximum fluorescence yield measured during the last saturating light pulse triggered (F_m') (Schreiber, 1998). From the obtained values, φ_{PSII} and ETR were calculated by the WinControl-3 software using the following equations (Schreiber, 1998):

$$\varphi_{PSII} = (F_m' - F_0) / F_m'$$
 (Eq. 5)

$$ETR = \varphi_{PSII} \times PAR \times 0.5 \times ETR$$
-factor (Eq. 6)

where PAR is the quantum flux density of photosynthetically active radiation. ETR-factor was set to 0.84 (default settings). The data obtained over the entire course of the experiment are given in Fig. S4, but are not further analyzed or discussed within this thesis.

4.2.3.5 Pigment analysis via high-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC)

Up to 500 ml of the water samples were filtrated onto GF/F filters, which were fold in half, wrapped in aluminium foil and stored at -20 °C until further analysis. To correct for sample loss during the extraction procedure and evaporation, trans- β -apo-8'-carotenal (Sigma Aldrich) was used as an internal standard (ISTD) and 200 ng of the ISTD were added to the samples prior to extraction. The samples were extracted with 3.5 ml 100% acetone (Alfa Aesar, HPLC grade), sonicated for 2 min and then placed on ice for 1 min. This procedure was repeated 5 times, resulting in a total of 10 min sonication and extraction time. Subsequently, the filters were kept in acetone at 4°C over night to allow for further extraction. On the following day, the filters were removed from the tubes and

the extracts were centrifuged for 15 min at 4500 x g (Eppendorf Centrifuge 5804) to remove cell and filter debris. Finally, 2 ml of the extracts were transferred to new tubes, evaporated to dryness under a gentle stream of nitrogen gas, re-dissolved in 100 μ l acetone and transferred to HPLC vials. All extracted samples were stored at -20 °C and measured within 72 hours after extraction.

For the subsequent analysis of phytoplankton pigments, 50 µl per sample were injected into the Prominence HPLC system and separated with a method modified after Garrido and Zapata (1993). For details on the HPLC system, the solvents and the HPLC gradient, see **Chapter 1**. Absorbance was recorded in the PDA from 350 to 700 nm. Pigments were identified by the retention times and the absorption spectra, which were obtained from previous measurements of the pure pigment standards. Peak areas were integrated at 436 nm and corrected for internal standard. The used HPLC gradient enabled separation and identification of 10 pigments (see **Chapter 1**, Fig. 1.1).

4.2.3.6 Pigment-derived phytoplankton community composition via CHEMTAX

The phytoplankton community composition within mesocosm tanks was estimated via CHEMTAX, a matrix factorization programme (Mackey et al., 1996, see **Chapter 1**), using the HPLC-derived pigment concentrations. The pigments diatoxanthin and β -carotene were excluded from the CHEMTAX calculations, as these pigments did not have any effect on the output data (previous CHEMTAX runs, data not shown). As an additional input, CHEMTAX requires a ratio matrix containing taxon-specific pigment : chlorophyll *a* ratios, which can be obtained from the literature. The ratio matrix for mesotrophic lakes given in Schlüter et al. (2016) was used as the initial ratio matrix (see Tab. 4.1), from which 60 different ratio matrices were generated. Finally, 10 % (*n*=6) of the matrices with the lowest residual root mean square (RMS) were averaged and used as a

final input ratio matrix. The parameters used within CHEMTAX were set as recommended by Mackey et al. (1996) and are given in **Chapter 1**. The final output ratio matrix is given in Tab. S1.

Subsequently, the CHEMTAX-derived biomasses of the phytoplankton groups (given as contribution to the total chlorophyll *a* in units of μ g L⁻¹) were used to calculate the Shannon-Diversity Index (in following: *H*'_{CHEMTAX}) as an estimate of phytoplankton diversity (Shannon and Weaver, 1949). For this, the equation (Eq. 1, see **Chapter 1**) was used:

$$H' = -\sum p_i \, \times \, \ln(p_i)$$

where p_i is the proportion of the phytoplankton class relative to the total biomass. All six phytoplankton classes (given in Tab. 4.1) were included into the calculation of $H'_{CHEMTAX}$.

Tab. 4.1: Pigment:chlorophyll *a* ratio matrix for mesotrophic lakes from Schlüter et al. (2016), used as initial ratio matrix for CHEMTAX. Allo: alloxanthin, Chl *b*: chlorophyll *b*, Echi: echinenone, Fuco: fucoxanthin, Lut: lutein, Peri: peridinin, Zea: zeaxanthin.

	Allo	Chl b	Echi	Fuco	Lut	Peri	Zea
Bacillariophyceae	0	0	0	0.367	0	0	0.005
Chlorophyceae	0	0.271	0	0	0.119	0	0.001
Chrysophyceae	0	0	0	0.283	0	0	0.001
Cryptophyceae	0.156	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cyanobacteria	0	0	0.071	0	0	0	0.427
Dinopyceae	0	0	0	0	0	0.501	0

4.2.3.7 Phytoplankton community composition derived from microscopic counts

During each sampling procedure, 100 ml of the phytoplankton community from each mesocosm were preserved with 3 ml of Lugol's solution (RAL Diagnostics, France) and stored in dark until further analyses. The phytoplankton cells were counted in subsamples of 10 – 50 ml (depending on the biomass given as chlorophyll *a* concentration in μ g L⁻¹) under an inverted microscope. Prior to the microscopic analysis, the subsamples were left to settle in the Utermöhl-chamber (Utermöhl, 1931) for at least 24 h. The taxonomic identity of counted phytoplankton was determined on the genus level. The genera of small to intermediate cell size (< 20 µm) were counted at 630x magnification in random fields. The number of fields (between 50 and 100) was chosen depending on the cell density (at least 400 cells were counted). Larger phytoplankton (e.g. *Cosmarium, Peridinium*) was counted at 200x or 400x magnification in horizontal lines along the entire chamber bottom. In order to obtain the total biovolume of the genera in each sample, the average number of cells per taxon was multiplied with the biovolume estimates, based on the typical cell morphology (Hillebrand et al., 1999). The obtained data are not shown or further discussed in this work.

4.2.3.8 Fatty acid analysis via gas chromatography (GC)

In order to address possible effects of food quality on the intraspecific competition between the different *D. longispina* genotypes, the fatty acid content of the respective phytoplankton community was analyzed. Although *Daphnia* is a non-selective filter feeder, the upper size of food particles that can be collected and ingested by *Daphnia* is limited by the size of its carapace gape. Therefore, in order to access the fatty acid content of phytoplankton cells that can be consumed by *Daphnia*, the seston samples were prefiltered over a 30 μ m mesh. Subsequently, up to 500 ml of the seston samples

(< 30 µm) were filtered onto GF/F filters, which were transferred into tubes filled with 5 ml of extraction solvent (dichloromethane/methanol, 2:1, v:v) to allow for the extraction of lipids and stored at -20 °C. For subsequent quantification of fatty acids, two internal standards were added to the samples, i.e. 5 µg nonadecanoic acid methyl ester (C19:0 ME) and 5 µg tricosanoic acid methyl ester (C23:0 ME) and the samples were sonicated for 1 minute. The extracts were transferred into new tubes and additional 3 ml of extraction solvent were added to the filters for further extraction. After the samples were again sonicated for 1 min, the extracts were joined and evaporated to dryness at 40 °C under a gentle stream of nitrogen gas. Subsequently, the extracted fatty acids were transesterified at 70 °C for 20 min in 5 ml of 3 N methanolic HCl (Supelco). The resulting fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) were extracted three times with approx. 2 ml of isohexane. The isohexane phases were joined and subsequently evaporated at 40 °C under a stream of nitrogen gas and the remaining FAMEs were redissolved in 50 µl isohexane per sample. Finally, 1 µl of each sample was injected (splitless) into a 6890-N GC System (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) and analyzed using the same method as described by (Windisch and Fink, 2018). In total, the GC method enabled separation and identification of 38 different FAMEs. Subsequently, the GC-derived data were used to calculate the fatty acid content in µg per mg POC (phytoplankton biomass).

4.2.3.9 Estimation of Daphnia community composition via microsatellite analysis

To estimate the *D. longispina* community composition within the mesocosm tanks, given as the relative abundance of the three *D. longispina* genotypes KL14, KL83 and KL93, 5 \times 2 adult individuals from *Daphnia* collected during the sampling procedure (starting at day 42, i.e. two weeks after *Daphnia* introduction) were randomly picked and stored in 1.5 ml reaction tubes at -80 °C until further analysis. First, the DNA was extracted following the same procedure as given in **Chapter 3**. The concentration of extracted DNA from each reaction tube was measured using the NanoPhotometer P330 (IMPLEN, Germany) and was between 100 and 150 ng μ l⁻¹. For the subsequent microsatellite-PCR, the Multiplex PCR Kit (QIAGEN, Germany) was used. Three of five previously tested polymorphic microsatellite loci (SwiD5, SwiD10 and SwiD11, see **Chapter 3**, Tab. 3.1) were identified as sufficient to distinguish between the three *D. longispina* genotypes used in the common garden experiment. Multiplex Manager v. 1.2 (Holleley and Geerts, 2009) was used to design multiplex PCRs. All three microsatellite primer pairs (see Tab. 3.1 in **Chapter 3**) were combined into a single 10x primer mix (concentration of each primer in the mix: $2 \mu M$). Note that in order to combine all three primer pairs into a single multiplex PCR, the labelling for SwiD5 forward primer was changed to HEX. Each subsequent multiplex PCR reaction (10 µl reaction volume each) contained 5 µl 2x Multiplex PCR-Master Mix (containing 5 units μ l⁻¹ HotStartTag DNA Polymerase), 1 μ l of the 10x primer mix (concentration of each primer in the PCR reaction: 0.2 μ M), 3 μ l RNase-free water and 1 µl of template DNA. PCR conditions were: initial heat-activation at 95 °C for 15 min, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 sec, annealing at 60 °C for 90 sec and extension at 72 °C for 90 sec and a final single extension step at 72 °C for 10 min. The PCR products were diluted 1:100, mixed with Gene Scan 500 Rox Size Standard (ABI) and electrophoresed on the ABI 48-capillary 3730 DNA Analyzer at the Cologne Center for Genomics. Allele sizes were analyzed with the software Gene-Marker v2.7.0 (SoftGenetics, Pennsylvania).

From microsatellite data, the relative abundances of each *D. longispina* genotype (KL14, KL83 and KL93) were estimated within each mesocosm tank during all 10 weeks of the grazing phase.

116

Additionally, for each sampling point during the grazing phase, the diversity of the *D. longispina* community was calculated using the Shannon-Diversity Index (in following: $H'_{Daphnia}$) as given in Eq. 1 (see **Chapter 1**).

4.2.3.10. Data analysis and statistics

Statistical analyses and visual representation of the data were performed with R (version 3.3.2, R Core Team, 2016) and RStudio (version 1.1.383, RStudio Team, 2016). To reveal possible differences in the response of the three *D. longispina* genotypes upon PUFA supplementation, paired t-tests were performed for every genotype and every PUFA tested, comparing the somatic growth rate of the daphnids in the control treatment with the somatic growth rate of daphnids raised on diet supplemented with the ω 3-PUFAs ALA or EPA or the ω 6-PUFA ARA. Additionally, a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to test for overall differences between the genotypes, with fixed factors Genotype (3 levels) and PUFA (4 levels, including the control treatment) as well as their interaction *Genotype* \times *PUFA*. Note that both statistical procedures were performed using average somatic growth rates estimated within each separate growth experiment. Finally, absolute effect sizes upon PUFA supplementation were compared via one-way ANOVAs, separately for each PUFA. The sample size for each group of data (grouped by genotype and food regime) was equal to the number of growth experiments performed, i.e. n = 5 for genotype KL14, n = 3 for genotype KL83 and *n* = 4 for genotype KL93. To correct for this unbalanced design, Sum of Squares Type III was used within the two-way ANOVA.

Two main aims of the common garden experiment were (i) to test for possible links between phytoplankton diversity and fatty acid diversity and (ii) to find dietary factors (i.e. phytoplankton traits) that affect the intraspecific competition of the different *D. longispina* genotypes. Therefore, the first part of the statistical analyses focused on day 28, when *D. longispina* individuals were added to the mesocosm tanks (i.e. start of the grazing phase). These initial conditions for *Daphnia* growth and competition (in terms of food quantity and quality) were compared across different treatments (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community), by performing single one-way ANOVAs with *Inoculum* as fixed factor (five IP levels), followed by Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test. If the assumptions for ANOVA were violated (i.e. in case of deviation from the normal distribution and heterogeneous variances), Kruskal-Wallis test was applied. The parameters (i.e. dependent variables) tested were: POC (mg L⁻¹), PON (mg L⁻¹), PP (μ g L⁻ 1), molar C:N, N:P and C:P ratio, chlorophyll *a* (in μ g L⁻¹, derived from the fluorometric measurements and used as phytoplankton biomass proxy) and CHEMTAX-derived phytoplankton diversity ($H'_{CHEMTAX}$).

Second, the diversity of dietary fatty acids was calculated as Shannon-Diversity Index (as given in Eq. 1) including all identified fatty acids (in following: H'_{FA}). Similarly, the diversity of dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids was calculated including both ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs (in following: H'_{PUFA}). Subsequently, a linear regression analysis was performed to test for a significant relationship between the phytoplankton diversity ($H'_{CHEMTAX}$) and the diversity of fatty acids, including either all identified fatty acids (H'_{FA}) or only polyunsaturated acids (H'_{PUFA}). A one-way ANOVA was performed to reveal possible differences in H'_{FA} and H'_{PUFA} between the treatments.

Third, the relative abundance of the three *D. longispina* genotypes and the genotype diversity ($H'_{Daphnia}$) were used to describe the population dynamics and intraspecific competition of the *D. longispina* population over time. A two-way ANOVA with the fixed factor *Genotype* and the interaction *Genotype* \times *Inoculum* was performed to test for overall differences in Daphnia community composition between the treatments (i.e. IP levels) on day 56 (four weeks after *Daphnia* introduction, corresponding to approx. 2 generation cycles). Note that *Inoculum* was not included as a fixed factor. Additionally, the relative abundance of the *D. longispina* genotypes within each treatment was compared with single one-way ANOVAs on days 56, 77 (seven weeks after Daphnia introduction; here, the average *Daphnia* abundance in the mesocosms dropped below 5 ind L⁻¹) and 98 (ten weeks after *Daphnia* introduction; last day of the experiment). The genotype diversity H'_{Daphnia} was compared among the treatments on each sampling point during the grazing phase (starting on day 42) by performing single one-way ANOVAs. Finally, to find dietary factors (i.e. phytoplankton traits) that might affect the Daphnia community composition and the intraspecific competition of *D. longispina* genotypes, different parameters were tested in a series of linear regressions of the form:

$$y = a + bx \quad \text{(Eq. 7)}$$

where *y* is the relative abundance of the respective *D. longispina* genotype on day 56, *x* is the independent variable (dietary factor) on day 28, *a* is the y-axis intercept and *b* is the slope of the regression line. The time difference of 4 weeks, in which *Daphnia* individuals undergo approx. 2 generation cycles, was chosen to test for a response of *Daphnia* community to the initial food quality.

The dietary factors tested were: H'_{FA} , H'_{PUFA} , relative sestonic abundance of ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs, as well as their sum and ratio, and the relative sestonic abundance of ω 3-PUFAs ALA, EPA or DHA and ω 6-PUFA ARA.

To check for specific statistical assumptions prior to performing the statistical tests, we checked the normal distribution of the data with Shapiro-Wilk's test, while the homogeneity of variances was tested with Levene's test.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Environmental factors

During the first 11 weeks of the outdoor common garden experiment, the average temperature was 18.82 ± 3.76 °C (Fig. 4.2). In the last four weeks of the experiment, the average daily temperature dropped below 10 °C and reached a minimum of only 6.25 °C on day 95. Precipitation was the highest in the first four weeks and in the last week of the experiment (up to 17 mm). The sunlight was the highest (on average 8 h) in the middle of the experiment (weeks 5 to 10).



Fig. 4.2: Environmental parameters collected over the entire duration of the common garden experiment (18th July until 24th October 2016): precipitation (mm; blue bars), sunlight (h; orange bars) and average daily temperature (°C; red line).

4.3.2 Laboratory growth experiments with D. longispina genotypes

Upon PUFA-supplementation to their diet, *D. longispina* genotypes KL14, KL83 and KL93 showed pronounced differences in their response (Fig. 4.3). The somatic growth rate of the genotype KL14 significantly increased upon supplementation of any of the three tested PUFAs (paired t-tests, p < 0.001 for ALA and ARA, p < 0.05 for EPA-enriched diet). The somatic growth rate of the genotype KL83 was significantly increased only upon ALA-supplementation (paired t-test, p < 0.05), while EPA- and ARA-supplementation to the diet did not significantly affect its growth (paired t-test, p = 0.229 for both EPA- and ARA-enriched food regime). In contrast, the somatic growth rate of the genotype KL93 was not significantly affected by ALA (p = 0.077) or EPA supplementation (p = 0.053), while daphnids grown on the ARA-enriched diet showed significantly higher growth rates compared to the daphnids in the control treatment (paired t-test, p < 0.05).

Overall, a significant effect of the factor *Genotype* on the somatic growth rate was found, while the factors *PUFA* and the interaction *Genotype* × *PUFA* did not significantly affect the somatic growth rate of the daphnids (two-way ANOVA, p(Genotype) < 0.001, p(PUFA) = 0.083, $p(Genotype \times PUFA) = 0.951$). As revealed by the Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test, the genotype KL83 daphnids showed the highest somatic growth rate (> 0.38 d⁻¹ upon PUFA-supplementation and 0.35 ± 0.03 d⁻¹ in the control treatment; mean ± 1 SD), while the smallest growth rate was found when the genotype KL14 and KL93 daphnids were raised in the control treatment (0.27 ± 0.06 d⁻¹ and 0.27 ± 0.03 d⁻¹, respectively). While absolute effect size (equivalent to the slope of the reaction norm) upon EPA or ARA supplementation did not differ between the genotypes (one-way ANOVA, EPA: $F_{2,9} = 0.580$, p = 0.580; ARA: $F_{2,9} = 1.107$, p = 0.372), we found a significantly higher absolute effect size upon ALA supplementation for genotype KL14 compared to genotype KL83 (Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test following one-way ANOVA, $F_{2,9} = 6.274$, p < 0.005, Fig. 4.4).



Fig. 4.3: Reaction norms representing the average somatic growth rate of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14 (turquoise), KL83 (orange) and KL93 (purple) raised on *Acutodesmus obliquus* supplemented with either PUFA-free control liposomes or liposomes containing ALA, EPA or ARA. White circles with error bars: average somatic growth rate (\pm 1 SD) of all three *D. longispina* genotypes combined. *n* = 5 for KL14, *n* = 3 for KL83 and *n* = 4 for KL93.



Fig. 4.4: Absolute response (i.e. effect size) of the somatic growth rate of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14 (turquoise), KL83 (orange) and KL93 (purple) upon ALA, EPA or ARA supplementation. Depicted are mean values (equivalent to the slopes of the reaction norms in Fig. 4.3). Different letters indicate significant differences between the means (one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test). Error bars represent the standard deviation. n.s. = not significant. Number of experiments per genotype: n = 5 for KL14, n = 3 for KL83 and n = 4 for KL93.

4.3.3 Producer and consumer dynamics

Over the entire course of the common garden experiment, typical producer-consumer dynamics were observed in all treatments (Fig. 4.5). During the first four weeks of the experiment (i.e. growth phase), the biomass of the phytoplankton communities (given as chlorophyll *a* in μ g L⁻¹, Fig. 4.5A) increased from 0.06 ± 0.06 μ g L⁻¹ (mean ± 1 SD, all mesocosm tanks considered) to a maximum of 14.80 \pm 6.49 µg L⁻¹ (found for IP 10). Although the phytoplankton biomass in the mesocosms IP 1 and IP 1000 seemed to develop much slower during the growth phase compared to the other mesocosms, no significant differences between the treatments were found on day 28, when *D. longispina* individuals were introduced (one-way ANOVA, $F_{4,10} = 1.397$, p = 0.304). Upon Daphnia introduction, the average phytoplankton biomass in the mesocosms IP 100 and IP 10 decreased over time and reached values below 2 µg L⁻¹ (day 49 and 63, respectively) and did not recover by the end of the experiment. In contrast, the phytoplankton biomass in mesocosms IP 1 and IP 1000 decreased only slightly upon grazing pressure and started to recover after day 49; the phytoplankton biomass in these mesocosms even increased towards the end of the experiment and reached its maximum on day 91 (9.16 \pm 5.73 µg L^{-1} and 15.52 ± 14.08 µg L^{-1} found for IP 1 and IP 1000 mesocosms, respectively).

The abundance of *Daphnia* individuals increased rapidly in the first four weeks of the grazing phase (day 28 to 56, Fig. 4.5B) to a maximum of 52.33 ± 15.04 ind L⁻¹ (found for IP 10000). To avoid starvation and crowding, excessive daphnids were removed on days 56, 63, 70, 77 and 84 to keep the abundance of *Daphnia* in the respective mesocosms at max. 20 ind L⁻¹. Due to the removal and the overall decrease in the available food quantity, the abundance of daphnids decreased in four out of five treatments below 10 ind L⁻¹ by day 77 and continued to decrease towards the end of experiment below 5 ind L⁻¹ (average among all mesocosm tanks).



Fig. 4.5: (A) Biomass development of the phytoplankton communities (given as chlorophyll *a* in μ g L⁻¹) over the entire duration of the common garden experiment. (B) *Daphnia longispina* abundance (individuals L⁻¹) during the grazing phase of the experiment (10 weeks). Depicted are means per treatment (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community, given as IP in μ l, see legend in the figure). Error bars represent the standard deviation. The gray area represents the *Daphnia*-free growth phase (4 weeks). Vertical dashed lines indicate days at which excessive *Daphnia* individuals were removed to keep the *Daphnia* abundance in the respective mesocosms below 20 ind L⁻¹, in order to avoid starvation and crowding. For better visualisation of the data, the mean values and error bars are jittered around the respective day of data collection. *n* = 3 for each IP level.

4.3.4 Stoichiometry

Over the entire duration of the experiment, similar patterns were observed across all treatments regarding the phytoplankton stoichiometry (Fig. 4.6): the concentration of POC, PON and PP increased during the first 4 weeks of the experiment (*Daphnia*-free growth phase) and stayed constant until the end of the experiment. Solely the mesocosms IP 10 showed a different pattern: here, POC and PON reached the maximum by day 49 ($1.73 \pm 1.50 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ and $0.17 \pm 0.10 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$, respectively), while PP reached a maximum during the growth phase, at day 21 ($15.73 \pm 6.02 \mu \text{g L}^{-1}$). The average POC in the other four treatments (along all 14 weeks of experiment) was between 0.01 and 1.20 mg L⁻¹, while PON was between 0.001 and 0.1 mg L⁻¹. The average PP showed the steepest increase during the growth phase.

During the growth phase, the molar C:N ratios (Fig. 4.6A) increased in all treatments and reached average values between 27.15 and 40.76 at day 28. Within one week upon *Daphnia* introduction, by day 35, the C:N ratios dropped to a minimum of only 7.32, as observed in IP 10000, but stayed on average above the Redfield C:N ratio of 6.67 over the entire grazing phase. Although the molar N:P ratio oscillated much more compared to the C:N ratio, it increased over the course of 14 weeks from values below 16 (i.e. Redfield N:P ratio) to a maximum of 64.61 ± 22.11 (day 91, IP 10, Fig. 4.6B). Similarly, no clear patterns or differences among treatments were observed regarding the molar C:P ratio, which only partly increased during the experiment (Fig. 4.6C). Except for IP 10000 on day 7 and IP 10 on day 21, the average C:P ratio per treatment was above the Redfield C:P ratio of 106. No significant differences were found across treatments on day 28 (i.e. start of the grazing phase) for any of the tested parameters (two-way ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis test; for details see Tab. 4.2).



Fig. 4.6: (A) Particulate organic carbon (POC, in mg L⁻¹), (B) particulate organic nitrogen (PON, in mg L⁻¹) and (C) particulate phosphorus (μ g L⁻¹) over the entire duration of the common garden experiment. Depicted are means per treatment (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community, for legend see Fig. 4.5). Error bars represent the standard deviation. Days 71 and 84 in panels A and B are connected with a dashed line, as samples from day 77 were lost due to technical problems. *n* = 3 for each IP level.



Fig. 4.7: (A) Molar C:N, (B) N:P and (C) C:P ratios over the entire duration of the common garden experiment. Depicted are means per treatment (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community, for legend see Fig. 4.5). Error bars represent the standard deviation. Days 71 and 84 in all panels are connected with a dashed line, as POC and PON samples from day 77 were lost due to technical problems. n = 3 for each IP level. The horizontal dashed line in each panel represents the Redfield ratios (C:N:P = 106:16:1, Redfield, 1958). n = 3 for each IP level.

Tab. 4.2: Results from one-way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis test (KW) testing for differences between the
treatments (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community). Response (dependent) variables are given in
the column "Parameter". Only data from day 28 (i.e. start of the grazing phase, Fig. 4.6 and 4.7) were
included into the statistical analyses. *: degrees of freedom $(df) = 4$.

Parameter	Test	<i>F</i> or <i>X</i> ²	р
POC (mg L ⁻¹)	ANOVA	$F_{4,10} = 1.056$	0.427
PON (mg L ⁻¹)	KW*	<i>X</i> ² = 3.000	0.558
PP (μg L ⁻¹)	ANOVA	$F_{4,10} = 3.357$	0.055
molar C:N ratio	KW*	<i>X</i> ² = 2.533	0.639
molar N:P ratio	KW*	<i>X</i> ² = 0.867	0.929
molar C:P ratio	ANOVA	$F_{4,10} = 2.679$	0.094

4.3.5 Start of the grazing phase

4.3.5.1 Pigment-derived phytoplankton community composition

By the end of the *Daphnia*-free growth phase, i.e. after four weeks, among all treatments, Chlorophyceae were the dominating phytoplankton class (with average relative abundance found between 67.22 ± 20.50 % and 96.77 ± 1.27 %; average values in treatments IP 1 and IP 10, respectively), while the classes Cryptophytes and Cyanobacteria were present in very low abundances, i.e. both classes together made up only 2.98 ± 1.62 % of the whole community (average across all mesocosm tanks; Fig. 4.8). According to the CHEMTAX calculations, Bacillariophyceae were found only in two mesocosm tanks from two different treatments: they were highly abundant in one IP 1000 mesocosm (41.06 %), while only a very small proportion of Bacillariophyceae was found in one IP 10000 mesocosm (1.17 %). The highest average proportion of Chrysophyceae was found in IP 10000 mesocosms $(12.38 \pm 20.48 \%)$, while less than 1% of Chrysophyceae were found in IP 10 mesocosms $(0.18 \pm 0.15 \%)$. Dinophyceae were found across all treatments, and were most abundant in the IP 1 mesocosms $(20.28 \pm 16.52 \%)$.

Interestingly, some variation was found within treatments: in all five treatments, the phytoplankton community in two out of three replicates seemed to develop very similarly, while the third replicate showed a high deviation from this community composition. Finally, no significant differences were found regarding the diversity of phytoplankton communities (calculated as Shannon-Diversity Index, $H'_{CHEMTAX}$) between the treatments (one-way ANOVA, $F_{4,10} = 1.866$, p = 0.193).

4.3.5.2 Seston fatty acid composition

The proportion of SAFAs in the phytoplankton community was between 20.41 % and 41.88 %, while the relative abundance of MUFAs was between 28.43 % and 57.38 %. PUFAs, including both ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs, were the least abundant class (29.49 % ± 6.40 %, average across all mesocosms), with an average ratio of ω 3- to ω 6-PUFAs of 2.08 (Fig. 4.9). The most abundant ω 3-PUFA was ALA (67.85 ± 12.14 % of the total ω 3-PUFA content; mean ± 1 SD across all mesocosms), while the most abundant ω 6-PUFA was linolenic acid (LA; 74.97 ± 11.50 % of the total ω 6-PUFA content; mean ± 1 SD across all mesocosms).



Fig. 4.8: Pigment-derived phytoplankton community composition within all 15 mesocosm tanks at the end of the growth phase (day 28). Black circles: diversity of the phytoplankton community (calculated as Shannon-Diversity Index $H'_{CHEMTAX}$) for each mesocosm; black solid lines: average phytoplankton diversity within one treatment. n = 3 for each IP level.

The overall fatty acid diversity (including all identified fatty acids) was the lowest in IP 100 mesocosms ($H'_{FA} = 1.86 \pm 0.20$), while significantly higher H'_{FA} was observed in mesocosms IP 1 ($H'_{FA} = 2.40 \pm 0.27$), IP 1000 ($H'_{FA} = 2.59 \pm 0.11$) and IP 10000 ($H'_{FA} = 2.40 \pm 0.17$) (one-way ANOVA, $F_{4,10} = 7.683$, p < 0.01, followed by Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test, $\alpha = 0.05$). Similarly, the highest diversity of polyunsaturated fatty acids was found in IP 1000 mesocosms ($H'_{PUFA} = 1.81 \pm 0.08$), while the lowest H'_{PUFA} was found in mesocosms IP 10 ($H'_{PUFA} = 1.28 \pm 0.13$) and IP 100 ($H'_{PUFA} = 1.22 \pm 0.05$) (one-way ANOVA, $F_{4,10} = 13.97$, p < 0.001, followed by Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test, $\alpha = 0.05$).

4.3.5.3 Relationship between phytoplankton diversity and fatty acid diversity

Although the fatty acid diversity (given as H'_{FA}) increased with increasing phytoplankton diversity ($H'_{CHEMTAX}$; pigment-derived), their relationship was not significant (linear regression, $R^2 = 0.2473$, p = 0.0593, Fig. 4.10A). However, a significant relationship was found between phytoplankton diversity and the diversity of polyunsaturated fatty acids (given as H'_{PUFA} ; linear regression, $R^2 = 0.3621$, p < 0.05, Fig. 4.10B).



Fig. 4.9: Fatty acid composition of the phytoplankton communities within all 15 mesocosm tanks at the end of the growth phase (day 28), grouped in classes. SAFA: saturated fatty acids, MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids, ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs: polyunsaturated fatty acids. Black circles: fatty acid diversity (calculated as Shannon-Diversity Index; H'_{FA}) for each mesocosm; black solid lines: average fatty acid diversity within each treatment. Gray triangles: polyunsaturated fatty acid diversity (calculated as Shannon-Diversity Index; H'_{FA}) for each mesocosm; gray solid lines: average polyunsaturated fatty acid diversity acid diversity within each treatment. n = 3 for each IP level.



Fig. 4.10: Relationship between the pigment-derived phytoplankton diversity ($H'_{CHEMTAX}$) and (A) the fatty acid diversity (H'_{FA}) or (B) the polyunsaturated fatty acid diversity (H'_{PUFA}) at the end of the growth phase (day 28). Each point represents one mesocosm (for legend, see Fig. 4.5). The solid line represents a significant linear regression, while the dashed line represents a non-significant relationship (see figure for details). The gray area surrounding the solid line represents the 95% confidence interval. n = 3 for each IP level.

4.3.6 Daphnia population dynamics

Over the course of the experiment, similar patterns among treatments were observed in the distribution of the three *D. longispina* genotypes KL14, KL83 and KL93 (Fig. 4.11). In all treatments, the relative abundance of the genotype KL93 increased within two weeks upon introduction (day 28 to 42), but decreased stepwise in the further course of the grazing phase and reached a minimum of only 19.17 ± 6.29 % on day 91 (mean ± 1 SD; IP 1000 mesocosms). In contrast, genotype KL83 decreased by day 42 to values below 3 % (average across all mesocosms), but recovered and increased during the grazing phase to a maximum of 80.83 ± 6.29 %, as found in IP 1000 mesocosm on day 91. The maximum proportion of the genotype KL14 was found in IP 100 mesocosms on days 56 and 63 (30 \pm 8.66 % and 30 \pm 20 %, respectively). After day 63, the relative abundance of the genotype KL14 decreased to average values around 0 % and stayed at low abundances until the end of experiment. On day 56 (four weeks after *Daphnia* introduction, approx. 2 generation cycles), significant differences were found between the relative abundance of the three genotypes in all treatments except for IP 1 mesocosms (revealed via single one-way ANOVAs, see Tab. S3). Genotype KL93 was significantly the most abundant genotype in IP 10 and IP 1000 mesocosms (85.00 ± 13.23% and 53.33 ± 5.77 %, respectively), while significant differences in the abundance of genotypes KL83 and KL14 were found only in IP 1000 mesocosms, with genotype KL14 being the least abundant genotype (13.33 ± 5.77 %, Fig. 4.12). When all 15 mesocosms were taken together, a significant effect of the fixed factor *Genotype* was found ($F_{2,30} = 42.676$, p < 0.001), while the interaction *Genotype* × *Inoculum* was not significant ($F_{12,30} = 1.688$, p = 0.120; two-way ANOVA, note that *Inoculum* was not included as a second fixed factor). In this case, significantly higher relative abundance of genotype KL93 was found (63.83 ± 14.62 % across all mesocosms), while no differences were found for genotypes KL83 (19.67 ± 9.55 %) and KL14 (16.50 ± 10.51 %).

Seven weeks after *Daphnia* introduction, on day 77, the average abundance of KL14 genotype dropped to 0% in all treatments (Fig. 4.12). Although no significant differences were found between the relative abundance of the genotypes KL83 and KL93 in any of the treatments (Kruskal-Wallis test, see Tab. S3), the genotype KL93 was on average twice as abundant as the genotype KL83. Therefore, the overall ratio between the genotypes KL14 : KL83 : KL93 was 0 : 1 : 2 in all treatments.

By the end of experiment, on day 98, the average relative abundance of the genotype KL83 increased in all treatments except for IP 1 mesocosms. In fact, in IP 10 mesocosms, the relative abundance of the genotype KL83 was significantly higher compared to genotypes KL93 and KL14 (one-way ANOVA, see Tab. S3). The genotype KL14 was only found in IP 10 mesocosms, while in other mesocosms, it was completely absent.

Over the entire course of the grazing phase, similar patterns in *Daphnia* diversity $H'_{Daphnia}$ across all treatments were found (Fig. 4.13). After a rapid decrease within two weeks upon *Daphnia* introduction, $H'_{Daphnia}$ increased and reached a maximum of 0.96 ± 0.14 on day 49 (IP 1000 mesocosms). In the further course of the experiment, $H'_{Daphnia}$ decreased stepwise in all treatments and showed some oscillations after day 77. At the end of experiment, on day 98, the average *Daphnia* diversity was between 0.22 ± 0.38 (IP 1 mesocosms) and 0.69 ± 0.12 (IP 10 mesocosms). No significant differences were found between the treatments over the entire duration of the grazing phase, except for day 63 (one-way-ANOVA, $F_{4,10} = 4.207$, p < 0.05).



Fig. 4.11: Relative abundance (%) of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14 (turquoise), KL83 (orange) and KL93 (purple) in each treatment (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community IP in μ l, given in the title of each panel) over the entire duration of the grazing phase (10 weeks in total, day 28 to 98). Depicted are mean values per day. Error bars represent the standard deviation. *n* = 3 for each IP level.



Fig. 4.12: Relative abundance (%) of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14 (turquoise), KL83 (orange) and KL93 (purple) per treatment (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community IP in μl) on day 56 (four weeks after *Daphnia* introduction, approx. 2 generation cycles), day 77 (seven weeks after *Daphnia* introduction) and day 98 (end of the experiment). Given are mean values per day and treatment. The data plotted in this figure represents a subset of data plotted in Fig. 4.11.



Fig. 4.13: *Daphnia* diversity (given as Shannon-Diversity Index $H'_{Daphnia}$) per treatment (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community, for legend, see Fig. 4.5) over the entire course of grazing phase. Depicted are mean values per treatment and day. Error bars represent the standard deviation.
4.3.7 Response of Daphnia community to the dietary quality of the phytoplankton community

While none of the tested fatty acid-related dietary factors significantly affected the diversity of *Daphnia* community *H'*_{Daphnia}, some of the dietary factors significantly affected the relative abundance of genotypes KL83 and KL93 (Fig. 4.14 and 4.15, Tab. 4.3 and 4.4): the relative abundance of the genotype KL83 significantly increased with increasing diversity of polyunsaturated fatty acids (given as H'_{PUFA} , $R^2 = 0.31$, p < 0.05, Fig. 4.14A), but was negatively correlated with the relative proportion of ω 3-PUFAs in the seston ($R^2 = 0.27$, p < 0.05, Fig. 4.14C). On the other hand, the relative abundance of the genotype KL93 significantly increased with the relative abundance of PUFAs in the seston ($R^2 = 0.28$, p < 0.05, Fig. 4.14B). Furthermore, a significant positive relationship was found between the proportion of the ω 3-PUFA ALA in the seston and the relative abundance of the genotype KL93 ($R^2 = 0.32$, p < 0.05), while the relative abundance of the genotype KL83 was negatively correlated with the proportion of ALA ($R^2 = 0.31$, p < 0.05; Fig. 4.15A). In contrast, the relative abundance of the genotype KL83 significantly increased with increasing proportions of the ω 6-PUFA ARA in the seston $(R^2 = 0.32, p < 0.05;$ Fig. 4.15B). Although the relative abundance of the genotype KL93 seemed to decrease with increasing proportions of ARA, this relationship was not significant (p = 0.21). No significant relationships were observed between the relative abundance of the genotype KL14 with any of the tested PUFAs. The relative abundance of ω 3-PUFAs EPA (Fig. 4.15C) and DHA (Fig. 4.15D) did not have any significant effects on the *Daphnia* community composition. Results from linear regression analyses can be found in Tab. 4.4.



Fig. 4.14: Relative abundance (%) of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14 (turquoise), KL83 (orange) and KL93 (purple) on day 56 plotted against (A) the diversity of polyunsaturated fatty acids (H'_{PUFA}), (B) the relative abundance of ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs combined or (C) ω 3-PUFAs and (D) ω 6-PUFAs separately. All fatty acid related parameters (dietary factors) refer to the day 28 (start of the grazing phase). The time delay of four weeks was chosen to test for a response of the *Daphnia* community to the initial dietary quality of the phytoplankton community at the beginning of the grazing phase. Four weeks correspond to approx. two generations of *Daphnia* life cycle. Solid lines surrounded by colored area (95 % confidence intervals) represent a significant linear relationship, while dashed lines represent a non-significant relationship. Depicted are raw values for every mesocosm (n = 15 for each genotype). Results from the linear regression analyses can be found in Tab. 4.3.



Fig. 4.15: Relative abundance (%) of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14 (turquoise), KL83 (orange) and KL93 (purple) on day 56 plotted against (A) the relative abundance of ω 3-PUFAs ALA, (C) EPA or (D) DHA and (B) the relative abundance of ω 6-PUFA ARA on day 28 (start of the grazing phase). The time delay of four weeks was chosen to test for a response of the *Daphnia* community to the initial dietary quality of the phytoplankton community at the beginning of the grazing phase. Four weeks correspond to approx. two generations of *Daphnia* life cycle. Solid lines surrounded by colored area (95 % confidence intervals) represent a significant linear relationship, while dashed lines represent a non-significant relationship. Depicted are raw values for every mesocosm (n = 15 for each genotype). Results from the linear regression analyses can be found in Tab. 4.4.

Tab. 4.3: Results from linear regression analyses. Columns: *y*: response variable, i.e. relative abundance (%) of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14, KL83 and KL93 on day 56 (four weeks after *Daphnia* introduction); *x*: independent variable, all parameters refer to day 28 (start of the grazing phase); *a*: intercept; *b*: slope of the regression line; R^2 : proportion of variance explained by the linear regression, *p*: *p*-value of the linear regression. Significant relationships are given in bold (*p* < 0.05). Visual representation of the data can be found in Fig. 4.14.

у	x	а	b	R ²	р
KL14 (%)	Fatty acid diversity <i>H'</i> FA	44.12	-11.93	0.05	0.41
KL83 (%)		-23.48	18.63	0.13	0.19
KL93 (%)		79.35	-6.70	0.01	0.74
KL14 (%)	PUFA diversity H' _{PUFA}	18.98	-1.67	0.00	0.92
KL83 (%)		-31.01	34.13	0.31	< 0.05
KL93 (%)		112.03	-32.46	0.15	0.16
KL14 (%)	PUFAs (%)	33.36	-0.57	0.06	0.38
KL83 (%)		53.26	-1.14	0.24	0.07
KL93 (%)		13.38	1.71	0.28	< 0.05
KL14 (%)	ω3-PUFAs (%)	22.70	-0.31	0.01	0.70
KL83 (%)		49.19	-1.49	0.27	< 0.05
KL93 (%)		28.11	1.81	0.20	0.09
KL14 (%)	ω6-PUFAs (%)	47.03	-3.14	0.21	0.09
KL83 (%)		33.04	-1.37	0.04	0.47
KL93 (%)		19.92	4.51	0.22	0.07
KL14 (%)	Ratio ω3 : ω6	-2.76	9.26	0.11	0.23
KL83 (%)		41.53	-10.51	0.14	0.17
KL93 (%)		61.22	1.25	0.00	0.91

Tab. 4.4: Results from linear regression analyses. Columns: *y*: response variable, i.e. relative abundance (%) of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14, KL83 and KL93 on day 56 (four weeks after *Daphnia* introduction); *x*: independent variable, i.e. relative abundance of the ω 3-PUFAs ALA, EPA and DHA and the ω 6-PUFA ARA in the seston on day 28 (start of the grazing phase); *a*: intercept; *b*: slope of the regression line; *R*²: proportion of variance explained by the linear regression, *p*: *p*-value of the linear regression. Significant relationships are given in bold (*p* < 0.05). Visual representation of the data can be found in Fig. 4.15.

у	x	а	b	R ²	р
KL14 (%)	ALA C18:3 ω3 (%)	25.21	-0.64	0.05	0.43
KL83 (%)		41.43	-1.61	0.31	< 0.05
KL93 (%)		33.36	2.25	0.32	< 0.05
KL14 (%)	EPA C20:5 ω3 (%)	16.25	0.18	0.00	0.96
KL83 (%)		14.94	3.40	0.07	0.32
KL93 (%)		68.82	-3.58	0.04	0.46
KL14 (%)	DHA C22:6 ω3 (%)	13.40	2.75	0.08	0.29
KL83 (%)		19.02	0.57	0.00	0.83
KL93 (%)		67.58	-3.32	0.06	0.36
KL14 (%)	ARA	18.30	-3.56	0.01	0.75
KL83 (%)	C20:4 ω6	8.20	22.69	0.32	< 0.05
KL93 (%)	(%)	73.50	-19.13	0.12	0.21

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Common garden experiment – General discussion

4.4.1.1 Stoichiometry

In nature, organic carbon (C) is produced from atmospheric CO₂ via photosynthesis by primary producers (i.e. phytoplankton). Therefore, in an isolated experimental setup with no further nutrient supply or grazing, but access to atmospheric CO₂, the amount of particulate organic carbon (POC) will continuously increase with growing phytoplankton population and increasing photosynthetic activity. The availability of nitrogen (N) in nature can be increased either by natural deposition (dry deposition, rain or snow; Schlesinger, 2009) or by additional nitrogen input, e.g. as a result of anthropogenic activities such as fossil fuel combustion and application of agricultural fertilizers (Vitousek et al., 1997; Bergström et al., 2005; Elser et al., 2009a). Similarly, phosphorus (P) can be mobilized by human activities and transported into ecosystems, while naturally, phosphorus has no gaseous atmospheric cycle and is mainly accessible through weathering processes of rocks (Schindler, 1977). Hence, without further addition of nitrogen or phosphorus, their availability in a closed experimental setup is expected to be regulated by recycling processes caused by Daphnia grazing and digestion on one hand and the assimilation by phytoplankton on the other hand. Only the presence of cyanobacteria such as Anabaena or Nostoc, which are capable of N₂fixation (Allen and Arnon, 2005), could result in a further increase in particulate organic nitrogen, accessible to Daphnia upon grazing on these cyanobacteria species.

Over the entire duration of the common garden experiment, the molar ratio of the elements C, N and P within the mesocosms was above the Redfield ratio (C:N:P = 106:16:1, Redfield, 1958). Therefore, the limitation of the phytoplankton growth by the availability of N and/or P cannot be excluded. Furthermore, across all treatments, we found molar C:P ratios above 300, which were previously shown to limit the growth of *Daphnia* (Sterner et al., 1993; Urabe et al., 1997; Becker and Boersma, 2003). Hence, we cannot exclude that these limiting conditions affected the growth and reproduction of *Daphnia* and the intraspecific competition between the different *D. longispina* genotypes. In our previously performed laboratory growth assays, we fed *Daphnia* with P-sufficient *Acutodesmus obliquus*. Therefore, potential intraspecific differences regarding the susceptibility of *Daphnia* to limited P-availability were not assessed prior to the common garden experiment, but might additionally explain the observed patterns in the community composition of the *Daphnia* population.

4.4.1.2 Phytoplankton community composition and fatty acid diversity

To establish a diversity gradient within a natural phytoplankton community, a dilution method was applied as described in Hammerstein et al. (2017). Application of this method is expected to result in a loss of rare species when very small volumes of an initial natural phytoplankton community are used for inoculation (i.e. 1 μ l), while in larger inocula (i.e. 1 ml), all species from the respective lake seston are expected to be present. Therefore, the diversity within the manipulated phytoplankton communities is expected to increase with the volume of the initial phytoplankton communities, estimated using the Shannon-Diversity Index, did not differ between the treatments (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community). This might have occurred because the

Shannon-Diversity Index was calculated on the class level, including the relative abundance of only six different phytoplankton classes. The proportion of each class within the respective phytoplankton community was assessed indirectly via CHEMTAX, using the previously estimated phytoplankton pigment composition. As shown in **Chapter 1**, this method provides fast assessment of the phytoplankton community composition, but has the disadvantage of low taxonomical resolution, as it only allows for the determination of phytoplankton community composition on class level. Therefore, a higher taxonomical resolution (i.e. on genus or species level) might be necessary to reveal differences in phytoplankton community composition as a result of the applied dilution method, which can be achieved via microscopic counting of e.g. Lugol-fixed seston samples. Although part of the seston samples taken during the common garden experiment was counted, the obtained data was not further analyzed and is therefore not discussed in the present thesis. Nevertheless, although no clear patters in phytoplankton community composition were observed which could be attributed to the applied dilution method, this procedure still resulted in a diversity gradient, which was one of the crucial aims of this study.

Furthermore, a significant relationship was found between the CHEMTAX-derived phytoplankton diversity and PUFA diversity, as revealed via linear regression analysis. This finding is in line with our expectations, as it has been previously shown that phytoplankton classes drastically differ in their fatty acid composition, in particular regarding the presence of PUFAs (Ahlgren et al., 1990a; Lang et al., 2011). For example, Chlorophyceae are rich in the ω 3-PUFA ALA, while C₂₀-PUFAs like EPA and ARA are usually found in Cryptophyceae, Bacillariophyceae and Dinophyceae. The observed relationship between phytoplankton diversity on class level and PUFA diversity further indicates that the rather low taxonomical resolution of the phytoplankton community

composition, assessed indirectly via pigment composition, is sufficient enough to predict the nutritional quality (in terms of PUFA availability) of the phytoplankton for the zooplankton. This can further be explained by the fact that in general, although there are some differences in fatty acid profiles between the species belonging to the same taxonomical class, loss of one species is unlikely to result in a loss of a class-specific fatty acid, as long as other species from the same taxonomical class are present. Therefore, in terms of biodiversity loss, the food quality of the phytoplankton is expected to be strongly affected by the loss of a whole class, while the loss of a single genus or species will most probably result in minor food quality changes.

In nature, such food quality changes also occur as a result of seasonal fluctuation of essential dietary PUFAs such as ALA, EPA, DHA and ARA, caused by seasonal changes in the phytoplankton community composition, e.g. dominance of Cryptophyceae, Bacillariophyceae and Dinophyceae in spring blooms in lakes vs. dominance of Cyanobacteria and Chlorophyceae in late summer (Sommer et al., 1986; Müller-Navarra and Lampert, 1996; Ahlgren et al., 1997). In our common garden experiment, we found high amounts of ALA in almost all mesocosms, which can be explained by the strong dominance of Chlorophyceae in the manipulated phytoplankton communities of the respective mesocosm tanks. In contrast, small amounts of EPA, DHA and ARA were found, as phytoplankton classes rich in these long-chain PUFAs, such as Cryptophyceae, were less abundant in the manipulated phytoplankton communities. Therefore, we established a certain variation in the availability of these dietary PUFAs which was crucial in order to study the effects of PUFA availability on the intraspecific competition between the different *D. longispina* genotypes.

4.4.1.3 Producer-consumer dynamics

Within the common garden experiment, typical producer-consumer dynamics were observed: phytoplankton biomass decreased strongly upon Daphnia introduction due to grazing. In turn, *Daphnia* reproduced rapidly and reached high abundances within four weeks after introduction (day 56). In order to maintain a sufficient food quantity in the mesocosm tanks, Daphnia were manually removed from the experiment on several occasions (starting at day 56 of the experiment). Therefore, the patterns in population development of phytoplankton and *Daphnia* observed after day 56 cannot be completely explained by naturally occurring population dynamics between these two trophic levels. Nevertheless, in some mesocosms, the Daphnia population recovered after manual removals, but as the temperature decreased below 10 °C, Daphnia reproduced much slower than at warmer temperatures. Therefore, in the last four weeks of the common garden experiment, no further population growth of Daphnia was observed. Due to decreased grazing, phytoplankton communities were allowed to recover, but the increase in phytoplankton biomass in the last four weeks of the experiment was observed only in three out of five different treatments (i.e. IP 1, IP 1000 and IP 10000). This could be explained by the potential presence of fast growing and/or reproducing phytoplankton species in the respective phytoplankton communities. However, in order to draw final conclusions on this suggestion, the phytoplankton community composition would have to be determined on the genus or species level.

4.4.2 Intraspecific competition – does it depend on fatty acid availability?

In general, at high (i.e. not limiting) availability of essential dietary ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs, the different *D. longispina* genotypes are expected to coexist, as no competition regarding the biochemical food quality (in terms of PUFA availability) should take place.

At such environmental conditions, intraspecific competition is expected to be affected either by the absolute performance of a certain genotype (i.e. the fastest growing genotype is expected to dominate the community) or by other factors, such as Pavailability (see section *Stoichiometry* in this Chapter).

At low PUFA availability, several potential scenarios might occur, depending on genotype-specific traits such as susceptibility to limitations by PUFA availability or capability and rate of bioconversion of PUFAs (within the same PUFA family, i.e. ω 3 or ω 6). For example, at low EPA availability, the genotype with the lowest susceptibility to EPA and/or highest rate of bioconversion of ALA or DHA into EPA is expected to outcompete the other genotypes and dominate the *Daphnia* population, given the high availability of ALA and/or DHA. In general, genotypes with the lowest susceptibility to limited PUFA availability (i.e. showing the least effect size upon PUFA supplementation in laboratory growth assays) are expected to be the least affected by low PUFA availability.

Prior to the common garden experiment, we assessed the overall growth and susceptibility of different *D. longispina* genotypes, while we have no data on potential intraspecific differences in the bioconversion of PUFAs. Therefore, we cannot precisely predict how availability of PUFAs like ALA and DHA, which serve as precursors for EPA (von Elert, 2002), or the availability of LIN, which serves as a precursor for ARA (Kainz et al., 2004; Ravet et al., 2012), will affect the intraspecific competition. Nevertheless, guided by the results obtained from the laboratory growth assays, we expected the *D. longispina* genotype KL83 to outcompete the other two genotypes and dominate the *Daphnia* community or at least persist in the community at various PUFA availabilities, as this genotype showed the highest somatic growth rate, both in dietary treatments with and without PUFA supplementation. On the other hand, genotypes KL14 and KL93

showed similar growth rates and absolute effect sizes upon EPA and ARA supplementation. However, we observed a higher effect size upon ALA supplementation for genotype KL14 compared to genotype KL83 and thus a stronger susceptibility of genotype KL14 to limitations by ALA availability. Therefore, the success of the genotype KL14 and the overall outcome of the intraspecific competition between the three tested *D. longispina* genotypes are expected to be strongly affected by low ALA availability. Taken together, the outcome of the intraspecific competition seems to be rather complex, as several factors have to be taken into account.

In contrast to our expectations, genotype KL14 was almost completely outcompeted by KL83 and KL93 after only four weeks, regardless of PUFA availability, and did not recover in the further course of the experiment. Also, no significant relationship was found between the relative abundance of genotype KL14 and any of the tested fatty acid related dietary factors, such as PUFA diversity and availability of ω 3-PUFAs ALA, EPA and DH or ω 6-PUFA ARA. Therefore, the success of genotype KL14 in the given *Daphnia* population seems to be affected by other factors rather than by the biochemical food quality in terms of fatty acid availability.

Genotypes KL83 and KL93 were mostly persistent over the entire course of the experiment. While the genotype KL93 was more dominant in the first half of the experiment, the abundance of KL83 increased in the second half of the experiment. Moreover, genotype KL83 partly dominated the *Daphnia* community in the last two weeks of the experiment. The persistence of the genotype KL83 in the community and its recovery from low densities might be explained by high somatic growth rates observed in the laboratory growth assays, both in dietary treatments with and without PUFA supplementation. From the observed dynamics of the genotypes KL83 and KL93, it cannot be excluded that given a longer time period, the density of these two genotypes

will stabilize and allow for their coexistence in the population. Nevertheless, we provide evidence that the outcome of the intraspecific competition between the genotypes KL83 and KL93 depends on several fatty acid related dietary factors: genotype KL83 is found to have higher chances of outcompeting genotype KL93 at higher PUFA diversity or high ARA availability, as the abundance of the genotype KL83 was found to positively correlate with these two dietary factors. In contrast, at high PUFA availability and in particular at high ALA availability, genotype KL93 is more likely to outcompete genotype KL83. It is necessary to mention that ALA was the most abundant PUFA and therefore the relative abundance of PUFAs, and in particular of ω 3-PUFAs is most probably autocorrelated with ALA availability. In contrast, diversity of PUFAs is negatively correlated with ALA availability, as increasing amounts of a single, dominating PUFA decreases the overall diversity, at least in terms of Shannon-Diversity Index. Therefore, the opposite effect of H'_{PUFA} and ALA availability on the competition outcome of the two genotypes KL83 and KL93 can also be interpreted as an autocorrelation of these two parameters. Nevertheless, evidence is given that the ω 3-PUFA ALA and ω 6-PUFA ARA both might play an important role in the intraspecific competition of coexisting D. longispina genotypes. In our study, these two PUFAs even had opposite effects on the success of the two genotypes KL83 and KL93. Interestingly, ALA was the only PUFA that played a significant role in a field study by Wacker on von Elert (2001), who found that the sestonic content of ALA correlates with the growth of *D. galeata*, which was raised on natural seston of the Lake Constance. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that the dietary availability of ALA is important in the field and has a significant effect on *Daphnia* population dynamics.

EPA is highly recognized as a ω 3-PUFA that limits the growth of *Daphnia* (Müller-Navarra et al., 2000; von Elert, 2004; Martin-Creuzburg et al., 2010). Although first evidence comes from the field, the significant role of EPA for Daphnia's fitness arises much stronger from the laboratory growth experiments. In this study, EPA did not significantly affect the intraspecific competition between different *D. longispina* genotypes. This might be explained by the fact that no intraspecific differences between the three used *D. longispina* genotypes were found regarding the absolute effect size of the growth rate upon EPA supplementation. However, it cannot be excluded that EPA availability will affect the population dynamics of *Daphnia* in the field. In fact, in **Chapter 3**, we report intraspecific variation in susceptibility to limitations by EPA availability within 12 tested coexisting *D. longispina* genotypes. Therefore, our choice of the genotypes KL14, KL83 and KL93 seems to be rather unfortunate to study effects of EPA availability on intraspecific competition between coexisting *D. longispina* genotypes. Hence, to draw final conclusions on the role of EPA for the competitive interactions within a natural *Daphnia* community, the inclusion of additional genotypes with more pronounced differences in their susceptibility to EPA availability is necessary.

Similarly, we did not find any significant relationship between the availability of the ω 3-PUFA DHA and the competition success of the tested *D. longispina* genotypes. However, the observed patterns (although not significant) were very similar to patterns observed between the tested genotypes and EPA availability. This indicates that the role of DHA for the intraspecific competition within a natural *Daphnia* community is similar to the role of EPA, which could be explained by the potential capability of *D. longispina* to bioconvert DHA into EPA. Although previous studies showed that some *Daphnia* species, such as *D. galeata*, which belongs to the *D. longispina* complex (von Elert, 2004; Brzeziński and von Elert, 2007) are capable to bioconvert DHA into EPA (von Elert,

2002), we did not test this ability within our *D. longispina* genotypes. Furthermore, we did not access potential intraspecific differences in susceptibility to limitations by DHA availability. Therefore, we can only speculate on the role of DHA for population dynamics of natural *Daphnia* communities.

Finally, the present study provides further evidence that the ω 6-PUFA ARA plays an important role for *Daphnia*'s fitness and population dynamics, as it significantly affected the outcome of the intraspecific competition between the genotypes KL83 and KL93, in particular favoring the genotype KL83 over genotype KL93. Here, the absolute somatic growth rate of the tested genotypes in the presence of ARA seem to play an important role for the competitive interactions, as the somatic growth rate of genotype KL83 in presence of ARA was higher (but not significant) compared to the genotype KL93, as revealed via laboratory growth assays. Therefore, the success of the genotype KL83 at high ARA availability can be explained by its potentially better utilization of ARA and hence higher growth rate, while KL93 seems to be less susceptible to low ARA availability.

It is important to keep in mind that from day 56 on, excessive daphnids were removed from the mesocosms to keep the *Daphnia* abundances below 20 ind L⁻¹. Although this was done randomly, it cannot be excluded that this affected the community composition in the further course of the experiment. Nevertheless, relationships between fatty acid related dietary factors and the individual success of the tested *D. longispina* genotypes, discussed above, are independent from the random removal of excessive daphnids and are therefore based solely on natural population dynamics and the trophic transfer efficiency between phytoplankton and *Daphnia*.

4.4.3 Can results from single clone microcosm experiments be transferred to complex natural communities?

The observed patterns in population dynamics within the *D. longispina* community studied within the outdoor common garden experiment can only partly be explained by the results obtained from the single clone laboratory growth assays. Our study was only focused on the effect of fatty acid related dietary factors on the outcome of intraspecific competition between the tested *D. longispina* genotypes, while we ignored the potential limitation of Daphnia's fitness by low P availability. Furthermore, competitive interactions under more natural conditions are more complex. In general, food quality in terms of biochemical composition of the phytoplankton is not the only force driving the competition between species. In nature, other abiotic and biotic factors, such as temperature and food quantity (Van Doorslaer et al., 2009, 2010; Cuenca Cambronero et al., 2018) or presence of predators and parasites (Decaestecker et al., 2005; Duffy and Sivars-Becker, 2007) are also likely to affect the consumer's population dynamics. Therefore, upscaling results from single clone microcosm experiments to complex natural communities should be treated with care. Nevertheless, we provide evidence that a phytoplankton trait, namely the content of essential dietary PUFAs, in particular the availability of ω 3-PUFA ALA and ω 6-PUFA ARA, affects the competitive interactions between naturally coexisting *D. longispina* genotypes. Furthermore, we show that the outcome of the intraspecific competition depends at least partly on a consumer's trait, namely the susceptibility of *Daphnia* to limitations by availability of essential dietary PUFAs.

Concluding remarks and perspectives

Global warming and eutrophication represent an ongoing threat for the Earth's biodiversity (Loreau, Cardinale, Hooper). Especially the biodiversity loss on the level of primary producers is of particular interest, as such species loss is expected to have cascading effects on multiple trophic levels. To better predict the consequences of the biodiversity loss for ecosystem functioning and services, trait-based approaches are frequently applied to identify functional traits that might provide further insight into the linkage between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. In the present study, I investigated the effects of phytoplankton trait diversity in terms of fatty acid availability on the community structure and population dynamics of the herbivorous grazer *Daphnia*.

In **Chapter 1**, I compared two commonly used methods for an indirect estimation of phytoplankton community composition. I show that both the spectrofluorometric method via Algae Lab Analyser and pigment-based method via HPLC/CHEMTAX are fast and useful tools for the assessment of the phytoplankton community composition, although the agreement between the methods was not always satisfactory. This is similar to findings by Richardson et al. (2010) and may be due to different marker pigments utilized by the two methods. Also, I suggest including more pigments in the HPLC analysis, especially to be able to distinguish between Diatoms and Chrysophytes, e.g. violaxanthin and chlorophylls c_1 and c_2 . As both methods have advantages and disadvantages, the method of choice depends on the aim of the study or the field of use. However, Algae Lab Analyser should be carefully calibrated prior to use, to achieve more accurate results, especially regarding the estimates of cyanobacterial abundances (Beutler, 2002).

In terms of diversity, CHEMTAX provides a higher resolution and can be modified in a way that it allows for assessment of lake-specific phytoplankton groups, especially when prior knowledge on the phytoplankton community composition of the lake of interest is available (Schlüter et al., 2016). Within the present study, pigment-based method via HPLC and CHEMTAX was used in **Chapter 4** to assess the phytoplankton community composition and revealed satisfactory results.

In **Chapter 2**, I performed dose-response experiments to compare the relevance of two PUFAs, namely ω 3-PUFA EPA and ω 6-PUFA ARA, for the growth and reproduction of two Daphnia species, which differed in their body size. In previous studies, EPA was recognized as an important ω 3-PUFA that limits the fitness of *Daphnia*, while findings on the importance of ARA for *Daphnia* were rather inconsistent (von Elert, 2002; Martin-Creuzburg et al., 2010; Ravet et al., 2012; Schlotz et al., 2014). I therefore estimated the concentration thresholds of both PUFAs for saturated growth and reproduction of the two *Daphnia* species. Overall, the study provides clear evidence that ARA, a ω 6-PUFA, limits the fitness of two different *Daphnia* species to an equal extent as the ω 3-PUFA EPA. This is of particular interest for Daphnia's performance in nature, as shifts in phytoplankton community composition might result in environmental fluctuations in the dietary availability of ω 3- and ω 6-PUFAs, as their presence and amount varies among different phytoplankton groups (Ahlgren et al., 1990a; Lang et al., 2011). I thus suggest that together with the ω 3-PUFA EPA, ARA availability needs to be considered in further studies on food quality and trophic transfer efficiency within freshwater ecosystems.

In **Chapter 3**, I first isolated *Daphnia longispina* individuals from a natural *Daphnia* population of the oligo-mesotrophic lake Klostersee. The different genotypes were identified via microsatellite analyses. The aim of the Chapter was to assess the intraspecific variability in a consumer's functional trait, i.e. susceptibility to limitations by dietary PUFA availability among coexisting genotypes of a natural *Daphnia longispina* population. While the absence of the two ω 3-PUFAs ALA and EPA affected the fitness of different *D. longispina* genotypes to a similar extent, I show the ω 6-PUFA ARA to be the most limiting PUFA for the investigated *D. longispina* population. Overall, I here demonstrate significant intrapopulation variation in a consumer's functional trait and suggest that such intrapopulation differences in susceptibility to absence of dietary PUFAs might not only contribute to the maintenance of the genetic variation within natural animal populations, but may also affect the outcome of intraspecific competition and thus be the driving force of natural selection and local adaptation in many ecosystems.

Guided by the hypotheses mentioned above, I addressed the role of susceptibility to limitations by PUFA availability for the intraspecific competition of naturally coexisting *D. longispina* genotypes within a common garden experiment in **Chapter 4**. I further manipulated the diversity of a natural phytoplankton community to alter the phytoplankton trait diversity in terms of PUFA availability. I found a correlation between phytoplankton diversity, estimated via CHEMTAX (**Chapter 1**), and PUFA diversity, showing that biodiversity loss on the level of primary producers can result in decreased phytoplankton trait diversity. Furthermore, I show that the availability of single PUFAs, such as ω 3-PUFA ALA and ω 6-PUFA ARA, directly affects the intraspecific competition of the tested *D. longispina* genotypes, albeit not as predicted from single clone microcosm experiments.

Nevertheless, this study for the first time provides evidence for an interplay of producer's and consumer's functional traits, which both affect the community structure and population dynamics and therefore represent a potential link between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning in aquatic ecosystems.

References

- Ackerly, D.D., Cornwell, W.K., 2007. A trait-based approach to community assembly: partitioning of species trait values into within- and among-community components. Ecol. Lett. 10, 135–145. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.01006.x
- Ahlgren, G., Goedkoop, W., Markensten, H., Sonesten, Boberg, M., 1997. Seasonal variations in food quality for pelagic and benthic invertebrates in Lake Erken the role of fatty acids. Freshw. Biol. 38, 555–570. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.1997.00219.x
- Ahlgren, G., Lundstedt, L., Brett, M., Forsberg, C., 1990a. Lipid composition and food quality of some freshwater phytoplankton for cladoceran zooplankters. J. Plankton Res. 12, 809–818.
- Ahlgren, G., Lundstedt, L., Brett, M., Forsberg, C., 1990b. Lipid composition and food quality of some freshwater phytoplankton for cladoceran zooplankters. J. Plankton Res. 12, 809–818.
- Albert, C.H., Thuiller, W., Yoccoz, N.G., Soudant, A., Boucher, F., Saccone, P., Lavorel, S.,
 2010. Intraspecific functional variability: extent, structure and sources of variation. J. Ecol. 98, 604–613. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2010.01651.x
- Alcock, J., Franklin, M.L., Kuzawa, C.W., 2012. Nutrient Signaling: Evolutionary Origins of the Immune-Modulating Effects of Dietary Fat. Q. Rev. Biol. 87, 187–223. https://doi.org/10.1086/666828

- Allen, M.B., Arnon, D.I., n.d. STUDIES ON NITROGEN-FIXING BLUE-GREEN ALGAE. I. GROWTH AND NITROGEN FIXATION BY ANABAENA CYLINDRICA LEMM1A. PLANT Physiol. 7.
- Armbrecht, L.H., Wright, S.W., Petocz, P., Armand, L.K., 2015. A new approach to testing the agreement of two phytoplankton quantification techniques: Microscopy and CHEMTAX: Agreement between microscopy and CHEMTAX. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 13, 425–437. https://doi.org/10.1002/lom3.10037
- Barrett, R., Schluter, D., 2008. Adaptation from standing genetic variation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 23, 38–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2007.09.008
- Becker, C., Boersma, M., 2010. Limiting levels of eicosapentaenoic acid: What do we really know? Limnol. Oceanogr. 55, 459–462.
- Becker, C., Boersma, M., 2005. Differential effects of phosphorus and fatty acids on Daphnia magna growth and reproduction. Limnol. Oceanogr. 50, 388–397.
- Becker, C., Boersma, M., 2003. Resource quality effects on life histories of Daphnia. Limnol. Oceanogr. 48, 700–706.
- Behl, S., Donval, A., Stibor, H., 2011. The relative importance of species diversity and functional group diversity on carbon uptake in phytoplankton communities. Limnol. Oceanogr. 56, 683–694. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2011.56.2.0683
- Behl, S., Stibor, H., 2015. Prey diversity and prey identity affect herbivore performance on different time scales in a long term aquatic food-web experiment. Oikos 124, 1192–1202. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.01463
- Bell, J.G., Sargent, J.R., 2003. Arachidonic acid in aquaculture feeds: current status and future opportunities. Aquaculture 218, 491–499. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(02)00370-8

- Beutler, M., Wiltshire, K., Reineke, C., Hansen, U., 2004. Algorithms and practical fluorescence models of the photosynthetic apparatus of red cyanobacteria and Cryptophyta designed for the fluorescence detection of red cyanobacteria and cryptophytes. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 35, 115–129. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame035115
- Beutler, M., Wiltshire, K.H., Arp, M., Kruse, J., Reineke, C., Moldaenke, C., Hansen, U.-P., 2003. A reduced model of the fluorescence from the cyanobacterial photosynthetic apparatus designed for the in situ detection of cyanobacteria.
 Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Bioenerg. 1604, 33–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2728(03)00022-7
- Beutler, M., Wiltshire, K.H., Meyer, B., Moldaenke, C., Lüring, C., Meyerhöfer, M., Hansen, U.-P., Dau, H., 2002. A fluorometric method for the differentiation of algal populations in vivo and in situ. Photosynth. Res. 72, 39–53.
- Boersma, M., Spaak, P., De Meester, L., 1998. Predator-mediated plasticity in morphology, life history, and behavior of Daphnia: the uncoupling of responses. Am. Nat. 152, 237–248.
- Bolnick, D.I., Amarasekare, P., Araújo, M.S., Bürger, R., Levine, J.M., Novak, M., Rudolf, V.H.W., Schreiber, S.J., Urban, M.C., Vasseur, D.A., 2011. Why intraspecific trait variation matters in community ecology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 26, 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.01.009
- Boyden, S., Binkley, D., Stape, J.L., 2008. Competition among "Eucalyptus" Trees Depends on Genetic Variation and Resource Supply. Ecology 89, 2850–2859.
- Brede, N., Thielsch, A., Sandrock, C., Spaak, P., Keller, B., Streit, B., Schwenk, K., 2006. Microsatellite markers for European Daphnia. Mol. Ecol. Notes 6, 536–539. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2005.01218.x

- Brett, M.T., 2010. Is a low EPA growth saturation threshold supported by the data presented in Becker and Boersma (2005)? Limnol. Oceanogr. 55, 455–458.
- Brett, M.T., Müller-Navarra, D.C., Ballantyne, A.P., Ravet, J.L., Goldman, C.R., 2006. Daphnia fatty acid composition reflects that of their diet. Limnol. Oceanogr. 51, 2428–2437.
- Bryant, D.A., 1982. Phycoerythrocyanin and Phycoerythrin: Properties and Occurrence in Cyanobacteria. Microbiology 128, 835–844. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-128-4-835
- Brzeziński, T., Dawidowicz, P., von Elert, E., 2010. The role of food quality in clonal succession in Daphnia: an experimental test. Oecologia 164, 379–388. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-010-1662-9
- Brzeziński, T., von Elert, E., 2007. Biochemical food quality effects on a Daphnia hybrid complex. Limnol. Oceanogr. 52, 2350–2357.
- Bu, W., Schmid, B., Liu, X., Li, Y., Härdtle, W., von Oheimb, G., Liang, Y., Sun, Z., Huang, Y., Bruelheide, H., Ma, K., 2017. Interspecific and intraspecific variation in specific root length drives aboveground biodiversity effects in young experimental forest stands. J. Plant Ecol. 10, 158–169. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtw096
- Buchaca, T., 2004. A comparison of HPLC pigment analyses and biovolume estimates of phytoplankton groups in an oligotrophic lake. J. Plankton Res. 27, 91–101. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbh154
- Burns, C.W., Brett, M.T., Schallenberg, M., 2011. A comparison of the trophic transfer of fatty acids in freshwater plankton by cladocerans and calanoid copepods: Fatty acids of herbivorous zooplankton. Freshw. Biol. 56, 889–903. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02534.x

- Cadotte, M.W., Arnillas, C.A., Livingstone, S.W., Yasui, S.-L.E., 2015. Predicting communities from functional traits. Trends Ecol. Evol. 30, 510–511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.07.001
- Cardinale, B., 2012. Impacts of Biodiversity Loss. Science 336, 552–553. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1222102
- Cardinale, B.J., Srivastava, D.S., Emmett Duffy, J., Wright, J.P., Downing, A.L., Sankaran, M., Jouseau, C., 2006. Effects of biodiversity on the functioning of trophic groups and ecosystems. Nature 443, 989–992. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05202
- Catherine, A., Escoffier, N., Belhocine, A., Nasri, A.B., Hamlaoui, S., Yéprémian, C., Bernard,
 C., Troussellier, M., 2012. On the use of the FluoroProbe®, a phytoplankton
 quantification method based on fluorescence excitation spectra for large-scale
 surveys of lakes and reservoirs. Water Res. 46, 1771–1784.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.12.056
- Chislock, M.F., Sarnelle, O., Olsen, B.K., Doster, E., Wilson, A.E., 2013. Large effects of consumer offense on ecosystem structure and function. Ecology 94, 2375–2380.
- Cuenca Cambronero, M., Marshall, H., De Meester, L., Davidson, T.A., Beckerman, A.P., Orsini, L., 2018. Predictability of the impact of multiple stressors on the keystone species Daphnia. Sci. Rep. 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-35861-y
- De Bruin, A., Ibelings, B.W., Rijkeboer, M., Brehm, M., van Donk, E., 2004. Genetic variation in Asterionella formosa (Bacillariophyceae): Is it linked to frequently epidemics of host-specific parasitic fungi? J. Phycol. 40, 823–830. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2004.04006.x
- De Meester, L., Weider, L.J., 1999. Depth Selection Behavior, Fish Kairomones, and the Life Histories of Daphnia hyalina ×galeata Hybrid Clones. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44, 1248–1258.

- Decaestecker, E., Declerck, S., De Meester, L., Ebert, D., 2005. Ecological implications of parasites in natural Daphnia populations. Oecologia 144, 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0083-7
- DeMott, W.R., 1989. The Role of Competition in Zooplankton Succession, in: Sommer, U.
 (Ed.), Plankton Ecology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 195– 252. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-74890-5_6
- DeMott, W.R., 1986. The role of taste in food selection by freshwater zooplankton. Oecologia 69, 334–340.
- DeMott, W.R., 1983. Seasonal Succession in a Natural Daphnia Assemblage. Ecol. Monogr. 53, 321–340.
- Descy, J.-P., Higgins, H.W., Mackey, D.J., Hurley, J.P., Frost, T.M., 2000. Pigment ratios and phytoplankton assessment in northern Wisconsin lakes. J. Phycol. 36, 274–286.
- Descy, J.-P., Sarmento, H., Higgins, H.W., 2009. Variability of phytoplankton pigment ratios across aquatic environments. Eur. J. Phycol. 44, 319–330. https://doi.org/10.1080/09670260802618942
- Dodson, S.I., Arnott, S.E., Cottingham, K.L., 2000. The Relationship in Lake Communities between Primary Productivity and Species Richness. Ecology 81, 2662. doi:10.2307/177332
- Duffy, M.A., Sivars-Becker, L., 2007. Rapid evolution and ecological host-parasite dynamics: Rapid evolution and disease dynamics. Ecol. Lett. 10, 44–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00995.x
- Ebert, D., 2011. A genome for the environment. Science 331, 539–540.
- Eichenberg, D., Purschke, O., Ristok, C., Wessjohann, L., Bruelheide, H., 2015. Trade-offs between physical and chemical carbon-based leaf defence: of intraspecific

variation and trait evolution. J. Ecol. 103, 1667–1679. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12475

- Escoffier, N., Bernard, C., Hamlaoui, S., Groleau, A., Catherine, A., 2015. Quantifying phytoplankton communities using spectral fluorescence: the effects of species composition and physiological state. J. Plankton Res. 37, 233–247. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbu085
- Falconer, I.R., 2005. Is there a Human Health Hazard from Microcystins in the Drinking
 Water Supply? Acta Hydrochim. Hydrobiol. 33, 64–71.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/aheh.200300551
- Falconer, I.R., Burch, M.D., Steffensen, D.A., Choice, M., Coverdale, O.R., 1994. Toxicity of the blue-green alga (cyanobacterium)Microcystis aeruginosa in drinking water to growing pigs, as an animal model for human injury and risk assessment. Environ.
 Toxicol. Water Qual. 9, 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.2530090209
- Fietz, S., Nicklisch, A., 2004. An HPLC analysis of the summer phytoplankton assemblage in Lake Baikal. Freshw. Biol. 49, 332–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2004.01183.x
- Fink, P., Windisch, H.S., 2018. The essential omega-3 fatty acid EPA affects expression of genes involved in the metabolism of omega-6-derived eicosanoids in Daphnia magna. Hydrobiol. Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-018-3675-z
- Flöder, S., Sommer, U., 1999. Diversity in planktonic communities: An experimental test of the intermediate disturbance hypothesis. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44, 1114–1119. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1999.44.4.1114
- Fussmann, G.F., Loreau, M., Abrams, P.A., 2007. Eco-evolutionary dynamics of communities and ecosystems. Funct. Ecol. 21, 465–477. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01275.x

- Gaedke, U., Straile, D., 1998. Daphnids-Keystone species for the pelagic food web structure and energy flow: a body size-related analysis linking seasonal changes at the populationand ecosystem levels. Adv. Limnol. 53, 587–610.
- Garreta-Lara, E., Checa, A., Fuchs, D., Tauler, R., Lacorte, S., Wheelock, C.E., Barata, C., 2018. Effect of psychiatric drugs on Daphnia magna oxylipin profiles. Sci. Total Environ. 644, 1101–1109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.333
- Garridol, J.L., Zapata, M., 1993. High Performance Liquid Chromatography of Chlorophylls c3, Cl, c2 and a and of Carotenoids of Chromophyte Algae on a Polymeric Octadecyl Silica Column 35, 5.
- Ghalambor, C.K., McKay, J.K., Carroll, S.P., Reznick, D.N., 2007. Adaptive versus nonadaptive phenotypic plasticity and the potential for contemporary adaptation in new environments. Funct. Ecol. 21, 394–407. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01283.x
- Gieskes, W.W.C., Kraay, G.W., 1983. Dominance of Cryptophyceae during the phytoplankton spring bloom in the central North Sea detected by HPLC analysis of pigments. Mar. Biol. 75, 179–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00406000
- Goulden, C.E., Place, A.R., 1993. Lipid Accumulation and Allocation in Daphniid Cladocera. Bull. Mar. Sci. 53, 9.
- Gregor, J., Geriš, R., Maršálek, B., Heteša, J., Marvan, P., 2005. In situ Quantification of Phytoplankton in Reservoirs Using a Submersible Spectrofluorometer. Hydrobiologia 548, 141–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-005-4268-1
- Gregor, J., Maršálek, B., 2004. Freshwater phytoplankton quantification by chlorophyll a: a comparative study of in vitro, in vivo and in situ methods. Water Res. 38, 517– 522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2003.10.033

- Groendahl, S., Kahlert, M., Fink, P., 2017. The best of both worlds: A combined approach for analyzing microalgal diversity via metabarcoding and morphology-based methods.
 PLOS ONE 12, e0172808. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172808
- Hairston, N.G., Lampert, W., Cáceres, C.E., Holtmeier, C.L., Weider, L.J., Gaedke, U., Fischer,
 J.M., Fox, J.A., Post, D.M., 1999. Rapid evolution revealed by dormant eggs. Nature
 401, 446. https://doi.org/10.1038/46731
- Hammerstein, S.K., Stockenreiter, M., Stibor, H., 2017. Directed diversity manipulations within natural phytoplankton communities: Diversity gradients in phytoplankton. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 15, 653–662. https://doi.org/10.1002/lom3.10190
- Harrison, J.W., Howell, E.T., Watson, S.B., Smith, R.E.H., 2016. Improved estimates of phytoplankton community composition based on in situ spectral fluorescence: use of ordination and field-derived norm spectra for the bbe FluoroProbe. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 73, 1472–1482. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2015-0360
- Harrison, K.E., 1990. The role of nutrition in maturation, reproduction and embryonic development of decapod crustacean: a review. J. Shellfish Res. 9, 1–28.
- Haverkamp, T.H.A., Schouten, D., Doeleman, M., Wollenzien, U., Huisman, J., Stal, L.J., 2009. Colorful microdiversity of Synechococcus strains (picocyanobacteria) isolated from the Baltic Sea. ISME J. 3, 397–408. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2008.118
- Havskum, H., Schlüter, L., Scharek, R., Berdalet, E., Jacquet, S., 2004. Routine quantification of phytoplankton groups—microscopy or pigment analyses? Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 273, 31–42.

- Higgins, H.W., Wright, S.W., Schlüter, L., 2011. Quantitative interpretation of chemotaxonomic pigment data, in: Roy, S., Llewellyn, C., Egeland, E.S., Johnsen, G. (Eds.), Phytoplankton Pigments. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 257–313.
- Hooker, S.B., Van Heukelem, L., Thomas, C.S., Claustre, H., Ras, J., Barlow, R., Session, H.,
 Schlüter, L., Perl, J., Trees, C., Stuart, V., Head, E., Clementson, L., Fishwick, J.,
 Llewellyn, C., Aiken, J., 2005. The second SeaWiFS HPLC analysis round-robin
 experiment (SeaHARRE-2). NASA Tech. Memo, 212785, 124.
- Hazel, J.R., 1995. Thermal adaptation in biological membranes: is homeoviscous adaptation the explanation? Annu. Rev. Physiol. 57, 19–42.
- Heckmann, L.-H., Sibly, R.M., Connon, R., Hooper, H.L., Hutchinson, T.H., Maund, S.J., Hill,
 C.J., Bouetard, A., Callaghan, A., 2008a. Systems biology meets stress ecology:
 linking molecular and organismal stress responses in Daphnia magna. Genome
 Biol. 9, R40.
- Heckmann, L.-H., Sibly, R.M., Timmermans, M.J., Callaghan, A., 2008b. Outlining eicosanoid biosynthesis in the crustacean Daphnia. Front. Zool. 5, 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-9994-5-11
- Hietala, J., Lauren-Maatta, C., Walls, M., 1997. Sensitivity of Daphnia to toxic cyanobacteria: effects of genotype and temperature. Freshw. Biol. 37, 299–306. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.1997.d01-555.x
- Hillebrand, H., Dürselen, C.-D., Kirschtel, D., Pollingher, U., Zohary, T., 1999. Biovolume calculation for pelagic and benthic microalgae. J. Phycol. 35, 403–424.
- Holleley, C.E., Geerts, P.G., 2009. Multiplex Manager 1.0: a cross-platform computer program that plans and optimizes multiplex PCR. BioTechniques 46, 511–517. https://doi.org/10.2144/000113156

- Hooper, D.U., Adair, E.C., Cardinale, B.J., Byrnes, J.E.K., Hungate, B.A., Matulich, K.L., Gonzalez, A., Duffy, J.E., Gamfeldt, L., O'Connor, M.I., 2012. A global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. Nature 486, 105– 108. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11118
- Hu, S.S., Tessier, A.J., 1995. Seasonal Succession and the Strength of Intra- and Interspecific Competition in a Daphnia Assemblage. Ecology 76, 2278–2294. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941702
- Järvinen, M., Drakare, S., Free, G., Lyche-Solheim, A., Phillips, G., Skjelbred, B., Mischke, U.,
 Ott, I., Poikane, S., Søndergaard, M., Pasztaleniec, A., Van Wichelen, J., Portielje, R.,
 2013. Phytoplankton indicator taxa for reference conditions in Northern and
 Central European lowland lakes. Hydrobiologia 704, 97–113.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-012-1315-6
- Jeffrey, S.W., Wright, S.W., Zapata, M., 2011. Microalgal classes and their signature pigments, Phytoplankton Pigments: Characterization, Chemotaxonomy and Applications in Oceanography, Cambridge University Press, S Roy, C A. Llewellyn, ES Egeland and G Johnsen (ed), United Kingdom, pp. 3-77. ISBN 9780511732263 (2011)
- Jung, V., Violle, C., Mondy, C., Hoffmann, L., Muller, S., 2010. Intraspecific variability and trait-based community assembly: Intraspecific variability and community assembly. J. Ecol. 98, 1134–1140. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2010.01687.x
- Jurczak, T., Tarczynska, M., Izydorczyk, K., Mankiewicz, J., Zalewski, M., Meriluoto, J., 2005. Elimination of microcystins by water treatment processes—examples from Sulejow Reservoir, Poland. Water Res. 39, 2394–2406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.04.031

- Kainz, M., Arts, M.T., Mazumder, A., 2004. Essential fatty acids in the planktonic food web and their ecological role for higher trophic levels. Limnol. Oceanogr. 49, 1784– 1793.
- Kawecki, T.J., Ebert, D., 2004. Conceptual issues in local adaptation. Ecol. Lett. 7, 1225– 1241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00684.x
- Koch, U., von Elert, E., Straile, D., 2009. Food quality triggers the reproductive mode in the cyclical parthenogen Daphnia (Cladocera). Oecologia 159, 317–324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-008-1216-6
- Koreivienė, J., Anne, O., Kasperovičienė, J., Burškytė, V., 2014. Cyanotoxin management and human health risk mitigation in recreational waters. Environ. Monit. Assess. 186, 4443–4459. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-014-3710-0
- Koussoroplis, A.-M., Bec, A., Perga, M.-E., Koutrakis, E., Bourdier, G., Desvilettes, C., 2011. Fatty acid transfer in the food web of a coastal Mediterranean lagoon: Evidence for high arachidonic acid retention in fish. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 91, 450–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2010.11.010
- Kremer, C.T., Klausmeier, C.A., 2013. Coexistence in a variable environment: Ecoevolutionary perspectives. J. Theor. Biol. 339, 14–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2013.05.005
- Kuster, C.J., Schwarzenberger, A., von Elert, E., 2013. Seasonal dynamics of sestonic protease inhibition: impact on Daphnia populations. Hydrobiologia 715, 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-012-1303-x
- Lampert, W., Rothhaupt, K.O., 1991. Alternating dynamics of rotifers and Daphnia magna in a shallow lake. Arch. Für Hydrobiol. 120, 447–456.
- Lampert, W., Trubetskova, I., 1996. Juvenile Growth Rate as a Measure of Fitness in Daphnia. Funct. Ecol. 10, 631. https://doi.org/10.2307/2390173

- Lang, I., Hodac, L., Friedl, T., Feussner, I., 2011. Fatty acid profiles and their distribution patterns in microalgae: a comprehensive analysis of more than 2000 strains from the SAG culture collection. BMC Plant Biol. 11, 124.
- Latasa, M., 2007. Improving estimations of phytoplankton class abundances using CHEMTAX. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 329, 13–21. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps329013
- Latasa, M., Bidigare, R.R., Ondrusek, M.E., Kennicutt, M.C., 1996. HPLC analysis of algal pigments: a comparison exercise among laboratories and recommendations for improved analytical performance. Mar. Chem. 51, 315–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4203(95)00056-9
- Lauridsen, T.L., SchlüTer, L., Johansson, L.S., 2011. Determining algal assemblages in oligotrophic lakes and streams: comparing information from newly developed pigment/chlorophyll a ratios with direct microscopy: Comparison between algal pigments and microscopy. Freshw. Biol. 56, 1638–1651. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2011.02588.x
- Leibold, M.A., 1999. Biodiversity and nutrient enrichment in pond plankton communities. Evolutionary Ecology Research 1, 73–95.
- Leonard, A.E., Pereira, S.L., Sprecher, H., Huang, Y.-S., 2004. Elongation of long-chain fatty acids. Prog. Lipid Res. 43, 36–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-7827(03)00040-7
- Lewitus, A.J., White, D.L., Tymowski, R.G., Geesey, M.E., Hymel, S.N., Noble, P.A., 2005. Adapting the CHEMTAX method for assessing phytoplankton taxonomic composition in Southeastern U.S. estuaries. Estuaries 28, 160–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02732761

- Litchman, E., de Tezanos Pinto, P., Klausmeier, C.A., Thomas, M.K., Yoshiyama, K., 2010. Linking traits to species diversity and community structure in phytoplankton. Hydrobiologia 653, 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-010-0341-5
- Litchman, E., Klausmeier, C.A., 2008. Trait-Based Community Ecology of Phytoplankton. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 39, 615–639. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707.173549
- Litchman, E., Klausmeier, C.A., Schofield, O.M., Falkowski, P.G., 2007. The role of functional traits and trade-offs in structuring phytoplankton communities: scaling from cellular to ecosystem level. Ecol. Lett. 10, 1170–1181. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01117.x
- Litchman, E., Ohman, M.D., Kiørboe, T., 2013. Trait-based approaches to zooplankton communities. J. Plankton Res. 35, 473–484. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbt019
- Llewellyn, C.A., 2004. Phytoplankton community assemblage in the English Channel: a comparison using chlorophyll a derived from HPLC-CHEMTAX and carbon derived from microscopy cell counts. J. Plankton Res. 27, 103–119. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbh158
- Loreau, M., 2010. Linking biodiversity and ecosystems: towards a unifying ecological theory. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 365, 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0155
- Loreau, M., 2001. Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning: Current Knowledge and Future Challenges. Science 294, 804–808. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1064088
- Mackey, M., Mackey, D., Higgins, H., Wright, S., 1996. CHEMTAX a program for estimating class abundances from chemical markers:application to HPLC

measurements of phytoplankton. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 144, 265–283. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps144265

- Martin-Creuzburg, D., Oexle, S., Wacker, A., 2014. Thresholds for Sterol-Limited Growth of Daphnia magna: A Comparative Approach Using 10 Different Sterols. J. Chem. Ecol. 40, 1039–1050. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-014-0486-1
- Martin-Creuzburg, D., von Elert, E., Hoffmann, K.H., 2008. Nutritional constraints at the cyanobacteria—Daphnia magna interface: the role of sterols. Limnol. Oceanogr. 53, 456–468.
- Martin-Creuzburg, D., Wacker, A., Basena, T., 2010. Interactions between limiting nutrients: Consequences for somatic and population growth of *Daphnia magna*. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55, 2597–2607. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2010.55.6.2597
- Martin-Creuzburg, D., Wacker, A., von Elert, E., 2005. Life history consequences of sterol availability in the aquatic keystone species Daphnia. Oecologia 144, 362–372. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0090-8
- Masclaux, H., Bec, A., Kainz, M.J., PerrièRe, F., Desvilettes, C., Bourdier, G., 2012. Accumulation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by cladocerans: effects of taxonomy, temperature and food: Accumulation of PUFA by cladocerans. Freshw. Biol. 57, 696–703. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012.02735.x
- Mcdonald, J.H., 2009. Handbook of Biological Statistics, 2nd ed. Sparky House Publishing, Baltimore, Maryland.
- McGill, B.J., Enquist, B.J., Weiher, E., Westoby, M., 2006. Rebuilding community ecology from functional traits. Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 178–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.02.002
- Monod, J., 1950. La technique de culture continue, théorie et applications. Ann. Inst. Pasteur 79, 390–410.

- Müller-Navarra, D., Lampert, W., 1996. Seasonal patterns of food limitation in *Daphnia galeata* : separating food quantity and food quality effects. J. Plankton Res. 18, 1137–1157. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/18.7.1137
- Müller-Navarra, D.C., 2006. The nutritional importance of polyunsaturated fatty acids and their use as trophic markers for herbivorous zooplankton: Does it contradict? Arch. Für Hydrobiol. 167, 501–513. https://doi.org/10.1127/0003-9136/2006/0167-0501
- Müller-Navarra, D.C., 1995a. Biochemical versus mineral limitation in Daphnia. Limnol. Oceanogr. 40, 1209–1214.
- Müller-Navarra, D.C., 1995b. Evidence that a highly unsaturated fatty acid limits *Daphnia* growth in nature.
- Müller-Navarra, D.C., Brett, M.T., Liston, A.M., Goldman, C.R., 2000. A highly unsaturated fatty acid predicts carbon transfer between primary producers and consumers. Nature 403, 74–77. https://doi.org/10.1038/47469
- Naeem, S., Bunker, D.E., Hector, A., Loreau, M., Perrings, C., 2009. Biodiversity, Ecosystem Functioning, and Human Wellbeing. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199547951.001.0001
- Nürnberg, G.K., 1996. Trophic State of Clear and Colored, Soft- and Hardwater Lakes with Special Consideration of Nutrients, Anoxia, Phytoplankton and Fish. Lake Reserv. Manag. 12, 432–447. https://doi.org/10.1080/07438149609354283
- O'Neil, J.M., Davis, T.W., Burford, M.A., Gobler, C.J., 2012. The rise of harmful cyanobacteria blooms: The potential roles of eutrophication and climate change. Harmful Algae 14, 313–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2011.10.027
- Pajk, F., von Elert, E., Fink, P., 2012. Interaction of changes in food quality and temperature reveals maternal effects on fitness parameters of a keystone aquatic
herbivore. Limnol. Oceanogr. 57, 281–292. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2012.57.1.0281

- Park, S., Brett, M.T., Müller-Navarra, D.C., Goldman, C.R., 2002. Essential fatty acid content and the phosphorus to carbon ratio in cultured algae as indicators of food quality for Daphnia. Freshw. Biol. 47, 1377–1390.
- Pilotto, L., Hobson, P., Burch, M.D., Ranmuthugala, G., Attewell, R., Weightman, W., 2004.
 Acute skin irritant effects of cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) in healthy volunteers. Aust. N. Z. J. Public Health 28, 220–224. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-842X.2004.tb00699.x
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., R Core Team, 2016. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.2-128.
- Pinheiro, J.C., Bates, D.M., 2000. Mixed-effects models in S and S-PLUS. Springer, New York.
- Poxleitner, M., Trommer, G., Lorenz, P., Stibor, H., 2016. The effect of increased nitrogen load on phytoplankton in a phosphorus-limited lake. Freshw. Biol. 61, 1966– 1980. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12829
- Ptacnik, R., Lepistö, L., Willén, E., Brettum, P., Andersen, T., Rekolainen, S., Lyche Solheim,
 A., Carvalho, L., 2008. Quantitative responses of lake phytoplankton to eutrophication in Northern Europe. Aquat. Ecol. 42, 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-008-9181-z
- R Core Team, 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Ravet, J.L., Brett, M.T., 2006. Phytoplankton essential fatty acid and phosphorus content constraints on Daphnia somatic growth and reproduction. Limnol. Oceanogr. 51, 2438–2452.

- Ravet, J.L., Brett, M.T., Müller-Navarra, D.C., 2003. A test of the role of polyunsaturated fatty acids in phytoplankton food quality for Daphnia using liposome supplementation. Limnol. Oceanogr. 48, 1938–1947.
- Ravet, J.L., Persson, J., Brett, M.T., 2012. Threshold dietary polyunsaturated fatty acid concentrations for Daphnia pulex growth and reproduction. Inland Waters 2, 199–209. https://doi.org/10.5268/IW-2.4.546
- Redfield, A.C., 1958. The biological control of chemical factors in the environment. Am. Sci. 46, 230A–221.
- Reusch, T.B.H., 2005. Does disturbance enhance genotypic diversity in clonal organisms?
 A field test in the marine angiosperm Zostera marina: EFFECTS OF
 DISTURBANCE ON CLONAL DIVERSITY. Mol. Ecol. 15, 277–286.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2005.02779.x
- Reynolds, C.S., Huszar, V., Kruk, C., Naselli-Flores, L., Melo, S., 2002. Towards a functional classification of the freshwater phytoplankton. J. Plankton Res. 24, 417–428.
- Richardson, T.L., Lawrenz, E., Pinckney, J.L., Guajardo, R.C., Walker, E.A., Paerl, H.W., MacIntyre, H.L., 2010. Spectral fluorometric characterization of phytoplankton community composition using the Algae Online Analyser®. Water Res. 44, 2461– 2472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.01.012
- Rogers, J.E., Marcovich, D., 2007. A simple method for the extraction and quantification of photopigments from Symbiodinium spp. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 353, 191–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2007.08.022

RStudio Team, 2016. RStudio: Integrated Development for R. RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA.

Sargent, J., Bell, G., McEvoy, L., Tocher, D., Estevez, A., 1999. Recent developments in the essential fatty acid nutrition of fish. Aquaculture 177, 191–199.

- Sarmento, H., Descy, J.-P., 2008. Use of marker pigments and functional groups for assessing the status of phytoplankton assemblages in lakes. J. Appl. Phycol. 20, 1001–1011. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-007-9294-0
- Schlechtriem, C., Arts, M.T., Zellmer, I.D., 2006. Effect of temperature on the fatty acid composition and temporal trajectories of fatty acids in fasting Daphnia pulex (Crustacea, Cladocera). Lipids 41, 397–400.
- Schlotz, N., Pester, M., Freese, H.M., Martin-Creuzburg, D., 2014. A dietary polyunsaturated fatty acid improves consumer performance during challenge with an opportunistic bacterial pathogen. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 90, 467–477. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12407
- Schlotz, N., Roulin, A., Ebert, D., Martin-Creuzburg, D., 2016. Combined effects of dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids and parasite exposure on eicosanoid-related gene expression in an invertebrate model. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 201, 115–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.07.008
- Schlotz, N., Sørensen, J.G., Martin-Creuzburg, D., 2012. The potential of dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids to modulate eicosanoid synthesis and reproduction in Daphnia magna: A gene expression approach. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 162, 449–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2012.05.004
- Schlüter, L., Behl, S., Striebel, M., Stibor, H., 2016. Comparing microscopic counts and pigment analyses in 46 phytoplankton communities from lakes of different trophic state. Freshw. Biol. 61, 1627–1639. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12803
- Schlüter, L., Lauridsen, T.L., Krogh, G., Jorgensen, T., 2006. Identification and quantification of phytoplankton groups in lakes using new pigment ratios – a comparison between pigment analysis by HPLC and microscopy. Freshw. Biol. 51, 1474–1485. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2006.01582.x

- Shannon, C.E., Weaver, W., 1949. The Mathematical Theory of Information. University of Illinois Press, Urbana, Illinois
- Schmitz, G., Ecker, J., 2008. The opposing effects of n–3 and n–6 fatty acids. Prog. Lipid Res. 47, 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2007.12.004
- Schreiber, U., 1998. Chlorophyll fluorescence: New Instruments for Special Applications,
 in: Garab, G. (Ed.), Photosynthesis: Mechanisms and Effects. Springer
 Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 4253–4258. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-0113953-3_984
- Sikora, A.B., Petzoldt, T., Dawidowicz, P., von Elert, E., 2016. Demands of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) in Daphnia: are they dependent on body size? Oecologia 182, 405–417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-016-3675-5
- Simmons, L.J., Sandgren, C.D., Berges, J.A., 2016. Problems and pitfalls in using HPLC pigment analysis to distinguish Lake Michigan phytoplankton taxa. J. Gt. Lakes Res. 42, 397–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2015.12.006
- Smyntek, P.M., Teece, M.A., Schulz, K.L., Storch, A.J., 2008. Taxonomic differences in the essential fatty acid composition of groups of freshwater zooplankton relate to reproductive demands and generation time. Freshw. Biol. 53, 1768–1782. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2008.02001.x
- Sommer, U., Gliwicz, M.Z., Lampert, W., Duncan, A., 1986. The PEG-model of seasonal succession of planktonic events in fresh waters. Arch Hydrobiol 106, 433–471.
- Sperfeld, E., Raubenheimer, D., Wacker, A., 2016. Bridging factorial and gradient concepts of resource co-limitation: towards a general framework applied to consumers. Ecol. Lett. 19, 201–215. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12554
- Sperfeld, E., Wacker, A., 2012. Temperature affects the limitation of Daphnia magna by eicosapentaenoic acid, and the fatty acid composition of body tissue and eggs:

Temperature and EPA effects on Daphnia. Freshw. Biol. 57, 497–508. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2011.02719.x

- Sperfeld, E., Wacker, A., 2011a. Temperature- and cholesterol-induced changes in eicosapentaenoic acid limitation of *Daphnia magna* determined by a promising method to estimate growth saturation thresholds. Limnol. Oceanogr. 56, 1273–1284. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2011.56.4.1273
- Sperfeld, E., Wacker, A., 2011b. Temperature- and cholesterol-induced changes in eicosapentaenoic acid limitation of *Daphnia magna* determined by a promising method to estimate growth saturation thresholds. Limnol. Oceanogr. 56, 1273– 1284. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2011.56.4.1273
- Stanley, D.W., 2000. Eicosanoids in invertebrate signal transduction systems. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.
- Stanley-Samuelson, D.W., 1994. The biological significance of prostaglandins and related eicosanoids in invertebrates. Am. Zool. 34, 589–598.
- Stanley-Samuelson, D.W., Jurenka, R.A., Loher, W., Blomquist, G.J., 1987. Metabolism of polyunsaturated fatty acids by larvae of the waxmoth, Galleria mellonella. Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol. 6, 141–149.
- Sterner, R.W., Hagemeier, D.D., Smith, W.L., Smith, R.F., 1993. Phytoplankton nutrient limitation and food quality for Daphnia. Limnol. Oceanogr. 38, 857–871.
- Stockenreiter, M., Haupt, F., Graber, A.-K., Seppälä, J., Spilling, K., Tamminen, T., Stibor, H., 2013. Functional group richness: implications of biodiversity for light use and lipid yield in microalgae. J. Phycol. n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpy.12092
- Stoks, R., Govaert, L., Pauwels, K., Jansen, B., De Meester, L., 2016. Resurrecting complexity: the interplay of plasticity and rapid evolution in the multiple trait

response to strong changes in predation pressure in the water flea *Daphnia magna*. Ecol. Lett. 19, 180–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12551

- Stoń-Egiert, J., Kosakowska, A., 2005. RP-HPLC determination of phytoplankton pigments—comparison of calibration results for two columns. Mar. Biol. 147, 251–260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-004-1551-z
- Striebel, M., Behl, S., Diehl, S., Stibor, H., 2009a. Spectral Niche Complementarity and Carbon Dynamics in Pelagic Ecosystems. Am. Nat. 174, 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1086/599294
- Striebel, M., Behl, S., Stibor, H., 2009b. The Coupling of Biodiversity and Productivity in Phytoplankton Communities: Consequences for Biomass Stoichiometry. Ecology 90, 2025–2031.
- Stross, R.G., Hill, J.C., 1965. Diapause induction in Daphnia requires two stimuli. Science 150, 1462–1464.
- Taipale, S.J., Kainz, M.J., Brett, M.T., 2011. Diet-switching experiments show rapid accumulation and preferential retention of highly unsaturated fatty acids in Daphnia. Oikos 120, 1674–1682. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2011.19415.x
- Underwood, A.J., 1997. Experiments in Ecology: Their Logical Design and Interpretation Using Analysis of Variance. Cambridge University Press.
- Urabe, J., Clasen, J., Sterner, R.W., 1997. Phosphorus limitation of Daphnia growth: Is it real? Limnol. Oceanogr. 42, 1436–1443.
- Valentine, R.C., Valentine, D.L., 2004. Omega-3 fatty acids in cellular membranes: a unified concept. Prog. Lipid Res. 43, 383–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2004.05.004

- Van Doorslaer, W., Stoks, R., Swillen, I., Feuchtmayr, H., Atkinson, D., Moss, B., De Meester, L., 2010. Experimental thermal microevolution in communityembedded Daphnia populations. Clim. Res. 43, 81–89. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00894
- Van Heukelem, L., Thomas, C.S., 2001. Computer-assisted high-performance liquid chromatography method development with applications to the isolation and analysis of phytoplankton pigments. J. Chromatogr. A 910, 31–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4347(00)00603-4
- Violle, C., Enquist, B.J., McGill, B.J., Jiang, L., Albert, C.H., Hulshof, C., Jung, V., Messier, J.,
 2012. The return of the variance: intraspecific variability in community ecology.
 Trends Ecol. Evol. 27, 244–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.11.014
- Violle, C., Jiang, L., 2009. Towards a trait-based quantification of species niche. J. Plant Ecol. 2, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtp007
- Violle, C., Navas, M.-L., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I., Garnier, E., 2007. Let the concept of trait be functional! Oikos 116, 882–892. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2007.0030-1299.15559.x
- von Elert, E., 2004. Food quality constraints in Daphnia: interspecific differences in the response to the absence of a long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid in the food source. Hydrobiologia 526, 187–196.
- von Elert, E., 2002. Determination of limiting polyunsaturated fatty acids in Daphnia galeata using a new method to enrich food algae with single fatty acids. Limnol. Oceanogr. 47, 1764–1773.
- von Elert, E., Jüttner, F., 1997. Phosphorus limitation and not light controls the extracellular release of allelopathic compounds by Trichormus doliolum (Cyanobacteria). Limnol. Oceanogr. 42, 1796–1802.

- von Elert, E., Martin-Creuzburg, D., Le Coz, J.R., 2003. Absence of sterols constrains carbon transfer between cyanobacteria and a freshwater herbivore (Daphnia galeata). Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 270, 1209–1214.
- Wacker, A., von Elert, E., 2001. Polyunsaturated fatty acids: evidence for nonsubstitutable biochemical resources in Daphnia galeata. Ecology 82, 2507–2520.
- Weers, P., Siewertsen, K., Gulati, R., 1997. Is the fatty acid composition of *Daphnia galeata* determined by the fatty acid composition of the ingested diet? Freshw.
 Biol. 38, 731–738. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.1997.00238.x
- Weider, L.J., Makino, W., Acharya, K., Glenn, K.L., Kyle, M., Urabe, J., Elser, J.J., 2005.
 Genotype × environment interactions, stoichiometric food quality effects, and clonal coexistence in Daphnia pulex. Oecologia 143, 537–547.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0003-x
- Werner, C., Ilic, M., von Elert, E., 2018. Differences in heat tolerance within a Daphnia magna population: the significance of body PUFA content. Hydrobiologia. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-018-3769-7
- White, J.D., Kaul, R.B., Knoll, L.B., Wilson, A.E., Sarnelle, O., 2011. Large variation in vulnerability to grazing within a population of the colonial phytoplankter, *Microcystis aeruginosa*. Limnol. Oceanogr. 56, 1714–1724. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2011.56.5.1714
- Windisch, H.S., Fink, P., 2018. The molecular basis of essential fatty acid limitation in *Daphnia magna*: A transcriptomic approach. Mol. Ecol. 27, 871–885. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14498
- Yentsch, C.S., Menzel, D.W., 1963. A method for the determination of phytoplankton chlorophyll and phaeophytin by fluorescence, in: Deep Sea Research and Oceanographic Abstracts. Elsevier, pp. 221–231.

- Yentsch, C.S., Phinney, D.A., 1985. Spectral fluorescence: an ataxonomic tool for studying the structure of phytoplankton populations. J. Plankton Res. 7, 617–632. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/7.5.617
- Zamyadi, A., Choo, F., Newcombe, G., Stuetz, R., Henderson, R.K., 2016. A review of monitoring technologies for real-time management of cyanobacteria: Recent advances and future direction. TrAC Trends Anal. Chem. 85, 83–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2016.06.023
- Zehnder, A., Gorham, P.R., 1960. Factors influencing the growth of Microcystis aeruginosa Kütz. Emend. Elenkin. Can. J. Microbiol. 6, 645–660. https://doi.org/10.1139/m60-077
- Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Walker, N.J., Saveliev, A.A., Smith, G.M., 2009. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R, Statistics for biology and health. Springer, New York, NY.







Fig. S1: Map of (a) Bavaria, a federal state in the south of Germany, and counties Rosenheim and Traunstein, which are situated in Upper Bavaria, with (b) location of sampling sites of the present thesis: oligotrophic (1) lake Brunnsee, (2) oligo-mesotrophic lake Klostersee and (3) mesotrophic lake Thalersee. (4) Lake Chiemsee (not part of the thesis) is the largest lake in this region (7990.0 ha).



Fig. S2: Somatic growth rate g (d⁻¹) of (a) *Daphnia pulex* (not egg-bearing, sampled after 6 days) and (b) *Daphnia magna* (not egg-bearing; sampled after 7 days) grown on *Acutodesmus obliquus* supplemented with different amounts (µg mg POC⁻¹; particulate organic carbon) of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, green circles) or arachidonic acid (ARA, pink circles). Solid (EPA) and dashed (ARA) growth saturation curves for *D. magna* (panel b) are based on modified Monod functions (nonlinear least-square fits, Eq. 3). Vertical lines (panel b; green solid: EPA, pink dashed: ARA) indicate half saturation constant K_S (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹) for EPA- or ARA-limited growth of *D. magna*. Saturation curves fitted through the growth rate data of *D. magna* (panel b) explained 58.93% and 50.12% of variance (adjusted R^2) for the EPA- and ARA-limited growth, respectively. The somatic growth rate of *D. pulex* did not show clear patterns along the concentration gradient of EPA and ARA, therefore, saturation curves were not fitted through the data. n = 30 for EPA (both species) and n = 29 for ARA (both species). Summary of the panel b can be found in Tab. S1.

Tab. S1: Mean somatic growth rate g_0 (d⁻¹) of *D. magna* (not egg-bearing, sampled after 7 days) grown on *A. obliquus* without C₂₀-PUFA supplementation (*n*=3); asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} (d⁻¹), half-saturation constant K_S (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹) and the corresponding adjusted R^2 derived from the saturation curve (nonlinear least-square fit using a modified Monod function) describing the EPA- and ARA-limited growth of *D. magna*. Total *n* refers to the total number of data points used to fit the saturation curves (10 different experimental concentrations of EPA or ARA in triplicates, i.e. max. 30 data points). This data corresponds to the plot in Fig. S1, panel b.

	Daphnia magna		
	ARA	EPA	
Total <i>n</i>	29	30	
$g_0(d^{-1})$	0.411	0.411	
$g_\infty(d^{\text{-1}})$	0.477	0.487	
<i>K</i> s (μg PUFA mg POC ⁻¹)	1.494	1.962	
Adjusted R ²	0.501	0.589	
Increase from g_0 to g_∞	14 %	16 %	

Fig. S3: Adjusted R^2 as a measure for the proportion of variance explained by the saturation curves (nonlinear least-square fits using a modified Monod function, Eq. 3) fitted through the bootstrapped growth rate data of (a) *D. pulex* (egg-bearing, sampled after 7 days, see Fig. 2.1a, (b) *D. magna* (egg-bearing, sampled after 8 days, see Fig. 2.1b) and (c) *D. magna* (not egg-bearing, sampled after 7 days, see Fig. S2b). Adjusted R^2 is plotted against the asymptotic growth rate g_{∞} (d⁻¹). The color gradient is representing the half-saturation constant K_s (in µg PUFA mg POC⁻¹). G_{∞} and K_s were predicted from the Monod model describing the EPA- and ARA-limited growth of *Daphnia* species.









Tab. S2: Final output pigment : chlorophyll *a* ratio matrix, derived from CHEMTAX runs. Allo: alloxanthin, Chl *b*: chlorophyll *b*, Echi: echinenone, Fuco: fucoxanthin, Lut: lutein, Peri: peridinin, Zea: zeaxanthin.

	Allo	Chl b	Echi	Fuco	Lut	Peri	Zea
Chlorophytes	0	0.307	0	0	0.147	0	0.001
Cryptophytes	0.111	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cyanobacteria	0	0	0.066	0	0	0	0.461
Chrysophytes	0	0	0	0.159	0	0	< 0.001
Diatoms	0	0	0	0.317	0	0	0.004
Dinoflagellates	0	0	0	0	0	0.337	0

Tab. S3: Results from one-way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis test (KW) testing for differences in *Daphnia* community composition (given as relative abundances of the genotypes KL14, KL83 and KL93) between the treatments (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community, IP levels given in μ l). Tests were performed for days 56 (four weeks after *Daphnia* introduction, corresponding to approx. 2 generation cycles), 77 (seven weeks after *Daphnia* introduction; here, the average *Daphnia* abundance in the mesocosms dropped below 5 ind L⁻¹) and 98 (ten weeks after *Daphnia* introduction; last day of the experiment). * if ANOVA was performed, the value given in the column *F* or *X*² is *F* with degrees of freedom (*df*) = 2 (effect) and 6 (residuals); if Kruskal-Wallis test was performed, *X*² with *df* = 2 is given. Significant tests are given in bold (*p* < 0.05).

Day of experiment	IP level (µl)	Test*	<i>F</i> or <i>X</i> ²	р
	1		1.04	0.224
	1	ANOVA	1.94	0.224
	10	ANOVA	68.64	< 0.001
56	100	ANOVA	6.39	< 0.05
	1000	ANOVA	36.00	< 0.001
	10000	ANOVA	7.64	< 0.05
	1	KW	5.84	0.054
	10	KW	6.34	< 0.05
77	100	KW	5.63	0.060
	1000	KW	6.34	< 0.05
	10000	KW	4.58	0.101
98	1	KW	5.60	0.061
	10	ANOVA	18.38	< 0.01
	100	KW	6.74	< 0.05
	1000	KW	4.32	0.115
	10000	KW	2.90	0.234



Fig. S4: Parameters describing the physiological state of the phytoplankton communities within the mesocosm tanks over the entire duration of the experiment: (A) chlorophyll *a* fluorescence yield in the quasi-dark state (F₀), (B) maximum fluorescence yield measured during the last saturating light pulse triggered (F_m'), (C) yield of the photosystem II (φ_{PSII}) and (D) relative electron transport rate (ETR). Given are means per treatment (i.e. volume of initial phytoplankton community, for legend see Fig. 4.5). Error bars represent the standard deviation.



Fig. S5: Correlation between chlorophyll *a* fluorescence yield in the quasi-dark state (F_0), measured with Water-PAM, and chlorophyll *a* concentration (μ g L⁻¹), measured with the TD-700 Laboratory Fluorometer. We found a highly significant linear relationship (solid line) between these two variables ($R^2 = 0.7577$, p < 0.001).



Fig. S6: Relative abundance (%) of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14 (turquoise), KL83 (orange) and KL93 (purple) on day 56 plotted against the absolute amounts (in μ g mg POC⁻¹) of ω 3-PUFAs ALA (panel A), EPA (panel C) and DHA (panel D) and of ω 6-PUFA ARA (panel B) on day 28 (start of the grazing phase). The time delay of four weeks was chosen to test for a response of the *Daphnia* community to the initial fatty acid content at the beginning of the grazing phase. Four weeks correspond to approx. two generations of *Daphnia* life cycle. Dashed lines represent a non-significant relationship. Depicted are raw values for every mesocosm (*n* = 15 for each genotype). Results from the linear regression analyses can be found in Tab. S4.

Tab. S4: Results from linear regression analyses. Abbreviations: *y*: response variable, i.e. relative abundance (%) of *D. longispina* genotypes KL14, KL83 and KL93 on day 56 (four weeks after *Daphnia* introduction, approx. 2 generation cycles); *x*: independent variable, i.e. absolute abundance of the ω 3-PUFAs ALA, EPA and DHA and the ω 6-PUFA ARA in the seston on day 28 (start of the grazing phase); *a*: y-axis intercept; *b*: slope of the regression line; *R*²: proportion of variance explained by the linear regression, *p*: *p*-value of the linear regression. Significant relationships are given in bold (*p* < 0.05). Visual representation of the data can be found in Fig. S6.

X	а	b	R ²	р
A T A	16.88	-0.02	0.00	0.94
C18:3 ω3	26.60	-0.36	0.14	0.17
(µg mg POC ⁻¹)	56.51	0.38	0.08	0.31
	12.93	2.39	0.04	0.50
EPA C20:5 ω3	15.68	2.67	0.05	0.45
(µg mg POC ⁻¹)	71.39	-5.06	0.08	0.29
DUA	10.83	4.88	0.21	0.08
DHA C22:6 ω3	18.14	1.32	0.02	0.66
(μg mg POC ⁻¹)	71.03	-6.20	0.18	0.12
ARA	16.15	0.60	0.00	0.95
C20:4 ω6	12.00	13.09	0.17	0.13
(µg IIIg POC *)	71.85	-13.69	0.10	0.26
	x ALA C18:3 ω3 (μg mg POC ⁻¹) EPA C20:5 ω3 (μg mg POC ⁻¹) DHA C22:6 ω3 (μg mg POC ⁻¹) ARA C20:4 ω6 (μg mg POC ⁻¹)	x a ALA C18:3 ω3 (µg mg POC ⁻¹) 16.88 26.60 26.51 56.51 12.93 EPA C20:5 ω3 (µg mg POC ⁻¹) 15.68 C20:5 ω3 (µg mg POC ⁻¹) 10.83 DHA C22:6 ω3 (µg mg POC ⁻¹) 10.83 DHA C20:4 ω6 (µg mg POC ⁻¹) 16.15 ARA C20:4 ω6 (µg mg POC ⁻¹) 12.00 71.85 12.00	xabALA C18:3 ω 3 (µg mg POC-1)16.88-0.02ALA C18:3 ω 3 (µg mg POC-1)26.60-0.3656.510.380.38EPA C20:5 ω 3 (µg mg POC-1)12.932.39EPA C20:5 ω 3 (µg mg POC-1)15.682.6771.39-5.0610.834.88BHA C22:6 ω 3 (µg mg POC-1)10.834.88BHA C22:6 ω 3 (µg mg POC-1)16.150.60ARA C20:4 ω 6 (µg mg POC-1)16.150.60ARA C20:4 ω 6 (µg mg POC-1)13.0971.85-13.69	xab R^2 ALA C18:3 ω 3 (μ g mg POC^{-1})16.88 26.60-0.020.00ALA C18:3 ω 3 (μ g mg POC^{-1})26.60 56.51-0.360.1456.510.380.08EPA C20:5 ω 3 (μ g mg POC^{-1})12.93 15.682.39 2.390.04EPA C20:5 ω 3 (μ g mg POC^{-1})11.83 18.142.67 0.050.08DHA C22:6 ω 3 (μ g mg POC^{-1})10.83 71.034.88 -6.200.21 0.18DHA C20:4 ω 6 (μ g mg POC^{-1})16.15 71.850.60 -0.000.00 0.17 71.85

Record of achievement

Chapter 1: Determination of phytoplankton biodiversity in lakes of different trophic state through pigment and fluorescence proxies

The mesocosm experiment described in this chapter was performed by me and Sara K. Hammerstein (PhD student at the Ludwig-Maximilians-University (LMU), Munich, Germany) as a part of the collaboration project "DYNATLOSS" within the priority programme "DynaTrait". My supervisor Patrick Fink, Maria Stockenreiter (LMU, Munich, Germany), Herwig Stibor (LMU, Munich, Germany) and Sara K. Hammerstein were involved in the design of the experiment. Sara K. Hammerstein was responsible for the usage of Algae Lab Analyzer, while all other laboratory analyses, including the development of a method for pigment extraction and identification via HPLC, were performed at the University of Cologne by me or under my direct supervision. Statistical analyses were performed exclusively by me.

Chapter 2: Equal relevance of omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids for the fitness of *Daphnia* spp.

The experiments described in this chapter were performed exclusively by me or under my direct supervision. Patrick Fink was involved in the design of the experiments. Christian Werner (PhD student, University of Cologne, Germany) was involved in the development of the R-code for the Monod model. All other statistical analyses were performed exclusively by me.

Chapter 3: Intrapopulation variability in a functional trait: susceptibility of *Daphnia* to limitation by dietary fatty acids

The experiments described in this chapter were performed exclusively by me or under my direct supervision. Statistical analyses were performed exclusively by me. Patrick Fink was involved in the design of the experiment.

Chapter 4: Effects of phytoplankton diversity on intraspecific competition in *Daphnia* – The role of essential dietary fatty acids

The experiment and the laboratory analyses described in this chapter were performed exclusively by me or under my direct supervision. Statistical analyses were performed exclusively by me. Patrick Fink was involved in the design of the experiment.

List of publications

¹<u>Ilić, M.</u>, Walden, S., Hammerstein, S. K., Stockenreiter, M., Stibor, H. and Fink, P. (2019): Determination of phytoplankton biodiversity in lakes of different trophic state through pigment and fluorescence proxies. *In preparation.*

²<u>Ilić, M.</u>, C. Werner and Fink, P. (2019): Equal relevance of omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids for the fitness of *Daphnia* spp.. *Limnology and Oceanography*.

³<u>Ilić, M.</u> and Fink, P. (2019): Intrapopulation variability in a functional trait: susceptibility of *Daphnia* to limitation by dietary fatty acids. *Freshwater Biology (under review).*

⁴<u>Ilić, M.</u> and Fink, P. (2019): Effects of phytoplankton diversity on intraspecific competition in *Daphnia* – The role of essential dietary fatty acids. *In preparation*.

¹Chapter 1

²Chapter 2

³Chapter 3

⁴Chapter 4

Acknowledgements

An erster Stelle möchte ich mich bei meinem Betreuer **PD Dr. Patrick Fink** bedanken. Ich kann es gar nicht in Worte fassen, wie sehr ich Dir für Deine Unterstützungung während der letzten 4.5 Jahre dankbar bin. Du hast von Anfang an an mich geglaubt und mich immer aufgemuntert, wenn ich nicht mehr weiter wusste. Ich habe von Dir so viel gelernt, nicht nur im Bezug auf meine Doktoarbeit, sondern auch im Bezug auf Betreuung, Organisation, Vernetzung und alles was so zum Leben und Arbeiten eines leidenschaftlichen Wissenschaftlers gehört. Ich bin Dir auch dafür dankbar, dass ich Dich immer um einen Rat fragen konnte und Du Dir gerne für jegliche "dummen" Fragen meinerseits immer Zeit genommen hast. Einen besseren Betreuer kann ich mir gar nicht vorstellen. Mit Dir war alles immer "Prima!" ③

Mein großer Dank gilt auch **Prof. Dr. Eric von Elert** für die freundliche Aufnahme in seine Arbeitsgruppe. Außerdem danke ich Dir für ein offenes Ohr und die kompetente Unterstützung während meiner gesamten Doktorandenzeit.

Ich möchte mich auch bei meinen Thesis Committee Mitgliedern **Prof. Dr. Markus Weitere** und **Prof. Dr. Herwig Stibor** bedanken, für die Unterstützung und großes Interesse an meiner Arbeit. Außerdem danke ich **Dr. Maria Stockenreiter** für die tolle Zeit in Seeon und ihre Hilfsbereitschaft sowie dafür, dass sie und Herwig in mir das Potential gesehen haben und mich als Patrick's Doktorandin in ihr gemeinsames Projekt aufgenommen haben.

Ich möchte mich herzlichst bei **Dr. Anke Schwarzenberger, Dr. Christoph Effertz, Dr. Thomas Sadler, Dr. Mark Christjani** sowie **Dr. Jana Mölzner** und **Dr. Sophie Gröndahl** bedanken. Ihr alle wart eine große Unterstützung während meiner Anfangzeit in Köln und habt mich so viel tolles belehrt. Ich habe die Zeit mit euch allen sehr genossen! Ich möchte auch unbedingt dem Chris und seiner Band "Reason for Erection" für die tollen Rock-Abende danken! My beloved **Ecological Sisters Alessandra Iannino, Stephanie Trench Fiol** and **Jessica Titocci**, I thank you soooo much for all your support and nice time we had with each other. You were there for me when I needed it so much! I am happy that we will have the chance to spend some time together in the beautiful Puerto Rico!

Mein Großer Dank gilt **Heidi Windisch** und **Timm Reinhardt**. Ihr gehört zu den tollsten Kollegen, die man sich nur wünschen kann! Ich werde unsere Zeit auf Hawaii nie vergessen und bin euch beiden dankbar für die tolle gemeinsame Zeit in Köln sowie eure Hilfsbereitschaft, sowohl im beruflichen als auch im privaten Sinne. Timm, Du hast mich in den letzten Zügen meiner Doktorarbeit wirklich gerettet! Dankeschön auch an **Matthias Schott**, für seine kompetente Hilfsbereitschaft bei der Analytik und R. Ich hätte so gerne mehr von Dir gelernt!

Ein großes Danke auch an **Thomas von Einem**, der trotz meiner komischen Launen immer ein sehr netter, hilfsbereiter und fröhlicher Kollege war! Natürlich ein riesiges Dankeschön an die beste Mitbewohnerin der Welt, **Katja Preuß.** Ich bin Dir so dankbar, dass ich in Deinem wunderschönem Häuschen wohnen durfte und vermisse jetzt schon unsere Tee-Abende und all die tollen und lehrreichen Gespräche.

Ich möchte mich außerdem bei meinen "Doktoronkeln" und "Doktortanten" **Christian Bubu Burberg, Jacqueline Lange, Sandra Klinthworth, Meike Hahn** und **Christian Werner** bedanken. Danke, für die tollen meist wissenschaftlichen Gespräche, das Einspringen wenn man mal in den Urlaub fahren möchte, die lustigen Videoabende und vorallem für das Mauerbier! Jeder von euch ist was besonderes und hat mich auf seine Art und Weise unterstützt und auch geprägt. Liebe Sandra, Dir danke ich soooo sehr für die tollen Kicker-Abende, und Dir Meike, für einfach alles. Mit Dir hat sich Köln wie Zuhause angefühlt. Ein Dankeschön auch an **Lisa Blümel** und **Kerstin Vasters** für die tolle gemeinsame Zeit!

An alle meine Studenten und HiWis - **Susanne Walden, Julius Krause, Sina Brehm, Nadja Bogodukhova, Sebastian Kallabis, Daniel Schäfer, Gerry Bennertz** und **Emma Gosselin** - ihr seid die wahren Helden. Ohne euch wäre diese Arbeit nie und nimmer möglich gewesen. Ich bin euch für alles so unglaublich dankbar! Ein riesiges Danke an meine Freunde **Aurica Niederelz, Nicole Roth** und **Yahya Yüksel, Barbara** und **Kathi Kraatz, Corina Peter, Maximilian Landshammer, Dominik Košćica, Anita Ćubić** und **Jelena Čop**, dafür, dass ihr in den guten und in den schlechten Zeiten immer für mich da wart. Ich bin froh, euch alle in meinem Leben zu haben.

Mein größter Dank gilt meinen Eltern **Sandra** und **Predrag Oršulić**, meinem Bruderherz **Dominik Oršulić** und meinen Großeltern **Mandica** und **Marijan Čehulić** für ihre finanzielle und mentale Unterstützung über die ganzen Jahre. Danke, dass ihr an mich geglaubt habt!

Zu guter letzt, ein riesiges Dankeschön an **Michelle Etienne** und **Filip Košćica.** Ohne euch hätte ich diese stressige Zeit am Ende meiner Doktorarbeit nie überstanden. Ich kann euch gar nicht sagen, wie sehr mir eure Freundschaft und Unterstützung bedeuten. Ich liebe euch beide so sehr und bin so froh, euch zu haben!

Köln, 11.07.2019

Erklärung

Ich versichere, dass ich die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation selbständig angefertigt, die benutzten Quellen und Hilfsmittel vollständig angegeben und die Stellen der Arbeit – einschließlich Tabellen, Karten und Abbildungen –, die anderen Werken im Wortlaut oder dem Sinn nach entnommen sind, in jedem Einzelfall als Entlehnung kenntlich gemacht habe; dass diese Dissertation noch keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität zur Prüfung vorgelegen hat; dass sie – abgesehen von unten angegebenen Teilpublikationen – noch nicht veröffentlicht worden ist, sowie, dass ich eine solche Veröffentlichung vor Abschluss des Promotionsverfahrens nicht vornehmen werde.

Die Bestimmungen der Promotionsordnung sind mir bekannt. Die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation ist von PD Dr. Patrick Fink betreut worden.

Maja Ilić

Curriculum vitae

Persönliches

Name:	Maja Ilić
Geburtsdatum/-ort:	05.07.1989 in Rijeka, Kroatien
Nationalität:	Kroatisch
Familienstand:	ledig
Studium	
2014 -	Promotion Biologie, Universität zu Köln
	Titel: "Effects of natural phytoplankton trait diversity on
	Daphnia <i>spp."</i> (in Englisch)
2012 - 2014	M.Sc. in Biologie, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität, München
	Titel: "Nutrient limitation patterns under increased
	phosphorus limitation in two Bavarian lakes" (in Englisch)
2009 – 2012	B.Sc. in Biologie, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität, München Titel: "Mapping of the Arabidopsis thaliana line rls716 and phenotypic characterization of rls (relaxed LHCB suppression) mutants rls83, rls145, rls148C, rls255B, rls272, rls280A and rls374" (in Deutsch)
2004 – 2009	Rupprecht-Gymnasium in München Oberstufenprogramm: Naturwissenschaften

Berufliche Erfahrung

Mär 2019 – heute	Data Analyst/R Programmierer in Fisheries Science		
	Computation an der Queen's University Belfast		
0kt 2017 – Mär 2018	Wissenschaftliche Mitarbeiterin an der Heinrich-Heine-		
	Universität, Düsseldorf		

Publikationen (Peer-Reviewed)

Ilić. M., Werner, C. and Fink, P. (2019): "Equal relevance of omega 3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids for the fitness of Daphnia spp." *Limnology and Oceanography*. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11201

Burberg, C., <u>Ilić, M.</u>, Petzoldt, T. and von Elert, E. (2018): "Nitrate determines growth and protease inhibitor content of the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa*". *Journal of Applied Phycology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-018-1674-0

Werner, C., <u>Ilić, M.</u> and von Elert, E. (2018): "Differences in heat tolerance within a *Daphnia magna* population: the significance of body PUFA content". *Hydrobiologia*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-018-3769-7

Reinhardt, T., Baldauf, L., <u>Ilić, M.</u> and Fink, P. (2018): "Cast away: Drift as the main determinant for larval survival in western fire salamanders (*Salamandra salamandra*) in headwater streams". *Journal of Zoology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jzo.12581

Präsentationen

Ilić. M. und Fink, P. (2017): *"Intrapopulation variability in susceptibility of Daphnia longispina to limitations by dietary fatty acid availability"* (Vortrag, in Englisch); XI. Cladocera Tagung in Kulmbach, Deutschland

Ilić, M., Hammerstein, S. K., Stockenreiter, M., Stibor, H. und Fink, P. (2017): "*Pigment composition of natural phytoplankton communities – possible link between biodiversity loss and ecosystem functioning?*" (Vortrag, in Englisch); ASLO Tagung ("Mountains to the Sea") in Honolulu, Hawai'i

Ilić. M., Hammerstein, S. K., Stockenreiter, M., Stibor, H. und Fink, P. (2016): "Comparison of pigment-based techniques for the assessment of phytoplankton community composition" (Poster, in Englisch); 109. Jahrestagung der Deutschen Zoologischen Gesellschaft (DZG) in Kiel, Deutschland

Ilić, M., Hammerstein, S. K., Stockenreiter, M., Stibor, H. und Fink, P. (2015): *"Cascading effects of biodiversity loss in freshwater plankton"* (Vortrag, in Englisch); 108. Jahrestagung der Deutschen Zoologischen Gesellschaft (DZG) in Graz, Österreich